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DEDICATION

Supplications for the Vidyadhara the Venerable Ch6gyam Trungpa Rinpoche

You who have realized the dharmata of what is,

With oceans of skillful deeds of a buddha’s son,

You possess the buddha activity which tames untamable beings:
May your body, speech, and mind be established in the vajra nature.

Through the strength of the Buddha’s wisdom and compassion and that
of his sons far and wide,

By the power of the oceans of lokapalas’ and dharmapalas’ activity,

I ask for the good of the teachings and of beings:

May the body, speech, and mind of the glorious guru remain in the
vajra nature indestructibly.

With the dawn of the blessings of the gurus of the three lineages

You bring the sun of dharma through the whole expanse of the world;
The sight of you ripens and frees, and whatever encounters you is
liberated:

May the lotus garden of your good virtues beautify the world.

The preceding supplication was made at Karmé Choling with one-pointed mind,
with veneration and joy, by an old Nyingma tantrika, Gyurme Thekchok Tenpe
Gyaltsen [Dilgo Khyentse Rinpoche], who is fortunate to rest under the white
umbrella of the buddha activity of the second Buddha, Padmakara. SHUBHAM
MANGALAM SHRI VIJAYANTU.

By the power and blessings of the mandala of the universal three roots,
May Chokyi Gyatso, the vidyadhara, the tamer of beings,

Live and prosper in the vajra nature indestructibly.

May your magnificent buddha activity pervade all directions.

Thus, Jigdrel Yeshe Dorje [His Holiness Dudjom Rinpoche] wrote this in
supplication for the longevity of the supreme tulku Trungpa Rinpoche. SIDDHIR



ASTU.

Translated by the NALANDA TRANSLATION COMMITTEE
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FOREWORD

by DiaNA J. MUKPO

My LATE HUSBAND, Choégyam Trungpa Rinpoche, was one of the main figures in
the transmission of Buddhism to the West, especially to North America. As we
know, Buddhism began in India, and from there it spread through many different
nations and adapted itself to many cultures. The transplantation of the Buddhist
teachings across many cultures and times is proof that, as long as human beings
exist, fundamentally the nature of people’s minds does not change. The
fundamental issues that we have to deal with as human beings remain the same,
as long as people live on this earth. Therefore, the teachings that Trungpa
Rinpoche gave will always be applicable, even many years after his death.
Therefore, it is of great importance to gather together and publish his teachings.
Through The Collected Works of Chégyam Trungpa, people will continue to
have access to his mind.

In some respects, Chégyam Trungpa’s style as a teacher was unorthodox. He
dressed in Western clothes and led a life that outwardly was quite secular. He
presented the teachings in English and used many colloquial phrases and
contemporary examples in his presentation of the dharma. This was very unusual
for his time. His life seemed to be a major departure from his monastic
upbringing in Tibet. However, interestingly enough, when I traveled back to
Surmang Diitsi Tel, his monastery in Tibet, for the first time last summer, it was
apparent to me that essentially what he was presenting was very traditional. I felt
that there was no fundamental difference in how Buddhism was practiced in
Tibet and how it is practiced in the West, in terms of people living their lives
according to the dharma and taking the principles of buddhadharma to heart.

Of course, we have a much more complicated and complex society in the
West, so the teachings here need to be presented in a different way. My husband
understood this. One of the very important ways that he adapted to the West was
in his presentation of the Shambhala teachings and his discussion of the concept
of creating an enlightened society. These days, most of us don’t have the option
of going into seclusion in a monastery to practice Buddhism. For most people,
these principles have to be applied and effective in our day-to-day lives, how we
live our lives each day. Therefore, Rinpoche brought forth the ideas that had
been practiced and studied in a monastic context in Tibet and started to show
how they can be manifested in society. He developed a broad spectrum of ways



to apply the teachings to society in North America. Therefore, while Rinpoche
appeared to teach in a nontraditional way, fundamentally the pith of what he
taught was very traditional.

One of the hallmarks of Rinpoche’s way of teaching was to ask students to
think for themselves and not to follow anything or anyone with blind faith. The
end product was a group of practitioners and students who had tremendous
confidence in themselves and in their understanding of the teachings. Rinpoche
tried to develop people’s own qualities, rather than asking for blind devotion. He
firmly believed that Westerners were capable of practicing and understanding the
dharma fully and completely. The irony was that his close students had
tremendous devotion to him. Because he never tried to make people purely
submit to his will and because he wanted people to develop themselves, they
also ended up developing great love and respect for him and immense gratitude
for his influence on their lives.

From the time that he was a young boy in Tibet, Trungpa Rinpoche was
recognized as a tertdn, a teacher who finds terma, which are the hidden teachings
and treasures left by Padmasambhava for the people of future dark ages. The
idea is that particular terma teachings will be found at the time that they are most
helpful to people and when people can practice these teachings. They are found
by realized teachers who have a karmic connection both with Guru Rinpoche
and with the practitioners who receive the teachings. Some of these teachings are
physically concealed in rocks or lakes or other places in Tibet, and some of them
are called “mind terma,” because the terton finds them hidden in the realm of
space, or the mind. The Tibetan Book of the Dead is a well-known terma text.

Rinpoche found a number of physical terma in Tibet, but perhaps the most
important terma that he uncovered were the mind terma that he found after his
escape. First he found “The Sadhana of Mahamudra” in Bhutan, when he did a
retreat there after he had been living in England for several years. And then in
North America, he discovered a number of important Shambhala terma, texts
that have to do with how Western students can manifest the teachings, how they
can overcome obstacles through manifesting the bravery and confidence of the
warrior. Rinpoche’s discovery of these teachings is a further confirmation of the
deep connection that he had with Westerners and the importance of his role in
bringing both the Shambhala and the Buddhist teachings to the West. They are
also a sign of his deep faith in Western students to practice and protect the
precious holy dharma.

Soon after his arrival in America, my husband began to make plans to bring
great Tibetan lineage holders to teach in the West. In that way, he worked to
bring together his tradition with the contemporary Western world. He was



instrumental in bringing His Holiness the sixteenth Gyalwang Karmapa,
Rangjung Rigpe Dorje, to America, and the Buddhist communities established
by Rinpoche—along with some of His Holiness’s other students—hosted three
visits by the Karmapa to America. Trungpa Rinpoche and his students also
helped to host the first two visits of His Holiness the Dalai Lama to the United
States, as well as a number of visits by His Holiness Dilgo Khyentse Rinpoche
and other revered spiritual teachers. During the Karmapa’s first visit, he
proclaimed Chégyam Trungpa as a vajra holder of the practice lineage of the
Karma Kagyii. Clearly, whatever unconventional means Rinpoche applied to
bringing the dharma to the West, the great teachers of the lineage understood the
purity of his intention and the purity of the teachings that he proclaimed.

On behalf of the Mukpo family, I am very happy to see the publication of The
Collected Works. It has been more than fifteen years since Rinpoche’s death. I
know that he would be very pleased by the publication of this collection of his
work. More than that, however, he would be pleased to see that his students have
continued to practice the teachings that they received from him and that many,
many people continue to be introduced to the Buddhist and Shambhala teachings
that were so close to his heart. I hope that the future will bring many more
beings to the path of dharma and that people will continue to be inspired by the
profound teachings that my husband left for all of us to contemplate and
practice.

DIANA JUDITH MUKPO
December 22, 2002
Providence, Rhode Island



PUBLISHER’S FOREWORD

by SAMUEL BERCHOLZ

Namo GURAVE

Homage to the glorious All-Good, the space of absolute awareness!
Homage to Vajradhara, fearless indestructible lord of life and death!
Homage to Padmasambhava, embodiment of the wisdom of all the
Buddhas!

I prostrate at the feet of the great master, Chokyi Gyatso, who through
his extraordinary kindness has shown the way of dharma to
numberless beings!

NEAR THE END of his long career, when the famed British historian Arnold J.
Toynbee was asked by a reporter what he thought the greatest event of the
twentieth century was, he immediately answered, “It is the introduction of
Buddhism into the West.” And it’s likely that the most influential teacher to have
introduced Buddhism to the West was the Tibetan master Chégyam Trungpa
Rinpoche. Like his eighth-century predecessor Padmasambhava, the great Indian
master and progenitor of Buddhism in Tibet, Trungpa Rinpoche was able to
skillfully transmit Buddhist teachings and Buddhist culture from Tibet to the
Western world.

I first ran across Trungpa Rinpoche’s work while I was a university student in
1967. Browsing through the library, I found his autobiography, Born in Tibet,
which had just been published in the United States by Helen and Kurt Wolff.
Reading it made me quite interested in learning more about Tibetan Buddhism,
especially as I also happened to be reading The Life and Teachings of Naropa, a
biography of one of the forefathers in Trungpa Rinpoche’s lineage.

In the spring of 1969 I traveled to Great Britain, hoping to meet Trungpa
Rinpoche at Samye Ling Tibetan Meditation Centre in southern Scotland. But
due to a rail strike, it was impossible to get there. Vincent Stuart, a publisher in
London, gave me the short manuscript of Rinpoche’s entitled Meditation in
Action.

That manuscript had an extraordinary effect. Its presentation of basic



Buddhism was so immediately present; it spoke in a clear and natural language
I’d never encountered before. It was as if the author were speaking straight to
me. I’d been thinking of starting out as a publisher for a while now, and it
seemed more than auspicious that this book would become the first title.

Mr. Stuart printed one thousand copies by letterpress for a North American
edition, published in the autumn of 1969 to coincide with his British edition.
And over time, in the more than thirty years since its first appearance, many
scores of thousands have found that Trungpa Rinpoche’s iteration of Buddhism
spoke to them in their language too.

Trungpa Rinpoche was surprised when he received the first copy of the North
American edition of his book. He looked at the spine and saw: Trungpa
Meditation in Action Shambhala. He later told me that at first it looked like a
hallucination to him, so he had to put it down and look again. By auspicious
coincidence, the name that was chosen for the publishing company was the same
as a tradition of which Rinpoche was a principal lineage holder. The Shambhala
teachings were revealed by the Buddha at the request of the king of the ancient
kingdom of Shambhala, as documented in the Kalachakra Tantra. During
Trungpa Rinpoche’s escape from the Chinese occupation of Tibet, he was
writing a book, The Annals of the Empire of Shambhala, which was
unfortunately lost during a river crossing just before he entered India.
Occasionally in later years, when Shambhala was mentioned, he would refer to it
as “our little secret.”

In the spring of 1970, I received a phone call from one of Trungpa Rinpoche’s
students on the East Coast, telling me that Rinpoche had just arrived in North
America. She asked if Shambhala Publications would be interested in arranging
a couple of talks for Rinpoche in the San Francisco Bay Area, where Shambhala
Publications was located at the time. I said yes, and a few weeks later met
Trungpa Rinpoche at the San Francisco Airport. To my surprise, the exotic lama
from Tibet that I had expected turned out to be a gentleman in a Western
business suit, walking with a cane and leg brace, who spoke the Queen’s English
brilliantly. He was extremely cheerful and extremely playful with his use of
language. We immediately became good friends, and began making plans to
publish more of his works in the future. (As it turned out, Shambhala became the
publisher for all of his writings for the general public.) Then our relationship
changed dramatically sometime in 1972, after a famous poetry reading at the
University of Colorado. Rinpoche was reading some poems from Mudra, sharing
the stage with four other poets, Robert Bly, Allen Ginsberg, Nanao Sakaki, and
Gary Snyder. During their readings, Rinpoche acted quite outrageously, laughing
at their seriousness, making faces, and at one point holding a meditation gong



over his head. After the reading, the poets retired to a small apartment in
Boulder. They were quite angry and complained to Rinpoche about his behavior;
they accused him of being like Jack Kerouac, brilliant but a rude drunk. My
perceptual phenomenon must have been quite different from theirs, however
poetic; that night I saw Trungpa Rinpoche as the Buddha, a completely
enlightened being, and I could do nothing other than request to be accepted as
his full vajrayana disciple, and to serve him.

In addition to being a sublime teacher of the Buddhist teachings, Trungpa
Rinpoche had a great gift with language. In fact, I believe that he singlehandedly
began the transformation of the English language into a medium that could serve
as a dharma language to convey the subtle meanings of Buddhist philosophy and
practice. Trungpa Rinpoche was a great writer and poet. The style of his writing
has a lightness and gravity that is inseparable from his speaking style. There is a
playfulness and amazing precision in his style that accentuate his boundless
skillful means in transmitting the Buddha’s teachings on the perfect frequency
for Western minds.

The publication of this multivolume Collected Works of Chdgyam Trungpa is
the fruit of Rinpoche’s great kindness in providing a complete roadmap for
anyone who would like to enter into the Buddhist path. Also included are his
public writings on the Shambhala teachings, which are important in helping to
provide a social and cultural basis for the wisdom of the Buddha’s teaching in
the context of modern Western society. “Our little secret” was revealed to me
and other of Trungpa Rinpoche’s students when he presented the talks that later
became the basis for his Shambhala: Sacred Path of the Warrior, and the
“secret” is now available to all who would like to study it. It is one of his most
important contributions to this world.

The only major part of Trungpa Rinpoche’s teachings not included in this first
edition of his Collected Works are the teachings that Trungpa Rinpoche gave at
various Buddhist three-month seminaries that he taught from 1973 to 1986. He
wanted an edited version of these talks to be published in a three-volume series.
The teachings imparted at these seminaries were his most compendious
presentation of the Buddhist teachings. When these works have been fully edited
and published, I will be pleased that my job as Trungpa Rinpoche’s publisher
and as his Kalon Yigdz6 (Minister of the Treasury of Dharma) has been fulfilled
for this lifetime. It is my most sincere aspiration that I will be able to follow his
example and to also be of service to him and his precious lineages of Kagyii,
Nyingma, and Shambhala not only in this lifetime but also in all future lifetimes.

SAMUEL BERCHOLZ



December 1, 2002
Kunzang Gatsel, Delhi, New York



EDITOR’S NOTE

IN PREPARING THE WRITINGS of Chégyam Trungpa for publication in The Collected
Works, some minor copyediting changes have been made to the texts: to correct
stylistic or grammatical errors, to conform the spelling of English words to
American usage, and to update the spellings of foreign words and make them
consistent.

For the convenience of readers, it was decided that each volume should have a
single glossary of selected terms at the end of the book. The glossaries from
individual books in the volume were thus combined to create these unified
glossaries. The glossaries of the individual books often contain expanded
definitions that were composed under the guidance or with the approval of
Chogyam Trungpa. Other, briefer definitions were added as needed.



INTRODUCTION TO VOLUME ONE

The Collected Works of Chégyam Trungpa brings together in eight volumes the
writings of one of the first and most influential Tibetan teachers to present
Buddhism in the West. From his arrival in England in 1963 until his death in
Halifax, Nova Scotia, Canada, Chégyam Trungpa (1939-1987)' was the author
of thirteen books. Of these, ten appear in full in this collection. His translations
of major Buddhist texts (The Tibetan Book of the Dead, The Rain of Wisdom, and
The Life of Marpa) have been omitted, but his introductions and other unique
contributions to those publications are included.

Since his death, another thirteen books have been compiled from his lectures
and poetry and published by Shambhala Publications. All of them appear in this
compendium, although some illustrative material has of necessity been omitted.
Vajradhatu Publications, the small press started by Chégyam Trungpa’s Buddhist
organization, has published four books for a general audience, which will also be
found in The Collected Works. (That press has also produced several dozen
edited transcripts and a number of limited editions, which are not reprinted in
this series.) Additionally, more than seventy articles from many sources are
included, along with poetry published by two small Canadian presses, Trident
Publications and Windhorse, as well as several published interviews and
forewords, prefaces, and introductions to books by other authors.

This extensive body of work illustrates that Trungpa Rinpoche* was a
remarkably prolific teacher whose writings continue to attract great interest.
With plans being made for many more publications based on the recordings and
transcripts of his many hundreds of seminars, as well as on his poetry and
writings, it seems that his prodigious activity in bringing the buddhadharma, the
teachings of the Buddha, to the West will continue to flourish for many years to
come.

In arranging the material for the eight volumes of The Collected Works, a
decision was made to arrange the volumes thematically rather than
chronologically. In part, this was because of the diverse nature of Chégyam
Trungpa’s literary endeavors. In addition to his books on the practice of
meditation and the Buddhist path, five volumes and several broadsides of his
poetry have been published, as well as three books on art and the artistic process.
Two books on the Shambhala path of enlightened warriorship have also been
produced. He also wrote a number of articles on Western psychology, along with



short pieces on themes such as feminine energy and spiritual gardening. If all of
these writings were organized in The Collected Works purely by year of
publication, some rather strange juxtapositions would result. Moreover, the
fecund connections among works on a similar theme would be much less
apparent.

Another reason for the thematic organization is that Trungpa Rinpoche’s
posthumous volumes contain material from both very early seminars in North
America and much later lectures. So chronology of publication would be a
misleading organizing principle.

That said, Volume One, which contains his early writings in Great Britain, is
the exception to the rule. The style of those works differs radically from the
voice that emerged when he began to teach, and to be published, in North
America. It thus seemed both useful and appropriate to group together the
writings from England.

Choégyam Trungpa’s first book, Born in Tibet, was published by George Allen
& Unwin in 1966, approximately three years after he came from India to Oxford
on a Spalding scholarship. There are no known writings of his from India,
evidently because no writings were produced, saved, or passed on to Western
students. He was twenty years old when he arrived in India in January of 1960,
having traveled on foot and horseback over the Himalayas from eastern Tibet to
escape the communist Chinese, a journey that lasted ten months. That odyssey is
in part the subject matter of Born in Tibet.

In India he began his study of the English language, learning a great deal from
Freda Bedi, an Englishwoman who later became a Buddhist nun under the name
Sister Kenchog Palmo. Mrs. Bedi was very active in helping the Tibetan
refugees and had started the Young Lamas Home School in Delhi, assisted by
Trungpa Rinpoche, who was appointed spiritual adviser to the school. While in
India, he was also tutored in English by John Driver, who later was of great
assistance in his studies of Western literature, religion, and philosophy at
Oxford. Trungpa Rinpoche had been first exposed to Western poetry in India,
initially through a chance encounter with a Japanese haiku translated in a
magazine he was reading to improve his English, and later by hearing the work
of T. S. Eliot and other English poets at a reading sponsored by an American
women’s club in New Delhi.? Rinpoche had also made the acquaintance of the
American poets Allen Ginsberg and Peter Orlovsky in India when they visited
the Young Lamas Home School.

Although he was an avid student of the language, Chégyam Trungpa’s English
was still rudimentary when he sailed for England. More than that, his
understanding of Western thought and culture was limited. He went to England



because he wanted to teach Buddhism in the West, but in order to do so, he first
needed to educate himself in Western ways.

The earliest published writing included in Volume One of The Collected
Works is a brief article entitled “Om Mani Padme Hum Hrih,” which appeared in
the August 1963 issue of The Middle Way, the journal of the Buddhist Society in
England.: That was followed by “Taking Refuge” in the November 1963 issue.
In that issue of the magazine, there is also a photograph of Trungpa Rinpoche
with the Western Buddhist scholar Marco Pallis (who wrote the foreword to
Born in Tibet) and the Parsi author and scholar of religion Phiroz Mehta, as well
as two other Tibetan lamas, Akong Rinpoche and Rechung Rinpoche. The
caption says that the photo was taken at the Buddhist Society Summer School in
1963. This must have been only months after Chdégyam Trungpa’s arrival in
England. Both of these early articles are well written, but the language and the
style in which they present the Buddhist teachings are dramatically different
from the way Trungpa Rinpoche expressed himself even a few years later. It’s
very likely that Trungpa Rinpoche had extensive help with the editing and
wording of these pieces, since his fluency in English was quite limited at this
point. Although the articles show flashes of his brilliant intellect, in general the
depth and luminous quality of his teachings are quite veiled in these earliest
pieces from The Middle Way. It’s clear that he didn’t yet have the grasp of the
language to convey the subtle and unique understanding that distinguished his
teachings. In contrasting these articles with the pieces published by The Middle
Way five years later, in 1968, one sees just how much Trungpa Rinpoche had
immersed himself in Western thought in the intervening time. In the later articles
he makes references to concepts from Western philosophy and literature, and his
grasp of the language has clearly grown exponentially.

However, it was not just knowledge of the English language or of Western
thought that Chégyam Trungpa needed in order to teach in the West. He was not
interested purely in presenting an overview of Buddhism to Westerners, nor did
he simply want to give basic instruction in meditation or provide some outward
affinity with tantric practices such as visualization and mantra repetition. He was
heir to a spiritual heritage of extraordinary depth and power, and it was the
innermost teachings of his lineage that he wanted to transmit to his students in
the West. To do this, he had to get inside the minds and hearts of Westerners; he
had to know us from the inside out if he was to speak to us from that dimension.
In the process, he faced many obstacles.

Even among the most realized Tibetan teachers, there were few—particularly
at that time—who trusted Western students completely or thought them capable
of understanding and putting into practice the deepest, most essential truths of



the buddhadharma. Trungpa Rinpoche did have this faith, this trust in the
Western mind. One sees this trust emerge from the very early days, in his first
book published in England, Born in Tibet, an autobiography recounting his early
life and training in Tibet and the dramatic story of his arduous escape. One can
read this book on a simple level, skimming the surface of outer events; but a
deeper reading reveals the author’s desire, even this early on, to share intimate
details of his inner experience. For example, he describes his relationship with
his main teacher, Jamgtn Kongtriil of Sechen, and the significance of their
meetings, in a way that goes far beyond a superficial telling. It is as if he invites
the reader into the room with him when he is with his teacher and also,
throughout the book, allows the reader to know his thoughts and emotions,
including pain and doubt. He thus seems to have displayed a remarkable
openness, considering how guarded most of his Tibetan colleagues were with
their Western students. At the same time, he was not oblivious to a strong
tendency among some Westerners, especially during this era in England, to view
Eastern “gurus” with a mixture of awe and paternalism, treating them almost like
spiritually advanced children who were unable to cope with the complexities of
modern life. Yet he was able to steer confidently between the dualistic extremes
of naive trustfulness and excessive reserve.

His ability to see all sides of Westerners’ reaction to their early encounters
with Tibetan Buddhism and Tibetan Buddhists is beautifully reflected in the first
epilogue to Born in Tibet, which Chégyam Trungpa added to the Penguin
paperback edition published in 1971, a year after he had left England for
America. Of his experience in England, he wrote, “It was also the first time I had
been the object of that fascination which is noncommunicative and nonrelating,
of being seen as an example of a species rather than as an individual: ‘Let’s go
see the lamas at Oxford.’ . . . [On the other hand] one particularly beautiful thing
to hear in England was Western Buddhists giving talks on the dharma. It was so
refreshing to see that the teachings could be presented in the local language. . . .
At the same time it was an uplifting experience to see such interest in the actual
practice of meditation. . . .”

To be sure, there were many of his Tibetan colleagues, his English friends, and
his Western students who were nothing like the negative descriptions above. Or
in many cases they were simply manifesting natural reticence, an inclination to
be shy and reserved with people one doesn’t know well. In this case, the
reticence involved whole cultures that had no intimacy with one another. So one
hesitates to mention these tendencies, because they can be narrow and
misleading characterizations. Yet it seems necessary to point to exactly these
sorts of difficulties that he encountered in England, in order to understand the



depth of his compassion, the breadth of his transformation, and his courage in
leaving behind many of the trappings of his culture and many aspects of the
monastic lifestyle that he dearly loved.

Indeed, no amount of formal education or study of the English language was
going to make him an insider. He might get a front-row seat by working hard at
his studies, but he was never going to be one of the players on the stage. More
and more he came to realize this, and more and more he stepped outside the
polite bounds of both Tibetan and English proper society in order to have real
contact with the hearts and minds of the people he encountered. In many of his
early talks, both in England and in the first few years in America, he spoke about
the value and meaning of communication. It was not an abstract topic for him.
He spent much of his effort during his early years in the West finding a genuine
way to open to others and to invite them to open up to him. At the same time that
he was working to overcome their tendencies to hold back, he had to work
against his own.

He spoke a number of times about the crisis that he reached in this endeavor.
In Volume One of The Collected Works, this discussion is found in Born in Tibet
in both the 1971 epilogue to the Penguin edition and the 1977 epilogue,
“Planting Dharma in the West,” which Trungpa Rinpoche composed for the
Shambhala Publications edition of the book, which appeared ten years after its
first publication. This spiritual crisis came to a head over several years.
Rinpoche describes a kind of mental “breakthrough” that occurred in 1968 when
he undertook a retreat at Taktsang in Bhutan, a cave where Padmasambhava, the
great teacher who helped to bring the buddhadharma to Tibet, had manifested in
a powerful, wrathful form. During his retreat, Chégyam Trungpa composed—or,
more accurately, received—The Sadhana of Mahamudra, a text concerned with
overcoming the obstacles of physical, psychological, and spiritual materialism
that plague the modern world. This text is considered “mind terma,” a “treasure”
text planted by Padmasambhava in the realm of space, from which it could be
awakened or retrieved as a kind of revelation or vision many generations later,
and thus passed on directly to practitioners in the future dark age. The text is
concerned with how individuals can free themselves from the knots of
materialism to connect with the power of genuine wisdom. It is a guide to
individual liberation, which can then be harnessed to help a greater world. For its
author, or its “discoverer,” it was certainly a personal awakening. As he writes in
the 1977 epilogue, “The message that I had received from my supplication was
that one must try to expose spiritual materialism and all its trappings, otherwise
true spirituality could not develop. I began to realize that I would have to take
daring steps in my life.”



He returned from Bhutan to Great Britain, where in spite of the inner
discoveries he had made, he found that outwardly he was still hesitant to jump in
fully. A few months later, in early 1969, he was severely injured in a car
accident, from which he emerged paralyzed on the left side. However, he took
the accident as good news, a breakthrough: “In spite of the pain, my mind was
very clear; there was a strong sense of communication—finally the real message
had got through—and I felt a sense of relief and even humor. . . . I realized that I
could no longer attempt to preserve any privacy for myself, any special identity
or legitimacy. I should not hide behind the robes of a monk, creating an
impression of inscrutability, which, for me, turned out to be only an obstacle.
With a sense of further involving myself with the sangha, I determined to give
up my monastic vows. More than ever, I felt myself given over to serving the
cause of Buddhism” (Born in Tibet, “Epilogue to the 1977 Edition”).

In “Things Get Very Clear When You’re Cornered,” a 1976 interview in The
Laughing Man magazine, Chégyam Trungpa talks about the dilemmas faced by
Tibetan teachers and his own personal challenge in teaching in the West, as well
as the message of his accident:

Tibetans generally have to break through the cultural fascinations and
mechanized world of the twentieth century. Many Tibetans either hold
back completely or try to be extraordinarily cautious, not
communicating anything at all. Sometimes they just pay lip-service to
the modern world, making an ingratiating diplomatic approach to the
West. The other temptation is to regard the new culture as a big joke
and to play the game in terms of a conception of Western
eccentricities. So we have to break through all of that. I found within
myself a need for more compassion for Western students. We don’t
need to create impossible images but to speak to them directly, to
present the teachings in eye-level situations. I was doing the same kind
of thing that I just described, and a very strong message got through to
me [after my accident]: “You have to come down from your high horse
and live with them as individuals!” So the first step is to talk with
people. After we make friends with students they can begin to
appreciate our existence and the quality of the teachings.’

A few months after having renounced his monastic vows, in an even more
radical move, on January 3, 1970, Trungpa Rinpoche married. His bride, Diana
Judith Pybus, was a young woman of sixteen at the time. Three months after
they married and within a year of his accident, he and Diana left England for



North America.

These events of 1968 to 1970 show an enormous shift in Chégyam Trungpa’s
outer manifestation. The writings that make up Volume One of The Collected
Works are a window into the inner world of this extraordinary man, both before
and during this transformation. For his manifestation after these changes, we
have another seven volumes to peruse!

Diana Mukpo, the author’s wife, remarked on how much his outer being
changed following his accident. She first met him during a seminar he was
giving in London at the Buddhist Society in early 1969. Trungpa Rinpoche had
just recently returned from Bhutan, where he had received the sadhana. It was
before the accident. Diana requested a personal interview with him, which she
describes as follows: “During the interview, Rinpoche was incredibly sweet. . . .
To me he seemed to be a very pure being: so kind, so pure, so sharp. During the
interview, I had the sense that he was touching my mind with his. There was
absolutely no barrier in our communication. Whomever he worked with, he was
in love with the other person’s mind. I felt that he had no personal agenda except
to be kind and helpful.”®

The next time she saw him was in the fall of 1969, when she hitchhiked to
Samye Ling, Rinpoche’s meditation center in Scotland. She writes:

The first evening I was at Samye-Ling, Rinpoche came by to have
dinner with the other Tibetans who lived at Samye-Ling. After dinner,
as he was leaving . . . I saw him outside getting ready to depart. He
was no longer wearing monk’s robes, but instead he had on a layman’s
chuba, or robe, and he was walking slowly in a laboured way with the
aid of a walker. I realized that he was quite crippled from the accident.
I managed to get close to him. . . . Although I only saw Rinpoche that
evening for a few minutes, in that short period of time, I realized that
he was a completely different person than he had been before his
accident. Of course, he looked quite different physically because he
was paralysed on one side and had obviously been through a lot. But
that wasn’t it. It wasn’t just his physical being that had changed. He
had a very different manifestation now, which I found fascinating.
Before the accident, he had been a youthful Tibetan monk, so pure and
light. Now he was much more heavy and solid, and there was a sort of
old dog or well-processed feeling about him. He seemed much older,
and he had an unfathomable quality that I hadn’t experienced before.
He was transformed.™



That purity and lightness, which others who knew Trungpa Rinpoche during
this time have also noted, are reflected in the quality and style of Born in Tibet,
as well as in the articles published in The Middle Way. This light touch is also
apparent in Chégyam Trungpa’s first book on the Buddhist path, Meditation in
Action, which was based on talks he gave at Samye-Ling beginning in 1967.
There are indeed a sweetness and a gentleness that pervade these early works.
While not abandoned later, these qualities became colored by a deeper range of
emotions and a different vocabulary in America.

The third book that is included in Volume One, Mudra, was not in fact
published until 1972, several years after Chogyam Trungpa came to North
America. However, it has been included in Volume One because the core
writings in Mudra are poems composed in England in the 1960s. (The
translation of a poem that the author wrote in the Valley of Mystery in Tibet in
1959 also appears here.) There are several poems from 1965, in a section called
“Songs”; the remaining verses are all from 1969, several from before the
author’s accident, the remainder following it. Together they give us another
picture of this period: the voice of the poet, which for Trungpa Rinpoche was
always a highly personal voice, much more so than the tone of his lectures.

Up to this point, the discussion has been of how one can read these early
works for signs of the author’s personal growth and development. In many
schools of Buddhism, the teacher’s life is taken as an important object of study
and contemplation. For it is assumed that the life of a great teacher is a life that
contains many lessons. A teacher’s life is teaching by example.

However, The Collected Works of Chdogyam Trungpa is not the author’s
spiritual biography, and in general it is not the editor’s intent to discuss themes
from Rinpoche’s personal life in the introduction to each of the volumes. Yet it
seemed that for this first volume it was worth making an exception and including
in this commentary some important biographical themes, especially since the
author’s only autobiography, Born in Tibet, is included here. However, the
teachings from this early period can primarily be enjoyed as good reading and
for the good dharma that they expound.

When Born in Tibet was published in 1966, it was among the very earliest
Tibetan autobiographies and accounts of life in Tibet told by a Tibetan in
English. It was also one of the first descriptions of the communist occupation of
that country recounted firsthand by a Tibetan. There are few works, even today,
from which one can learn as much about the traditional upbringing and training
of an incarnate teacher in Tibet. It owes its genesis very much to its English
editor, Esmé Cramer Roberts. Chogyam Trungpa and Mrs. Roberts were
introduced through mutual acquaintances at the Buddhist Society in Oxford. In



his foreword to the book, Marco Pallis thanks Mrs. Roberts for ‘“her
encouragement in the first place,” without which, he notes, “the work might
never have been begun.” Mrs. Roberts and Trungpa Rinpoche worked on the
book together for more than two years.

Born in Tibet was written at a time when Chégyam Trungpa’s command of
English was still very much a work in progress. Understandably, the language
and the style employed in the book were heavily influenced by Mrs. Roberts’s
own skills with the English language. It is fortunate for the reader that she was
such a sensitive editor; much of the charm of the phraseology of Born in Tibet,
as well as its literacy, were undoubtedly her contributions.

Marco Pallis also notes that Mrs. Roberts tried very hard to preserve the flavor
of the author’s thoughts. As he puts it, “she wisely did not try and tamper with a
characteristically Tibetan mode of expression.” Without knowing exactly what
he meant by this, it is still clear that Ch6gyam Trungpa himself, not his editor,
determined the basic content and structure of the book. Mrs. Roberts was the
first of many book editors he worked with. And while all of these made their
imprint on his printed words, none of them—starting with this first venture—
overrode the strength of his vision and his ability to communicate that.

There is some evidence that Mrs. Roberts sometimes did not understand all
the details of the stories Trungpa Rinpoche told her. A number of years later,
when he gave several seminars on the lineage of the Trungpa tulkus (incarnate
lamas) and on his teacher Jamgon Kongtriil, there were small but notable
discrepancies in his description of various events. That said, Born in Tibet is a
book that he was proud of, and he was immensely grateful to Esmé Cramer
Roberts for having helped him to write it.

Richard Arthure, the editor of Meditation in Action, shared the following
information about Mrs. Roberts:

I never met Mrs. Cramer Roberts, to whom the Vidyadhara [Chogyam
Trungpa Rinpoche] dictated the accounts of his early life that are
recorded in Born in Tibet. But Rinpoche did tell me a couple of things
about working with her. . . . He used to go over to her house in Oxford
for afternoon tea and recount the stories of his life in Tibet, which she
would write down. With a certain amusement, Rinpoche commented
that Mrs. Cramer Roberts was an elderly and rather genteel English
lady and that she completely omitted from the book certain episodes
that she considered improper and not suitable for publication. She died
shortly after the book appeared and, according to Rinpoche, such was
her fascination with Tibet and Tibetans that she took rebirth in the



Tibetan exile community in India.”®

In 1977 Chogyam Trungpa added the epilogue “Planting the Dharma in the
West” to Born in Tibet. It described his life from the time he arrived in India in
1960 until 1976, when he wrote the epilogue in Land O’Lakes, Wisconsin, at the
Vajradhatu Seminary. The epilogue was edited by David I. Rome, Rinpoche’s
private secretary and the editor of First Thought Best Thought and Timely Rain.
In 1985 Rinpoche began work on a second epilogue to the book, which I was
asked to edit. In preparation for our editorial meetings on this project, I put
together a chronology of events from 1976 to 1985 to be included in the second
epilogue and met several times with Trungpa Rinpoche to begin working with
him on this project. However, he decided to postpone our work, and the final
epilogue to Born in Tibet was never completed.

At the time that Born in Tibet was published, it may have struck most of its
readers as an exotic tale of a faraway land, a fascinating story but one with little
direct application to their lives. In a way that was characteristic of how he taught
altogether, its author saw his audience for this book in the broadest possible
terms. He wrote Born in Tibet, not just for the reading public in the 1960s, but
for those of us who read it now and will read it for years to come. In 1966 in
England there were probably only a handful or two of people practicing the more
advanced aspects of Tibetan Buddhism, and most of those had only a marginal
idea of what they were doing. Yet he included detailed information about many
aspects of Tibetan Buddhism that were esoteric at the time but which are now
well understood by Western practitioners.

Beyond that, as far as the communist occupation and his escape are
concerned, the author narrated the outer events in Born in Tibet in such a way
that the reader can enter very directly into this time of uncertainty and chaos and
can experience what it was like not to know if your world was about to be
destroyed; not to know if you should go or stay; not to know if the invaders were
friends, neutral, or enemies; not to know if one should take the left or the right
fork in the road, one of which would lead to freedom, the other to capture—not
to know but to have to choose over and over again. The drama and the tension in
Born in Tibet make this compelling to read; it still speaks to the ambiguity of
human experience, in which the choices we make may be of great consequence,
even when the way ahead is murky.

Born in Tibet was also significant because, for a very long time, it appeared to
be the only available record of Trungpa Rinpoche’s early life and his teachings
in Tibet. It is now known that he composed over a thousand pages of writings
while in Tibet and that, as a young tulku, he had already found several important



termas. These were left behind when he fled the country, as was the history of
the kingdom of Shambhala that he was writing during his escape. According to
one story, he left it hidden near a high pass in the Himalayas. Until recently, all
of these materials were believed to have been lost, destroyed during the
communist Chinese invasion of the country.

Although he received occasional letters and news from Tibet, Trungpa
Rinpoche was never able to return there. It was only after his death that a
connection to Surmang Diitsi Tel, his main monastery, was reestablished by the
Western sangha. One of Trungpa Rinpoche’s students, Lee Weingrad, traveled to
the monastery in September 1987, five months after Rinpoche’s death, and has
led many groups of Westerners there in subsequent years. Rinpoche’s eldest son,
Sakyong Mipham Rinpoche, then led an official delegation to Surmang in the
summer of 2001. During his visit, the Sakyong was given nearly four hundred
pages of texts that Trungpa Rinpoche composed before leaving Tibet. Mipham
Rinpoche received this material from Trungpa Rinpoche’s nephew, Karma Senge
Rinpoche—who, in the aftermath of the communist occupation, traveled around
the Surmang area gathering everything he could find of Trungpa Rinpoche’s
writings to preserve these texts for future practitioners. In time, much of this
material will be translated and made available to English-language readers.

The second volume that is included in Volume One of The Collected Works is
Meditation in Action, which was published in 1969 by Vincent Stuart and John
M. Watkins. The material in the book dates from talks given at Samye Ling
Meditation Center in Eskdalemuir, Scotland, by Rinpoche in 1967 and 1968,
before his transformative vision at Taktsang. There is a simplicity and a purity of
thought that have made this little book an enduring classic on meditation and the
path of the bodhisattva. This is the first book based on transcripts of audio
recordings of the author’s lectures. The great majority of his subsequent
publications have been based on transcripts of lectures, his poetry being of
course the major exception. That he—and other important Buddhist lineage
holders—came to the West at a time when the technology existed to easily
record the human voice was an accident, but an extremely fortuitous
coincidence. The teachings of Shakyamuni Buddha were remembered and
written down by his major disciples, and that tradition of students passing on the
words of their teachers from memory was a main vehicle for the transmission of
the Buddhist teachings for many centuries. At the time that the historical Buddha
lived, the culture was much more attuned to that kind of oral transmission. Had
the preservation of Chégyam Trungpa’s dharma teachings relied purely on the
memory of his Western students, I think it is fair to say that a great number of
the teachings would have been lost or strangely altered. So we can be grateful



that the arrival in the West of so many great Buddhist masters coincided with a
technology uniquely suited to preserve their words.

For the transcription and editing of Meditation in Action, thanks are due to its
editor Richard Arthure and other English students of Rinpoche’s who worked on
the manuscript. Richard was with Rinpoche when he composed The Sadhana of
Mahamudra at Takstang in Bhutan and worked closely with Rinpoche on the
translation of that text.* Of the genesis of Meditation in Action, Richard tells us:

The idea of putting together a book, based on talks given by Rinpoche
mostly in 1967, arose in conversation between the Vidyadhara and
myself, probably early in 1968. I thought it would help in making
more people aware of what an extraordinary teacher Rinpoche was
and, in particular, that it would draw more people to the Dharma and to
Samye-Ling. I selected the material and set about transcribing and
editing the talks that I thought would hang together to make up a book.
It was solitary and labor-intensive work. For transcribing, I had an old
reel-to-reel tape recorder and the first draft was written out by hand
and then typed double-spaced on a Hermes typewriter. The challenge
was to transform Rinpoche’s spoken words into clear and elegant
English prose. Even then, he had a fairly extensive and ever-growing
vocabulary in English, but his sentence construction and grammar
were rather sketchy and unorthodox. . . .

I worked on the book for about four months in the Spring of 1968 in
between bouts of intensive ngéndro practice.? I wanted to finish both
before Rinpoche and I left for India and Bhutan, which was late June
or early July of 1968. I had no idea what the title of the book would be
until after the manuscript was finished. I remember there was some
discussion as to whether it should be Meditation and Action or
Meditation in Action. In retrospect, it seems self-evident that
Meditation in Action is a much better title, but it wasn’t quite so
obvious then as it is now with hindsight. Robert Bly happened to be
visiting Samye-Ling at the time that I was putting together the final
typescript. He very kindly reviewed it and suggested a handful of
minor changes, mostly in the matter of punctuation. . . . The corrected
proofs were sent to Stuart and Watkins only days before [Rinpoche and
I departed] . . . for India, and so it happened that the book came out in
England when both of us were thousands of miles away.=

Although Meditation in Action differs from most of Trungpa Rinpoche’s later



works in its style, being from the period before he met the energy of
Padmasambhava, “the Great Wrathful One,” in Bhutan, it already demonstrates a
particular gift that made him uniquely suited to present the buddhadharma in the
West. In an early unpublished diary, which he wrote in England in 1966 to 1968,
he himself delineates this quality: “In particular, my own situation is due to the
fact that no one [else] could understand everything all together—both worldly
and spiritual views and how to live one’s life. This is not to say that I am more
skilled, more learned, and more experienced in the dharma. There are many
people who are more learned than I and more elevated in their wisdom.
However, I have never made a separation between the spiritual and the worldly.
If you understand the ultimate aspect of the dharma, this is the ultimate aspect of
the world. And if you should cultivate the ultimate aspect of the world, this
should be in harmony with the dharma. I am alone in presenting the tradition of
thinking this way.”*

This ability to seamlessly bring together spiritual and temporal experiences
and to point to the sacredness in our experiences in everyday life is one of the
aspects of Chogyam Trungpa’s exposition of the dharma that made him so
accessible and so helpful to Western practitioners. Meditation in Action already
shows this understanding to be well developed, which is one reason that it has
remained popular more than thirty years after it was published.

Another auspicious juncture that coincided with the appearance of Meditation
in Action was that, through the book’s publication, Trungpa Rinpoche made the
acquaintance of Samuel Bercholz and Shambhala Publications. Vincent Stuart,
of Stuart and Watkins who published the book in England, was, in addition to
being an English publisher of some note, a student of the teachings of Gurdjieff.
He and Sam Bercholz got to know each other through mutual interests in things
literary and spiritual, and through Vincent, Sam came into contact with the work
of Chégyam Trungpa. In 1969 Sam, then in his early twenties, and a friend,
Michael Fagan, decided to start a company dedicated to publishing works on
spirituality from the world’s great religious traditions. Their first acquisition was
the rights to Meditation in Action for the American market. As Sam Bercholz
tells us: “Meditation in Action was originated by Vincent Stuart at Stuart and
Watkins, and co-published simultaneously in the United States by Shambhala as
its first published title. Shambhala took a 1,000-copy run-on of the British
edition of 1,000 copies.”®

Sam was familiar with some of the stories about an enlightened kingdom
called Shambhala, hidden away in the Himalayas, and he was attracted to the
ideals of this enlightened society, so he decided to name his company Shambhala
Publications. When Trungpa Rinpoche found out the name of the American



company that had acquired the rights to his book, he was intrigued. He himself
had a strong connection to the Buddhist teachings connected with Shambhala
and had, as noted above, been writing a spiritual history of this kingdom when
he was traveling out of Tibet. When he arrived in North America in 1970, among
the first people he contacted were Sam Bercholz and his wife, Hazel, who along
with Michael and Joann Fagan helped host his first teaching tour in California.
All four of them became Rinpoche’s students. Michael left the publishing
company several years later; Sam remains the Editor-in-Chief of Shambhala
Publications, which has been the main publisher for the writings of Chégyam
Trungpa in the United States for more than thirty years now. He became one of
Rinpoche’s close disciples and has continued, not only to publish his work, but
to propagate his teachings through his own lectures and seminars.

Mudra, the third book in Volume One, was the first book by Chégyam
Trungpa for which Shambhala Publications was the original publisher. It was
also the first of his books edited by Michael H. Kohn, also known as Sherab
Chodzin, who has worked on many books by Chégyam Trungpa since that time.
In addition to the poetry mentioned above, there are two translations of texts on
the practice of dzogchen, or maha ati, as Trungpa Rinpoche preferred to call it.
Richard Arthure worked on shaping the English versions of these two texts. An
essay on the Buddhist path entitled “The Way of the Buddha” is also included in
Mudra. It was first published in Garuda I, a small in-house magazine started by
Rinpoche’s American students. (A version of the same article appeared in the
magazine Chakra: A Journal of Tantra and Yoga.) There are several accounts of
the history of this article. According to Richard Arthure: “It’s my recollection,
though I can’t be one hundred percent sure, that the first time Rinpoche
presented an outline of the path in terms of the nine yanas [stages] was in April
1971 at a month-long retreat in a log cabin near Phelps, Wisconsin. Tania
[Leontov] and I attended this retreat with Trungpa Rinpoche. There were no
other visitors. . . . During this retreat Rinpoche dictated a fairly long and detailed
account of the entire nine-yana path, and ‘The Way of the Buddha’ essay may
have been a condensed version of that.” John Baker separately informed me that
Rinpoche dictated “The Way of the Buddha” to him and Marvin Casper, in
connection with their work as editors on Garuda I. John writes:

I’ll mention one other major piece of editing that I participated in: the
first Garuda, and especially the article “The Way of the Buddha,”
which I have always felt is quite amazing. Rinpoche had not been
teaching the Vajrayana yet when he dictated this article to us, sitting at
a kitchen table in his house in Four Mile Canyon in Boulder. He was



battling spiritual materialism in America, with the emphasis on
cynicism, not going on “trips,” [and the development of] the proper
relationship with the teacher and toward the teachings. So when he
dictated this extraordinary article (he spoke, I wrote down his words,
Marvin and I questioning and editing as he went), I was somewhat
stunned and asked him if it was all right, did he really want suddenly
to start giving out information on tantra, especially such shocking and
esoteric information. He giggled and said that, if people read it and
were seduced into coming to him hoping for exotic and magical
teachings, it would be all right because we would just make them sit. I
can see him laughing about it at the Formica table, looking at me.

One other extraordinary moment which occurred during the creation
of that piece: after he had finished, he said of Maha Ati that the
experience of the end of the path, the last evolution of enlightenment,
is lonely, “like a lone wolf, standing on a ridge in the moonlight,
howling at the moon.” That image for the end of the path has stayed
with me all these years.*

These two accounts may complement each other. It is possible that Rinpoche
began shaping the ideas while in retreat, that he then dictated the article for
inclusion in Garuda, and that from there it was reedited for inclusion in Mudra.

Finally, ink paintings by Tomikichiro Tokuriki, of the Ox-Herding Pictures—a
well-known Zen representation of mind training—are reproduced in Mudra with
Choégyam Trungpa’s commentary, which John Baker also had a hand in
preparing. Rinpoche also relates these drawings to the nine yanas in Tibetan
Buddhism. Trungpa Rinpoche concludes that “the final realization of Zen
automatically leads to the wisdom of Maha Ati,” which is the highest
achievement on the path according to Tibetan tradition.

Already, in Mudra, his modest entrance into American book publishing,
Rinpoche stands out as both an ecumenical figure and an iconoclast. Surely, he is
the first Buddhist teacher to correlate Zen and Tibetan Buddhism in this way. In
June 1970 when he visited California, Rinpoche made a very pivotal connection
with the founder of Zen Center San Francisco, Shunryu Suzuki Roshi. The two
teachers, by all accounts, had a profound meeting of minds. Rinpoche and Roshi
started making great plans to do things together, but these did not mature, as
Roshi was diagnosed with liver cancer soon after they met and died in December
1971.%2 Nevertheless, Rinpoche’s respect for the Zen tradition was immense.
Some of the emphasis that he put on the sitting practice of meditation, which
became one of the trademarks of his teaching in America, grew out of his respect



for the practice environment created by Suzuki Roshi. During Rinpoche’s
lifetime, Roshi’s picture was always on the Buddhist shrines in Rinpoche’s
Buddhist centers.

There is one other notable fact about Mudra: Chégyam Trungpa’s use of the
term “egolessness” (in Mudra, “The Way of the Buddha”) is noted in the second
edition of The Oxford English Dictionary, under the entry for the word ego.
Trungpa Rinpoche, one can be sure, would have been delighted that he was
quoted in the OED, a book that he treated with the greatest respect and regarded
as the authority on the English language. Beyond that, this mention in the OED
is an indication of the great and groundbreaking effect he had on the terminology
adopted by Buddhism in the West in the twentieth century, of which there will be
more said in the introductions to other volumes of The Collected Works.

Of the articles originally published in The Middle Way that are included in
Volume One, a little has been said above, about how they show the development
of Trungpa Rinpoche’s grasp of Western language and thought. They include
many teachings on compassion and the practice of the bodhisattva path,
including a discussion of the six paramitas, the subject that also forms the
foundation of Meditation in Action. Two articles on the history of Buddhism in
Tibet contain unique information not duplicated in any other writings by
Choégyam Trungpa.

Additionally, three other articles are included in Volume One of The Collected
Works. “The Way of Maha Ati” is an exposition of some of the teachings of
dzogchen or atiyoga, the most advanced stage of practice in the nine yanas of
Tibetan Buddhism. The article contains the earliest meditation instruction by
Trunpga Rinpoche ever to appear in print. It is notable that this instruction is
similar to the meditation instructions that he gave to his beginning, as well as
advanced, students in North America, throughout most of his seventeen years
teaching there. Michael Hookham, the editor of this piece (who now uses his
dharma name, Rigdzin Shikpo), provided the following information on the
genesis of this article and the confusion that arose with its original publication:

Trungpa Rinpoche gave the Maha-Ati teachings in this text directly to
me from his personal inspiration; they weren’t translated from Tibetan,
but emerged from his insight, based, I'm sure, on traditional Dzogchen
upadesa [instruction or teaching]. I wrote them down over a period of
time with Rinpoche’s guidance and encouragement, linking them
together using his terminology. The text was probably completed in
1968 at Biddulph Old Hall, shortly before Rinpoche left for India.
Some time later the text was translated into Tibetan so that Dilgo



Khyentse Rinpoche could check what was said; as far as I know he
approved. Thus there seems to have been a textual translation
involved, but remarkably it was from English into Tibetan!

After Rinpoche left Britain, some copies of the text found their way
into hands other than those of his students. It was published in part by
Dr. John Crook in his The Yogins of Ladakh and more completely in
Chime Yungdung’s magazine Vajra. This latter version was
photocopied and circulated within Vajradhatu [the main organization
founded by Trungpa Rinpoche in the United States]. Unfortunately the
text was incorrectly described in Vajra as a translation made by
Rinpoche and me; there was also confusion in places between the main
text and the interleaved commentary and the title was changed to
“Maha-Ati.”

Alone this might not have mattered too much, but in the Shambhala
Sun of September 1998 and subsequently in the Shambhala Sun
website up to the present day, a new version of the text appeared, full
of arbitrary, idiosyncratic editorial changes. The Vajra version with its
errors was used as the basis for this . . . revision.

Rinpoche referred to the original text as self-secret, so it’s probably
suitable for a wider distribution than most Vajrayana texts, but I feel
it’s important to keep to Rinpoche’s intention as closely as we can. . . .
It may help matters if the original text is published, so I have attached
it to this e-mail.®

For The Collected Works Rigdzin Shikpo has provided the authoritative and
original edition of this text. Its editor continues to live in Oxford, where he and
Rinpoche originally met. He was one of Trungpa Rinpoche’s early students in
England and continued to study with him until Rinpoche’s death. He was one of
the first truly scholarly students that Rinpoche worked with, and he took
voluminous notes on their conversations about many aspects of Buddhist
doctrine and practice, particularly focused on the ati teachings. With
encouragement from his teachers, he later founded the Longchen Foundation as
a vehicle to further the study and practice of this tradition, and he continues to
teach in England. Another article that he and Chégyam Trungpa worked on
together, on teachings related to the Tibetan Book of the Dead, appears in
Volume Six of The Collected Works.

The next offering in Volume One is “The Meditation of Guru Rinpoche,”
which was published in Chakra: A Journal of Tantra and Yoga in 1971. This
short practice text is identified in Chakra as a translation of a Tibetan sadhana by



“Ven. Lama Trungpa Tulku.” Rigdzin Shikpo, the editor of “The Way of Maha
Ati,” has also shed some light on the probable history of this text: “. . . the book
Diamond Light contained the first version of the text Rinpoche called the Guru
Sadhana (an Ati Guru Yoga of Guru Rinpoche). As far as I can tell, this must be
the text you mean. Rinpoche created it from two Tibetan texts that he said were
from the Longchen Nyingthik. I searched the Longchen Nyingthik for them, but
with no success. It may be that the texts came from the Nyingthik Yabzhi. In any
case, Rinpoche weaved the two texts together and translated the result into
English in Oxford in 1965 or 1966, with the help of John Blackwood, a resident
of Oxford who died in Egypt some years ago. In 1967 or 1968, probably at
Biddulph Old Hall, Rinpoche and I retranslated the text into English with more
Sanskrit and Dharma terminology and Rinpoche created a commentary for it.”2
Apparently, the short text that appears in Volume One of The Collected Works is
part of a much larger undertaking.

An article entitled “The New Age,” which first appeared in the International
Times (IT) magazine in 1969, completes Volume One. IT was, according to
Richard Arthure, “a popular underground paper in the ’60s and ’70s . . .
published weekly in London.” The article contains many intriguing ideas about
society and politics, topics that continued to interest Chogyam Trungpa
throughout his life. “The New Age” may be the first recorded germ of the
Shambhala teachings, in English, that he concentrated on so much in the last ten
years of his life.

Altogether, Volume One of The Collected Works of Chégyam Trungpa
contains a varied and vibrant group of teachings. The pace of change in modern
society is such that something written thirty years ago now may seem already
almost archaic. These early writings of Ch6gyam Trungpa, however, are not just
of interest as historical artifacts, for they convey timeless, always up-to-date
wisdom. There is much to recommend the writings from these early years, and
this editor hopes that they will continue to enlighten readers for many
generations. At the same time, the contents of Volume One set the stage for the
extraordinary pageant of dharma that lies ahead in future volumes.

CAROLYN ROSE GIMIAN

April 15, 2002

Trident Mountain House
Tatamagouche Mountain, Nova Scotia

1. There has been some confusion about Chégyam Trungpa’s precise date of birth. Born in Tibet gives it as



the full-moon day of the first month of the Earth Hare year, 1939. Other autobiographical sources, including
an important doha (song) that he wrote in Tibet, suggest that he was born in the year of the Iron Dragon,
1940. Later in his life, he himself considered this to be his birth year. However, since Born in Tibet is
included in Volume One of The Collected Works, I have given 1939 as his birth year in this introduction.

2. Rinpoche, which literally means “precious one,” is a respectful title for a Tibetan teacher.

3. See First Thought Best Thought, preface, p. xix.

4. Neither Rinpoche nor Ginsberg seemed to remember this brief meeting when they next encountered one
another in the 1970s in New York. Ginsberg only realized that he had met Chégyam Trungpa in India after
the latter’s death. When Ginsberg examined a photograph taken during his visit to the Young Lamas School,
he saw that the lama who showed him around the school was none other than Trungpa Rinpoche, who had
been one of his most important Buddhist teachers from the 1970s on.

5. The version of this article that appears in The Collected Works is based on the article that appeared in The
Middle Way as well as on material from another manuscript that was discovered in Chégyam Trungpa’s
papers housed in the Shambhala Archives. This early typed version of the article included a few significant
additions to the discussion, which for some reason were omitted from the text as published in The Middle
Way. More notably, the earlier manuscript includes a chart that outlines the relationship of the mantra OM
MANI PADME HUM to overcoming various obstacles and attaining the wisdom of the five buddha
families. This chart has been included with the article in Volume One of The Collected Works. It is the first
time the chart has been published.

6. From the epilogue to the Penguin edition of Born in Tibet, © 1971 by Penguin Books, Inc. See pp. 280,
281 of Volume One of The Collected Works. Until the publication of The Collected Works, this epilogue was
out of print for many years. It contains revealing information about the time that Chogyam Trungpa spent in
England, as well as a powerful discussion of his ongoing spiritual relationship with his Tibetan gurus after
he left Tibet. Although he never saw his main teachers again, they continued to provide inspiration for his
journey in the West.

7. For the full text of this interview, see Volume Four of The Collected Works of Chégyam Trungpa.

8. From “Mukpo,” an unpublished memoir by Diana J. Mukpo with Carolyn Rose Gimian.

9. Ibid.

10. Letter from Richard Arthure to Carolyn Rose Gimian, December 2001.

11. A section of the sadhana appears in Volume Five of The Collected Works, along with an article about the
meaning of the sadhana, “Space and Energy,” reprinted from The Shambhala Sun magazine.

12. The practices preliminary to receiving abhisheka, or vajrayana empowerment. See the introduction to
Volume Five of The Collected Works for a discussion of ngondro.

13. Letter from Richard Arthure to Carolyn Rose Gimian, December 2001.

14. From “Chogyam’s Diary,” unpublished manuscript. Translated from the Tibetan by John Rockwell.
Used by permission of Diana J. Mukpo.

15. E-mail communication from Samuel Bercholz to Carolyn Gimian, January 1, 2002.

16. E-mail communication from John Baker to Carolyn Rose Gimian, February 17, 2002.

17. For an account of and commentary on their meetings, see David Chadwick, Crooked Cucumber: The
Life and Zen Teaching of Shunryu Suzuki (New York: Bantam Doubleday Dell, 2000), pp. 373-75.

18. E-mail and attachment from Rigdzin Shikpo to Carolyn Rose Gimian, February 10, 2002.

19. Ibid. The Longchen Nyingthik is a collection of writings—or termas, received teachings—by the famed
Nyingma teacher Jigme Lingpa. The Nyingthik Yabzhi, mentioned in the next sentence, is a well-known and
important collection of four dzogchen texts compiled by Longchen Rabjampa.



BorN IN TIBET

Center: Marpa the Translator, father of the Kagyti school. Clockwise from top: Vajradhara Buddha with
two Indian gurus, Gampopa, Mahakala (the Protector), Karmapa, Vajra Yogini (female divinity), and
Milarepa.
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Foreword to the 1995 Edition

WHEN I THINK back upon my father’s life, it amazes me how much he
accomplished in such a short time. He was only forty-eight years old when he
passed away, but within that time, the experiences he had and the people he
encountered were as varied and rich as if he had lived for hundreds of years.

Often people would ask him how he was able to adapt to so many diverse
cultures, and how he was able to deal with the tremendous hardships of his life.
Always his answer would be that it was due to the rigorous traditional training
and education that he received in Tibet while he was young. It might appear to
the reader that the Tibet of Ch6gyam Trungpa’s youth was medieval; it seems so
distant from today’s modern world, and so harsh. Ironically, however, it was that
very training, with its simplicity and realness, that gave him the foundation that
enabled him to relate with this modern world.

My father had two distinct roles in his life, corresponding with the periods of
his life spent in the East and the West. During the first part of his life, since he
was recognized as the incarnation of a famous teacher, people had high
expectations of him. Many of the lamas and monks at the monastery were quite
concerned that he be able to fit into his traditional role and continue the work of
his predecessor. He very much had to fulfill the ambitions of the monastic
community, as well as those of the laypeople of his religion.

Once he left Tibet, his role was quite different—almost totally the opposite. In
the West, very few people knew much about Buddhism as a whole, and they
knew even less about the role of a lama, a spiritual teacher. People had little
basis for any kind of expectations. In many ways, this was incredibly liberating
for Chégyam Trungpa, and in fact it enabled him to become one of the most
prominent Buddhist teachers of his time. His unique gift was that he was able to
synthesize the ancient wisdom of Buddhism and transmit it to the West in a clear
and concise way that was both meaningful and refreshing—so much so that a
new generation of Western practitioners was born.

Born in Tibet is a unique book, one that I personally have always loved to
read. It is not just a historical document, a book about Tibetan culture, but it
reveals many subtleties of what that life was actually like. It shows the spiritual
development of teacher and disciple, and it illustrates the humanness that



everyone possesses, regardless of culture, and the politics that come about from
that.

Even though my father was not particularly a nostalgic person, he had
tremendous pride in his Tibetan heritage, which he transmitted to me in various
ways. Occasionally in the middle of the night, we would prepare bandit soup
together. This was one of his favorite Tibetan delicacies, which was simply raw
meat with hot water poured over it.

Knowing the tremendous hardships and challenges that confronted Chégyam
Trungpa, and how he was able to overcome them through his courage, humor,
and his faith in the spiritual disciplines of Tibet, I have always found this book
inspiring. I hope that you too may be inspired by his example, and that this book
will continue to benefit numberless beings.

THE SAKYONG MIPHAM RINPOCHE
November 25, 1994
Karmé Chéling



Foreword to the 1977 Edition

STORIES OF ESCAPE have always enlisted the sympathy of normal human beings;
no generous heart but will beat faster as the fugitives from civil or religious
persecution approach the critical moment that will, for them, spell captivity or
death, or else the freedom they are seeking. The present age has been more than
usually prodigal in such happenings, if only for the reason that in this twentieth
century of ours, for all the talk about “human rights,” the area of oppression,
whether as a result of foreign domination or native tyranny, has extended beyond
all that has ever been recorded in the past. One of the side effects of modern
technology has been to place in the hands of those who control the machinery of
government a range of coercive apparatus undreamed of by any ancient
despotism. It is not only such obvious means of intimidation as machine guns or
concentration camps that count; such a petty product of the printing press as an
identity card, by making it easy for the authorities to keep constant watch on
everybody’s movements, represents in the long run a still more effective curb on
liberty. In Tibet, for instance, the introduction of such a system by the Chinese
Communists, following the abortive rising of 1959, and its application to food
rationing has been one of the principal means of keeping the whole population in
subjection and compelling them to do the work decreed by their foreign
overlords. Formerly Tibet was a country where, though simple living was the
rule, serious shortage of necessities had been unknown: Thus, one of the most
contented portions of the world has been reduced to misery, with many of its
people, like the author of the present book, choosing exile rather than remain in
their own homes under conditions where no man, and especially no young
person, is any longer allowed to call his mind his own.

Hostile propaganda, playing on slogan-ridden prejudice, has made much of
the fact that a large proportion of the peasantry, in the old Tibet, stood in the
relation of feudal allegiance to the great landowning families or also to
monasteries endowed with landed estates; it has been less generally known that
many other peasants were small holders, owning their own farms, to whom must
be added the nomads of the northern prairies, whose lives knew scarcely any
restrictions other than those imposed by a hard climate and by the periodic need
to seek fresh pasturage for their yaks and sheep. In fact all three systems, feudal



tenure, individual peasant proprietorship and nomadism have always existed side
by side in the Tibetan lands; of the former all one need say is that it naturally
would depend, for its effective working, on the regular presence of the
landowner and his family among their own people; in any such -case,
absenteeism is bound to sap the essential human relationship, bringing other
troubles in its train. In central Tibet a tendency on the part of too many of the
secular owners to stop in Lhasa, with occasional outings down to India, had
latterly become apparent and this was to be accounted a danger sign; further east,
in the country of Kham to which the author belongs, unimpaired patriarchal
institutions prevailed as of old and no one wished things otherwise. Of the
country as a whole it can be said that, generally speaking, the traditional
arrangements worked in such a way that basic material needs were adequately
met, life was full of interest at every social level, while the Buddhist ideal
absorbed everyone’s intellectual and moral aspirations at all possible degrees,
from that of popular piety to spirituality of unfathomable depth and purity. By
and large, Tibetan society was a unanimous society in which, however, great
freedom of viewpoint prevailed and also a strong feeling for personal freedom
which, however, did not conflict with, but was complementary to, a no less
innate feeling for order.

At the same time, it must not be supposed that the Tibetans had developed—
or had any occasion to develop—an ideology of liberty of the type familiar in the
West: A Tibetan experiences freedom (like any other desirable state, moreover)
“concretely,” that is to say through his being rather than through its conceptual
image in his thinking mind. The presence or absence of interference in his life
tells him how far he is or is not a free man and he feels little need to call in
abstract criteria for the sake of defining his own condition. By nature and habit
he is “down to earth,” hence also his preference for an almost material
phraseology when trying to express the most subtle metaphysical and spiritual
truths; that is why our word philosophy is but rarely appropriate in a Tibetan
context. Whatever a Tibetan undertakes, he will do it wholeheartedly and when
the wish to do that thing leaves him he will banish it just as completely from his
thoughts. The same holds good for the religious life; by comparison with many
of us, an average Tibetan finds contemplative concentration, with its parallel
exclusion of irrelevant thinking, easy: The reader need not be surprised, when he
comes to the description of the author’s early training under various teachers, at
the unswerving single-mindedness shown by one so young. In Tibet this is a
normal attitude for one of his kind.

Another characteristic common to Tibetans of all types, not unconnected with
the ones already mentioned, is their love of trekking and camping. Every Tibetan



seems to have a nomadic streak in him and is never happier than when moving,
on ponyback or, if he is a poor man, on foot through an unpeopled countryside in
close communion with untamed nature; rapid travel would be no travel, as far as
this quality of experience is concerned. Here again, one sees how a certain kind
of life helps to foster the habit of inward recollection as well as that sense of
kinship with animals, birds, and trees which is so deeply rooted in the Tibetan
soul.

Tibetans on the whole are strangers to the kind of sophistry that in one breath
will argue in favor of human brotherhood and of the irresponsible exploitation of
all man’s fellow beings in order to serve that interest reduced to its most
shortsightedly material aspect. As Buddhists they know that all are in the same
boat, tossed together on the ocean of birth and death and subject to a selfsame
fatality. Therefore, for those who understand this truth, compassion is
indivisible; failure in one respect will, unfailingly, instill poison into everything
else. This is not some abstruse idea reserved for monks or lamas; people of the
humblest degree are aware of it, though the saints exemplify it more brightly. It
is one of the great joys of being in Tibet to witness the results of this human
attitude in the lack of fear displayed by bird and beast in all parts of the country.
Admittedly most Tibetans, though averse to hunting or fishing, are meat eaters
and could hardly be otherwise in a land of such prolonged winters where in any
case the range of available foodstuffs is very limited. Nevertheless this fact is
accounted a cause for regret; no one tries to prove that it is completely innocent
and devoid of spiritually negative results. It is a common practice for people to
abstain from the fruit of slaughter on certain days, as a kind of token of intent;
while anyone who succeeds in keeping off meat altogether, as in the case of
certain lamas and ascetics, will invariably earn praise for doing so.

It is hard to believe that if such an attitude were more general the prospects of
peace on Earth would not be that much brighter. If one wishes to pull up the
taproot of war one has to seek it at a level far deeper than that of social or
political events. Every Tibetan faithful to his tradition knows this plainly; it is
only when he adopts the ways of our civilization that he will begin to forget this
truth, together with many other things.

It may perhaps now help the reader to be told something about the historical
background of the present story, with particular emphasis on such events as
affected conditions in eastern Tibet during the period just prior to the time when
the author’s personal narrative starts.

After the Chinese Revolution of 1912, when the Manchu dynasty fell, the
suzerainty the Emperor had exercised in this country (since 1720) was



repudiated by the Tibetans; Chinese influence in Tibet had in any case been
dwindling all through the nineteenth century. Not long before the fall of the
Manchus, their last viceroy in the westerly Chinese province of Szechuan, Chao
Erfeng, a hard and ambitious man, made an attempt (the first of its kind) to bring
Tibet under direct Chinese administration; his troops occupied Lhasa in 1910.
When the empire collapsed, however, giving way to a republic, the Tibetans rose
and drove out the Chinese garrisons from the two central provinces of U and
Tsang; Tibetan national independence in its latest phase dates from that time.
Moreover, a further extension of the territory governed from Lhasa took place in
1918, when Tibetan forces succeeded in occupying the western part of Kham
which thenceforth remained as a province of Tibet with its administrative center
at Chamdo, a place often referred to in the pages to follow.

The new Sino-Tibetan boundary consequently ran through the middle of the
Khampa country, with people of Tibetan race, that is to say, dwelling on both
sides of it; but paradoxically it was those districts that remained nominally under
China that enjoyed the most untrammelled independence in practice. Occasional
interference from neighboring Chinese “warlords” apart, the local principalities,
akin to small Alpine cantons, which provided the typical form of organization
for a valley, or complex of valleys, in this region were left so free to manage
their own affairs that people there must have been practically unconscious of,
and equally indifferent to, the fact that, in the atlases of the world, their lands
were colored yellow as forming part of greater China. Under these conditions,
which went back a long time, the Khampas had developed a peculiar sense of
local independence which needs to be understood if one is to grasp the
significance of many of the events mentioned in this book.

By comparison with the districts still attached to China, the part of Kham
governed by Lhasa-appointed officials felt, if anything, less free; which does not
mean, however, that the Khampas were lacking in loyalty to the Dalai Lama, as
spiritual sovereign of all the Tibetan peoples: They were second to none in this
respect. Only they did not see why an unbounded devotion to his sacred person
need imply any willingness to surrender jealously treasured liberties at the
bidding of others acting in his name. In their own country the Khampas much
preferred the authority of their own chieftains (“kings” as the author describes
them), personally known to everyone; laws or levies imposed from a distant
center was not a thing of which they could recognize the necessity, for their own
valleys had always run their own affairs quite successfully on the basis of a self-
contained economy and from their point of view nothing was to be gained, and
much lost, by exchanging the old, homely arrangements for control by the
nominees of a capital that lay in another province far to the west. Besides, some



of the governors sent to Chamdo made matters worse by extorting from the local
inhabitants more perquisites than what long-established custom would sanction.
When the Chinese invaded Tibet in October 1950 they were at first able to
exploit these discontents in their own favor by saying they would put an end to
the exactions of the Tibetan officials. It was not till afterward that the clansmen
of those parts realized, too late, that the change from capricious harassment to a
meticulously calculated squeezing had not worked out to their advantage. It is
hardly surprising that when eventually popular exasperation at Communist
interference broke out in armed revolt it was the Khampas who bore the brunt of
the patriotic movement and provided its most daring leaders.

: s * *

It is hoped that enough has now been said by way of setting the stage for the
Lama Trungpa’s reminiscences: Those are given with typically Tibetan matter-
of-factness; he neither tries to feed the reader with opinions nor does he, for the
sake of logical coherence, introduce information gathered after the event; the
inevitable gaps in one man’s experience are left, just as they were, unfilled. All
the author does is to relate whatever he himself saw, heard, and said; as each day
brought its fresh needs and opportunities, he describes how he tried to act,
adding nothing and omitting nothing—the lama obviously has a most retentive
memory for detail. Surely this way of presenting facts makes the documentary
value of such a chronicle all the greater, illustrating, as it does, all the hesitations
and uncertainties of a situation no one was prepared for, the doubts, the changes
of plan, the conflicts of advice, out of which gradually grows the firm resolve,
carrying out of which forms the second and most dramatic part of the book.

The first appearance of the Communists on what previously seemed like an
idyllic sense is typical, it occurs almost casually: When they turn up one day
people ask themselves what this means, but when nothing very unpleasant
happens—none of the expected looting by the soldiers, for instance—everyone
soon settles down again to his usual preoccupations. The soldiers pass on; the
incident is half-forgotten. It is only some pages later that one discovers them
again, first just across the Tibetan frontier at Chamdo, and long afterward in
occupation of Lhasa, but how they got there one is not told. After a time one
guesses that Tibet has capitulated, but is given few details simply because those
actually involved in these events were often too cut off in their own locality to
obtain a bird’s-eye view; we in England, watching the international scene from
afar were, in some respects, better able to build up a general picture.

In fact, as the book shows, it was by no means easy for people in those remote



districts immediately to form clear ideas about the nature of the new order in
China. Moreover this also partly explains why the Tibetan government itself,
while the Communist threat was developing, was rather hesitating in its
reactions; a temporizing policy, so often resorted to by small nations facing
pressure from a great power, may well have seemed preferable to crying Tibet’s
wrongs from the housetops regardless of consequences. The Lhasa government
has been criticized, with a certain justice, for lack of initiative in face of a danger
calling for swift decisions; but it is only fair to make considerable allowance for
circumstances, material and psychological, that were inherent in the situation
from the very start of the crisis.

The above remarks have somewhat anticipated on the sequence of events. The
point [ am trying to make is that it necessarily took some time before the author,
young as he was, or his senior advisers were able to gather any precise
impressions of what was to be expected under Communist rule. As the story
unfolds we see an initial bewilderment gradually giving way to acute discomfort
which in its turn becomes a sense of impending disaster. We hear that fighting
has broken out in a certain valley, yet the adjoining valley may still be seemingly
in enjoyment of its habitual calm, with everyone there intent on peaceful tasks—
adding a wing to the local temple perhaps or preparing for the reception of a
revered spiritual master. Eventually, however, the more wide-awake characters in
the book begin to realize that this is no passing crisis: Tibet and its cherished
way of life are facing a catastrophe without parallel in the past, one that no
policy of “wait and see” will enable one to live down. It is a time for far-
reaching decisions if certain values, as well as one’s own life, are to be
preserved: Here again, one is allowed to see into the conflict of outlook between
those who cling to the belief that this trouble, like others before it, will blow
over if only people will have the patience to sit tight and those others who think
that their imperative duty is to carry whatever they can of Tibet’s spiritual
heritage to someplace where the flickering spark can be rekindled in freedom;
flight to India, the Buddha’s native land, seems the only remedy left to them.
These two much-canvassed points of view become focused, in this story, in the
persons of the author himself and his elderly bursar, a well-meaning man not
wanting in devotion, but typical of the mentality that is forever fighting shy of
any solution that looks like becoming irrevocable. There is much pathos to be
gathered from these repeated encounters between youthful virility ready to take
the plunge and inbred caution for which “stick to familiar ways and wait” is the
universal maxim to fit every unprecedented emergency.

About the actual escape there is no call to speak here, except by remarking
that at least one reader, while following this part of the story, has been repeatedly



reminded of those young British officers of the late nineteenth century who
found themselves launched by fate into positions of unusual responsibility at
remote outposts of the empire: One meets here the same readiness to take crucial
decisions time and again, the same light-hearted spirit maintained over long
periods of suspense and danger, and in more critical moments, a similar capacity
for instilling courage into the timid and endurance into the weak by the well-
turned appeal, the timely sally—all these qualities were displayed by the chief
actor in this drama in a completely unself-conscious manner.

But after making this comparison, one still has to admit a certain difference,
itself due to a very great difference in the respective backgrounds. This can be
summed up in the fact that in the one case, aptitude for leadership rests on an
acceptance of what are predominantly “Stoic” loyalties and values—Marcus
Aurelius would have shared them gladly—whereas in the other, it is from the
heart of contemplation that this strength is drawn forth; the center of allegiance
lies there, thus endowing whatever action has to be taken under pressure of
necessity with an unmistakable flavor of “inwardness.” It is the lama who,
speaking through the man, delivers his message and that is why, over and above
its human and historical interest, this book has also to be treated as a Buddhist
document in which much may be discovered by those who have the instinct to
read between the lines. It is noticeable that whenever a pause in the action occurs
there is an almost automatic withdrawal back into contemplation; the mind
wastes no time in dwelling on its anxieties but finds within its own solitude, as
well as in the stillness of nature, the means of refreshment and renewal.

That a mind so attuned should harbor no enmity in return for injuries received
seems only logical; in this respect the present history may well be left to speak
for itself. Buddhism has always had much to say, not only about “compassion”
as such, but also about what might be called its “intellectual premises,” failing
which that virtue can so easily give way to a passional benevolence that may
even end up in hatred and violence; this has been the persistent weakness of
worldly idealists and of the movements they promoted. For compassion (or
Christian charity for that matter) to be truly itself it requires its intellectual
complement which is dispassion or detachment: a hard saying for the
sentimentalists. Though feeling obviously has a place there too, it can never
afford to bypass intelligence—as if anything could do that with impunity! This is
a point which Buddhism brings out with implacable insistence: From its point of
view compassion must be looked upon as a dimension of knowledge; the two are
inseparable, as husband and wife. All this belongs to the basic tenets of the
mahayana or “great way,” of which the Tibetan tradition itself is an offshoot;
Tibetan art is filled with symbolic delineations of this partnership. It is important



for the reader to be made aware of the fact that these ideas pervade the entire
background of the author’s thinking, otherwise he will miss many of the finer
touches.

It would be ungrateful to terminate this introduction to a remarkable book
without some reference to the lady who helped the Lama Trungpa to put down
his memories on paper, Mrs. Cramer Roberts; in fact, but for her encouragement
in the first place, the work might never have been begun. In interpreting what the
lama told her of his experiences she wisely did not try and tamper with a
characteristically Tibetan mode of expression beyond the minimum required by
correct English; in all other respects the flavor of the author’s thought has been
preserved in a manner that will much increase the reader’s ability to place
himself, imaginatively, in the minds and feelings of those who figure in the
narrative; a more inflected style, normal with us, could so easily have covered up
certain essential things. For the fine sense of literary discernment she has shown
we all have to thank Mrs. Cramer Roberts, as also for the unstinting devotion she
brought to her self-appointed task.

MARCO PALLIS
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How to Pronounce Tibetan Names and Words



A SIMPLIFIED GUIDE

IT 1s oBvIOUSLY impracticable here to aim at the kind of accuracy that would
satisfy an expert in phonetics: The use of numerous small additional signs, for
instance, such as one finds in serious grammars, would complicate the issue too
much for ordinary readers. Therefore one must try to limit oneself to whatever
the Latin alphabet, coupled with a few rather rough and ready explanations, will
give; in fact, a reasonable approximation can be obtained by this means, as is the
case with most foreign languages; the reader should find no trouble in applying
the following hints concerning Tibetan pronunciation.

Vowel sounds: These include the five open vowels, a, e, i, 0o, u which should
be sounded as in Italian: A final e should never be muted, it is open like the rest;
the Tibetan name Dorje does not rhyme with “George”; in French it would be
written as “Dorjé.”

To the above five should be added two modified vowels, 6 and ii; these should
be pronounced as in German.

These seven sounds give the complete vowel range.

Consonant sounds: Here the problem of transcription is somewhat more
difficult. The prevailing dialects of Central Tibet, where the capital Lhasa is
situated, and of eastern Tibet where the author belongs, contain a number of
consonant sounds which, to a European ear, sound almost alike; there are, for
instance, two kinds of k, two of t, and so on. Short of using an elaborate system
of diacritic marks, puzzling to a nonscholar, one is compelled to make do, in
many cases, with a single letter where Tibetans would use two. The reader need
not be troubled with these fine distinctions.

In the case of aspirated consonants such as kh, th, and so on both letters have
to be sounded separately; they do not fuse to make an entirely new consonant as
in the English word the for instance, or the Greek name Thetis. Sh, ch should,
however, be sounded as in English.

Note: There is no sound like our f in Tibetan. Ph, whenever it occurs, follows
the rule as above, i.e. both letters are sounded as in map house.

Special attention must be drawn to combinations such as tr, dr in Tibetan: The
author’s name, Trungpa, is a case in point. The fact is that the r is not sounded
independently; it only affects the preceding t or d by lending to it a slightly
“explosive” character. What one has to do, in these cases, is to press the tongue
hard against the palate, while sounding t or d as the case may be; it sometimes



helps to think of an r while so doing. (In Tibetan quite a number of such letters
exist, such as gr, tr, br, etc., which are all pronounced similarly; but obviously
this aspect of the matter will only concern students of Tibetan who, in any case,
will use the Tibetan alphabet.)



ONE

Found and Enthroned

My BIRTHPLACE was a small settlement on a high plateau of northeastern Tibet.
Above it, the celebrated mountain Pagdé Piinsum rises perpendicularly to more
than eighteen thousand feet, and is often called “the pillar of the sky.” It looks
like a tall spire; its mighty crest towers under perpetual snows, glittering in the
sunshine.

Centuries before Buddhism was brought to Tibet, the followers of the Bon
religion believed that Pago Piinsum was the home of the king of spirits, and the
surrounding lesser peaks were the abodes of his ministers. Myths linger on
among the country folk, and these mountains have continued to be held in awe
and veneration in the district.

The name of the place was Geje; it stands in a bare, treeless country without
even bushes, but grass covered, and in the summer months the ground is bright
with small flowers and sweet-smelling herbs whose scent in this pure air is
thought to be curative; however, for the greater part of the year the whole land is
under snow and it is so cold that the ice must be broken to get water. Two sorts
of wild animals are peculiar to this province, the kyang or wild ass, and a kind of
bison called a drong; both are found in herds of about five hundred each. The
people live in tents made of yak’s hair; the more wealthy have larger ones with
several partitions, situated in the center of the encampment, while the poorer
peasants live on the fringes. Each village considers itself to be one large family,
and in the individual family, the members from the oldest to the youngest live
together and own their herds of yaks and sheep in common.
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Mount Pagd Piinsum

The fire, used for all domestic purposes, is always in the middle of the tent,
and the shrine is in the far right-hand corner with a butter lamp burning
continually before a religious picture, or a set of the scriptures.

This northern area of East Tibet is called Nyishutsa-nga, and has twenty-five
districts; the name simply means “twenty-five.” At one time it was under a king
who gave the district where Geje is situated the special privilege of having its
highlanders chosen for his bodyguard on account of their courage.

Geje was a small community of only about five hundred people. My father,
Yeshe Dargye, owned a little land there; he met his future wife, Tungtso Drolma,
when she was working for her relations, looking after the yaks and milking the
females, which are called dris. They had one daughter, but when a second child
was already in her womb he left her, and she married again, this time a much
poorer man who, when the child was born, accepted him as his son.

The night of my conception my mother had a very significant dream that a
being had entered her body with a flash of light; that year flowers bloomed in the
neighborhood although it was still winter, to the surprise of the inhabitants.

During the New Year festival on the day of the full moon, in the Earth Hare
year according to the Tibetan calendar (February 1939) I was born in the cattle
byre; the birth came easily. On that day a rainbow was seen in the village, a pail
supposed to contain water was unaccountably found full of milk, while several
of my mother’s relations dreamt that a lama was visiting their tents. Soon
afterward, a lama from Tashi Lhaphuk Monastery came to Geje; as he was
giving his blessing to the people, he saw me, who at that time was a few months



old; he put his hand over my head to give me a special blessing, saying that he
wanted me for his monastery and that I must be kept very clean and always be
carefully looked after. Both my parents agreed to this, and decided that when I
grew older I should be sent to his monastery, where my mother’s uncle was a
monk.

After the death in 1938 of the tenth Trungpa Tulku, the supreme abbot of
Surmang, the monks at once sent a representative to His Holiness Gyalwa
Karmapa, the head of the Karma Kagyii school whose monastery lay near Lhasa.
Their envoy had to inform him of the death of the last abbot and to ask him if he
had had any indication where his reincarnation would be found. They begged
him to let them know at once should he obtain a vision.

Some months later Gyalwa Karmapa was visiting Palpung Monastery in the
province of Derge in Kham, which is Tibet’s eastern region. Jamgén Kongtriil
Rinpoche, who had been a devoted disciple of the tenth Trungpa Tulku and lived
at Palpung, also asked him not to defer giving any possible indication, for the
monks of Surmang were feeling lost without their abbot and were eager that his
reincarnation should be found without delay.

A vision had in fact come to Gyalwa Karmapa, who dictated a letter to his
private secretary, saying that the reincarnation of the tenth Trungpa Tulku has
been born in a village five days’ journey northward from Surmang. Its name
sounds like two words Ge and De; there is a family there with two children; the
son is the reincarnation. It all sounded rather vague; however, the secretary and
monks of the Diitsi Tel Monastery at Surmang were preparing to go in search of
the few abbot when a second sealed letter was received at the monastery. Rolpa
Dorje, the regent abbot of Diitsi Tel, called a meeting, opened the letter, and read
it to the assembled monks. It said that Gyalwa Karmapa had had a second and
much clearer vision: “The door of the family’s dwelling faces south; they own a
big red dog. The father’s name is Yeshe Dargye and the mother’s Chung and
Tzo; the son who is nearly a year old is Trungpa Tulku.” One senior monk and
two others set off immediately to find me.

After five days’ journey they reached the village of Geje, and called on all the
more important families; they made a list of the names of those parents who had
children of a year old, and returned to Diitsi Tel. The list was sent to Gyalwa
Karmapa, who was still at Palpung. He found that the monks had merely taken
names belonging to important families and said that they must go again and
make further enquiries. On receipt of this message a second party of monks was
sent to the village, which in the interval had removed to higher ground and
changed its name to Dekyil: This time they called on every family and made a
thorough search. In one tent they found a baby boy who had a sister and, as had



been written in Gyalwa Karmapa’s letter, the entrance faced south and there was
a red dog. Also, the mother’s name was Bo Chung, though her family called her
Tungtso Drolma; thus her name confirmed Gyalwa Karmapa’s vision, but the
father’s name was different from that in the letter, and this caused a great deal of
confusion; yet they looked closely at the baby, for as soon as he had seen them in
the distance he waved his little hand and broke into smiles as they came in. So
the monks felt that this must be the child and gave him the gifts which Gyalwa
Karmapa had sent, the sacred protective cord (sungdii) and the traditional scarf
(khata); this latter the baby took and hung round the monk’s neck in the
prescribed way, as if he had already been taught what was the right thing to do:
Delighted, the monks picked me up, for that baby was myself, and I tried to talk.

The following day the monks made a further search in another part of the
village, then returned to say goodbye. As they made prostration before me, I
placed my hand on their heads as if I knew that I should give them my blessing,
then the monks were certain that I was the incarnation of the tenth Trungpa.
They spoke to my mother asking her to tell them in confidence who had been my
father. She told them that I was the son of her first husband, Yeshe Dargye, but
that I had always been known as the son of my stepfather. This made everything
clear to the monks, who immediately returned to Diitsi Tel. The news was taken
to Gyalwa Karmapa who was sure that I, the child of Tungtso Drélma, was the
eleventh Trungpa Tulku.

Gyalwa Karmapa was about to leave Palpung Monastery on a tour in which
Surmang would be included, and the monks realized that if he was to perform
the ceremony of my enthronement it was necessary to bring me there
immediately. Kargyen, the senior secretary of Diitsi Tel, with a party of monks
came to my native village of Dekyil to fetch me. He had to proclaim his mission
to the whole area and to consult all the heads of the villages and the
representatives of the people, since ordinarily it was expected that they would
demand land or money. However, everyone was cooperative and modest and no
one asked for any gain for himself. Next, my parents had to be asked if they
wished to live near Surmang, or would prefer to receive property in their own
village. My parents decided that they would like to be given the land on which
they lived; however, they told the secretary that at some future time they would
be glad of permission to visit me at Surmang.

When these things were settled we set off, with both my parents traveling in
the party, for they were anxious to see Surmang. My mother stayed on in a house
near Diitsi Tel in order to look after me until I was five years old, but my
stepfather returned to his village.



A messenger had been sent ahead to inform Diitsi Tel when we would arrive,
and a great welcome was prepared. All the monks from Surmang and many from
neighboring monasteries assembled some five miles distant from Diitsi Tel to
form a procession to escort me. On that day the valley was misty, and a rainbow
appeared in the sky forming an arch over the procession, but as we drew near the
monastery the surrounding mists dissolved, and the low clouds spread like a
canopy hiding us from distant onlookers.

At the monastery everything was in festival; all the monks were rejoicing.
There were special ceremonies and a great feast was arranged. I have been told
that, though I was only about thirteen months old at the time, I immediately
recognized those monks in whom the tenth Trungpa Tulku had placed
confidence, and that I behaved with the greatest decorum throughout the day and
did not even cry once.

A few days later I was put through a test; pairs of several objects were put
before me, and in each case I picked out the one that had belonged to the tenth
Trungpa Tulku; among them were two walking sticks and two rosaries; also,
names were written on small pieces of paper and when I was asked which piece
had his name on it, I chose the right one. Now the monks were certain that I was
the incarnation, so a letter was sent to Gyalwa Karmapa telling him the results of
the examination and inviting him to officiate at my enthronement ceremony.

Every morning my mother brought me to the monastery and took me home with
her in the evening. My earliest memory is being in a room with several monks
who were talking to me, and I was answering them. I was told later that my first
words were “OM MANI PADME HUM”; probably, I did not say them very correctly.
When lamas came to visit me, I have been told that I used to clutch at their
rosaries and try to imitate them. Every day that month, I held an audience and
received visits from the friends and disciples of my past incarnation who took a
great interest in me, and I always seemed to enjoy meeting people.

At the end of the month my enthronement ceremony was to take place, and so
I was taken to the larger monastery of Namgyal Tse. This time, instead of the
joyous informality with which I had been welcomed at Diitsi Tel, a procession
came to escort me and everything was done with pomp and ceremony.

Gyalwa Karmapa arrived with some senior lamas from Palpung; other people
came from all parts of East Tibet: About one thousand Surmang monks and
twelve thousand other monks and laity finally assembled. My monks were
delighted, for this enthronement was to be one of the largest in living memory.
There were several incarnate lamas already at Surmang including Garwang
Tulku the regent abbot of Namgyal Tse. Rélpa Dorje the regent abbot of Diitsi



Tel was appointed to act as my sponsor and give my responses at the
enthronement. Both were regent abbots of their respective monasteries in the
interregnum after the death of the tenth Trungpa and during my minority, and
they remained so later when I was absent from Surmang.

Rolpa Dorje Rinpoche was the fifth incarnation of the great Rélpa Dorje, a
contemporary of the fifth Trungpa Tulku, and he had been the teacher of Tai Situ
Chokyi Jungne in the early part of the eighteenth century; the latter was the
second most important lama in the Karma Kagyii school; Tai Situ is a Chinese
title. He had written many scholarly works and had revived the pictorial art of
the “Gardri school.” His teaching had been widely disseminated in Tibet, China,
and India.

My enthronement took place in the large assembly hall. The lion throne (seng
tri), on which all tulkus are traditionally enthroned, stood at the farther end of the
hall on a dais. It was made of gilt wood, square in shape, with white lions carved
on the sides which appeared to be supporting it. On the throne there were three
cushions, red, yellow, and blue, covered with two strips of brocade. A table was
placed in front of it with all my seals of office. I was carried up the hall by the
senior secretary of Diitsi Tel, escorted by a procession of the higher dignitaries.
Rolpa Dorje Rinpoche stood at the foot of the throne, and my secretary handed
me to him; he then mounted the dais and sat down in my place holding me on his
lap and gave all the responses which should have come from me.

According to tradition, the service began with the rite of the primary upasaka
ordination, the entrance to the Buddhist congregation. Gyalwa Karmapa cut my
hair to symbolize a cutting away from the material, and entering the spiritual,
life. Then the regent abbot spoke in my name.

From today I take refuge in the Buddha.

From today I take refuge in the dharma (the norm, embodied in the
doctrine).

From today I take refuge in the sangha (the assembly or church both
earthly and heavenly).

At the moment when he put the scissors to my hair there was a clap of thunder,
sudden rain, and a rainbow appeared. This was thought to be very auspicious.
After this I was given my personal name Karma Tendzin Trinle Kiinkhyap Pal
Sangpo: All monks of the Karma Kagyii school are given the first name Karma
after their founder; roughly translated the remaining words mean: “the universal
action of the holder of the doctrine, the gloriously good.” Later that day I was
given all the seals and official documents of the tenth Trungpa Tulku. Everyone



came to receive my blessing and offered me ceremonial scarves. The incarnate
lamas and heads of monasteries led the way, followed by monks and laypeople;
they presented me with robes and many other gifts.

After a few weeks Gyalwa Karmapa Rinpoche left for his own center close to
Lhasa, and the senior tulkus from Palpung, after escorting him halfway, likewise
returned to their monastery.

The umbrella of protection.



TWO

The Founding of Surmang

For My LIFE as the eleventh Trungpa Tulku to be understood, it is necessary to
know the history of the Kagyii school to which the Surmang monasteries
belonged. The basic teaching was introduced into Tibet by Marpa the Translator,
a great adept. He made three journeys to India under most difficult conditions to
study with Naropa and other Indian Buddhist gurus and brought back many
precious teachings which he translated from the Sanskrit. He was one of the
leading scholars of what is known as the New Translation period. Milarepa, later
to become one of Tibet’s greatest saints, became his chief disciple to whom he
handed over the spiritual authority to carry on his work. Milarepa’s poems and
the moving story of his life were written down soon after his death by several of
his own disciples; there is a good translation into English by Evans-Wentz, and
an outstanding one into French by Professor Bacot.

The monastic tradition of the Kagyii school was founded by Gampopa, a pupil
of Milarepa born in 1079. His classical work The Ornament of Precious
Liberation is still a leading manual in this school and has been translated into
English by Dr. Herbert Guenther.

Following Gampopa’s teaching, separate schools developed under three of his
disciples and one of them, Karmapa, founded the Karma Kagyii school and
established the abbey of Tsurphu near Lhasa which continued to be the principal
monastery of the order. Karmapa’s first incarnation Karma Pakshi (1203-1282),
an eminent teacher, was invited to China by the emperor Kublai Khan, and the
second incarnation became the spiritual teacher of Kublai’s successor. He was
followed in this function by all the incarnations up to the tenth, who refused to
go to China saying he would rather give his blessing to a dog’s skull than to the
emperor; he evidently disliked court life and did not wish to be connected with it
even occasionally! The fifth Karmapa is especially known as the teacher of the
Ming emperor Yung-lo and his influence on the spiritual and cultural thought of
China was very great.

At the end of the fourteenth century Trung Mase Rinpoche, the son of the king
of Minyak in East Tibet left his father’s palace to seek spiritual guidance. He
traveled from place to place and came to the monastery of Tsurphu: There he



met the fifth Karmapa Teshin Shekpa, who became his guru and under whom he
remained in retreat for ten years, in conditions of the utmost austerity. Karmapa
then told him that the time had come for him to go out to found a monastery and
to begin teaching himself.

He traveled around Tibet to find somewhere to establish it, and when he came
to the valley of Y6shung he had the feeling that this was the place his teacher
had predicted. He walked around the village with his begging bowl reciting the
sutra (sacred treatise) Arya-manjushri-nama-sangiti, i.e., “the Perfect Song of
the Name of Holy Manjushri,” and felt that his search had come to an end when
a woman came out of her doorway to put food in his bowl at the very moment
that he had reached the words Chdkyi gyaltsen lekpardzuk, which mean “Plant
well the banner of the victory of dharma.” This seemed to be such an auspicious
sign that he immediately decided to build his monastery on that spot. This was
the beginning of Surmang; and when its monks recite this sutra, they will pause
at these words and repeat them a second time.

At first Trung Mase built a small hut made with reeds: It was very primitive,
with many corners. Disciples flocked to him, and some of them suggested that
the monastery should now be given an imposing name, but he said that he was
proud of his hut and since it was so irregular in shape it should be called
Surmang, which means “many cornered.”

More and more disciples joined the monastery, of whom eleven were
especially notable: Three of these remained with their guru in the hut while the
eight others, who were spiritually advanced teachers (togden), carried their
doctrine round the country. Trungpa Kiinga Gyaltsen was one of these: He was
looked upon as an incarnation of Maitreya Bodhisattva, destined to be the
buddha of the next world cycle, also of Dombipa, a great Buddhist siddha
(adept), and of Milarepa.

As his guru had also done, Kiinga Gyaltsen looked for a place for his
monastery, and at one of the villages on his travels he was told the story of
Dombipa, who when he came there was holding a cup of amrita (symbolically
the elixir of immortality) in his hand, which he threw into space, saying,
“Wherever this cup falls will be the place for my reincarnation.” It fell on a hill
in the valley which has since been called Diitsi Tel (Hill of Amrita).

This story interested Kiinga Gyaltsen, and when thinking about it one night he
had a dream in which his guru said, “You are an incarnation of Dombipa, and
this is the place for your monastery.” He was deeply moved, and the next day he
felt that he must also throw a cup. He said, “If I am an incarnation of Dombipa,
may my cup fall in the right place.” He was five miles from the village but with
the power of his word, the cup fell on the roof of Adro Shelubum, a large



landowner’s castle on the hill of Diitsi Tel. It made a ringing sound and at the
same moment there was an earthquake. When he was told about Kiinga
Gyaltsen’s miraculous powers Adro Shelubum realized that he must be a disciple
of Trung Mase, invited him to his palace, and was so deeply impressed by him
that he became his devotee. He offered part of his home to his new guru to be
used as a monstery, and undertook to feed the monks. As Trungpa Kiinga
Gyaltsen intended to continue his own life of traveling and camping with his
disciples, he did not want to establish a large monastery; he therefore thankfully
accepted Adro Shelubum’s offer and used it as a house of retreat for his monks.
His camps became known as the Surmang garchen tengpa (the great camps of
Surmang); many disciples joined them, and this mode of life was followed by his
next three incarnations who were abbots of Diitsi Tel.

In the meantime, Trung Mase in his hut monastery had gathered a great many
disciples around him. It became overcrowded, and Adro Shelubum gave him a
second gift. This time it was the entire castle of Namgyal Tse which was much
larger than Diitsi Tel and had a spacious assembly hall; much land was included
in the endowment, together with rocky mountains where there were several
caves suitable for meditation. Trung Mase transferred his hut monastery to
Namgyal Tse, but retained the name of Surmang for the entire group.

As death approached he said that he would not reincarnate, as his teaching
was both his incarnation and his portrait. Garwang, one of the eight notable
togdens of the hut monastery, followed him as abbot. Surmang now included
Namgyal Tse, Diitsi Tel, and several small monasteries, each of which had its
own abbot.

The fourth incarnation, Trungpa Kiinga Namgyal did not follow the camping
way of life of his three predecessors, and a descendant of Adro Shelubum gave
him the entire castle of Diitsi Tel for a separate monastery. Brought up by the
disciples of his predecessor and also by the lamas of Namgyal Tse, he became a
renowned teacher throughout East Tibet, and was widely known for his ability to
continue for a long period in meditation without any bodily movement. Because
of his reputation, Diitsi Tel, though a smaller monastery and with fewer monks
than Namgyal Tse, was considered to be the more important.

However, Trungpa Kiinga Namgyal wished to devote his life to meditation,
and for six years he remained as a hermit in a cave about a mile from Diitsi Tel;
then, having reached a high degree of spiritual insight he returned to his
monastery. After a year or two he felt that he must travel to give his teaching
outside. Asking his brother to take charge of Diitsi Tel, he left without any
attendant and only a white yak to carry his books and baggage. It was a hornless
breed of yak used for riding and easy to control by a single man by means of a



ring in its nose. Trungpa Kiinga Namgyal made a tour of the holy places,
traditionally 108 in number; these included caves where renowned gurus had
meditated, ruined cities where one could contemplate the impermanence of life,
and past battlefields and graveyards.

Toward the end of his life he no longer needed to travel, for after he returned
to his monastery disciples flocked to him, and he became the teacher of the
whole Karma Kagyii school. He then wrote some sixteen treatises on various
spiritual themes and founded further monasteries.

Following in such footsteps, the fifth Trungpa Tulku was generally recognized
as an important abbot. He was honored by the Chinese emperor early in the
seventeenth century and received the official rank of hutukhtu, the Mongolian
equivalent for a great teacher, with its particular seals, hat, and robe; the charter
conferring the title was written on yellow silk. He became the supreme abbot of
all the Surmang monasteries and his authority also extended over the whole
province.

At that time Diitsi Tel was extremely flourishing: The third Tulku Chetsang
Rinpoche, himself a great artist, had superintended most of the decoration and
had painted many of the thangkas (pictorial scrolls mounted on silk). The walls
of the assembly hall were frescoed from floor to ceiling in red and gold with
scenes from the life of Gautama Buddha, and above them were depicted one
thousand buddhas of the past, present, and future, of whom Gautama was the
fourth, while Maitreya will be the fifth to guide us toward enlightenment.

Unfortunately the unusual beauty and wealth of Surmang was a cause of
jealousy and the monasteries were attacked (in 1643) by the fanatical followers
of Gusri Khan, a Mongol chief whose personal devotion to the then Dalai Lama
and to the Geluk order of monks of which he is the head expressed itself in the
incongruous form of destroying houses belonging to earlier monastic
foundations; such exhibitions of sectarian bigotry have been rare in Buddhist
history. This time the seventh Trungpa Tulku was captured, together with the
artist the fifth Tulku Chetsang and the abbot of Namgyal Tse, who was a noted
philosopher. Though cast into prison, each continued doing the things he
considered to be of most importance: Trungpa meditated and recited on his
rosary the mantra oM MANI PADME HUM one hundred million times; Tulku
Chetsang painted thangkas; and the abbot revised his doctrinal treatises.

During their incarceration there was a prolonged drought in Tibet; many
prayers were offered up but no rain fell. Finally, Trungpa Tulku was approached
in prison. He handed the messenger the rosary he had used for the hundred
million recitations and told him to dip it in a certain spring. When this was done
a cloud rose from the spring and came down in rain over all the country. After



this the three prisoners were released; Tulku Chetsang needed three mules to
transport the thangkas he had completed.

The eighth Trungpa Tulku formed a very close friendship with Gyalwa
Karmapa, the supreme abbot of the order, with its two centers of Tsurphu in
Central Tibet and Karma Monastery in East Tibet. The latter was noted for its
superb architecture and the artistry of its interior, as I saw for myself when I
visited it in 1953. The center of the Gardri school of artists was at Karma Geru
near the monastery, and the eighth Trungpa Tulku was one of its leading
exponents; he himself painted many thangkas for Surmang and specialized in
illuminated manuscripts. He was also the founder of its great libraries.



THREE

Diitsi Tel and Namgyal Tse

PERHAPS A BRIEF DESCRIPTION of the whole monastic domain over which I had to
preside will help to illustrate the background of my life.

When Adro Shelubum gave his two castles to Surmang, his gifts included
many acres of land, so that the property extended some fifty miles in each
direction. It lay at a high altitude on the border between the cultivated land and
that inhabited by highlanders. The chief commercial products of the district were
salt and timber from the excellent firs which grew near the Tzi-chu and the Ke-
chu rivers to the south of Surmang. Barley and a little wheat were the only grain
crops, vegetables being limited to spinach, turnips, and a small kind of leek;
besides, there was good pasturage for domestic animals such as yaks and sheep,
for the slopes of the mountains were covered with short grass. Willows grew by
the streams on the lower ground and in drier places another type of short willow
was to be found. Higher up, tamarisk shrubs were plentiful, and above these
scented junipers grew. In the short summer months the whole place was ablaze
with wild flowers.

Adro Shelubum’s castle on the Hill of Amrita had been protected by a
separate fort; both buildings were incorporated into the monastery of Diitsi Tel.
The fort was a large building and was used for many purposes. Both the
assembly hall and the main library were situated there: Some of its rooms served
for storing food, others, as a treasure-house for the monastery’s valuables. The
supreme abbot’s residence was also above the assembly hall. In my time Diitsi
Tel had some 300 monks; of these 170 were bhikshus (fully ordained monks),
the remainder being shramaneras (novices) and young upasaka students who had
already taken the vow of celibacy. Their quarters in two-and three-storied
buildings stretched down the slope of the mountain to the river. Another large
assembly hall was built on the lower ground; it was divided in two, the small
part being for younger monks between the ages of eight and fourteen, while the
main part was for the communal use of the whole monastery. A throne for the
geko, a senior monk in charge of discipline, stood in a prominent position at the
entrance from where he could keep an eye on everyone. The monks used to sit
cross-legged on low benches covered with rugs and cushions, with their tables in
front of them; their rows faced the central aisle leading to the abbot’s throne on



its high dais, while his two chief attendants sat close by on each side of the steps.
At this end of the hall there were three more thrones; one on the right was for his
deputy should the abbot himself be prevented from officiating. Of the other two,
the one was for a senior monk in charge of the timetable for the assemblies and
the other for the precentor monk who conducted the music and led the chanting.
Behind the thrones dominating the hall were three large images depicting the
past, present, and future buddhas; these were some twelve feet high, gold plated
with an aquamarine glittering on their foreheads to indicate the “third eye” of
universal knowledge; each was seated on a throne decorated with precious and
semiprecious stones. A second assembly hall built higher up the slope was used
for philosophical and other advanced studies and particularly for the “summer
retreats” (varshka).

Diitsi Tel Monastery.

Diitsi Tel again suffered much damage when it was attacked in a political
border dispute during the lifetime of the tenth Trungpa Tulku; the old wall
frescoes were in fact all destroyed. They were eventually replaced with the help
of eminent artists of the Gardri school from Karma Geru, who were employed to
cover the walls as before with pictures of scenes from the life of Gautama
Buddha and also with various buddhamandalas, that is to say groupings of
celestial figures representing different aspects of enlightenment. Banners hung
from the balconies and hundreds of butter lamps gave light to these lovely halls.
The pillars and spreading capitals were lacquered a vermillion red on which
designs had been painted in different colors. Several thousands of the ancient
thangkas had fortunately been saved when the monastery was attacked; many of
these were the work of Chetsang Rinpoche while in prison with the fifth Trungpa
Tulku, others had been painted by the eighth Trungpa, whose illuminated
manuscripts were kept in the fort library.



One old house, built by the fifth Trungpa Tulku on the mountain slope was
kept for the very severe retreat which every monk had to observe for the period
of one year twice in his lifetime. It was called the gonkhang (house of the
guardian divinities).

The kitchen and food stores were in the east wing of the main assembly hall,
and cooking was done on a huge stove made of stone and clay into which the
fuel, consisting of dried yak dung and wood, could be shovelled through holes at
its sides. The stove was so large that a cooking pot some nine feet in diameter,
made of an alloy of copper and iron, fitted over the first opening, and there were
other lesser openings. The large pot was used for making both tea and soup; the
former was made by boiling some brick tea in water, after which the liquid was
poured into pipe-shaped barrels and churned up with salt and butter using a long-
handled pestle. When ready to serve the tea was poured into a number of
wooden pails with metal decorations and carried round to the monks who could
ladle it into their own bowls and if they liked, mix it with roasted barley
(tsampa). A big tank of water drawn from the nearby river was always kept in
the kitchen.

The extensive storerooms above the kitchen were divided into sections for
such treasures as thangkas, shrine objects, banners, costumes for religious
dances, etc., indeed all the things required for performing various traditional
rites: The gekd was responsible for this department and both his and his
subordinates’ rooms were in the same wing. The sanitation of the monastery was
by large cesspits, the contents of which were periodically cleaned out and used
to manure the fields; scrupulous cleanliness was observed everywhere. Such was
Diitsi Tel when I, the eleventh Trungpa Tulku, was enthroned supreme abbot of
Surmang.

Namgyal Tse lay some forty-five miles or three days’ journey from Diitsi Tel and
was the larger monastery of the two. Adro Shelubum’s castle and its fort stood
by themselves on a small hill about a mile and a half from the village; the river,
fed from the surrounding mountains, flowed past its base. Trung Mase built a
small house for his own use at the bottom of the hill. The monastery soon
became overcrowded, and after Trung Mase’s death, a building was begun on the
mountain to the northeast, where there was already a cave which was used as a
meditation shrine. The new building was subsequently kept for spiritual retreats.
Garwang Rinpoche, the following abbot, and his successors did not use the small
house, but chose part of the fort for their residence, and rooms were later
reserved there for the supreme abbot.



Clockwise from top: Amitayur, Buddha of Limitless Life; Vijaya (the Victorious One); and Tara (the Savior).
DRAWN BY SHERAB PALDEN BERU.

So many monks joined Namgyal Tse that three different sections were formed
for specific work and teaching. In the lifetime of the fifth Trungpa Tulku a very
large assembly hall was built on the lower ground below the hill. This belonged
to the whole monastic community; it had very original embroidered hangings
festooning its walls, with pictures inset in the spaces. The hall was rather like
that of Karma Monastery, having a high chamber at its further end for the images
of the past, present, and future buddhas. These were made of clay and painted
gold, while about forty images of saints of the Kagyii line were placed at the
back of the hall.

A second assembly hall was built on a higher slope of the mountain for the
monks of the Dechen Tse tratsang (college); it held some 450 monks and was
intended particularly for those who were interested in the intellectual approach—
to start with, it had its own abbot. Another monastic building was erected on the
lower part of the slope; it became the Lingpa tratsang, and its 350 monks
specialized on the administrative side of Surmang. The Lama tratsang, with 300
inmates, stood in a field on the level ground; among other things, it dealt with
Namgyal Tse administration, but a wider responsibility fell on some of its senior
members, for they had to deal with matters in the district outside Surmang
proper. Each tratsang had its own hall, library, kitchen, and offices. The monks’
dwelling houses were disposed in tiers on the slopes of the mountain, from
Dechen Tse tratsang at the top down to the large assembly hall. Above it stood
the press building in which we printed our scriptures. The gonkhang stood near



by; Tulku Tendzin Rinpoche, who was an incarnation of one of the eight togdens
of Trung Mase’s time, had sculptured some wonderful images for it early in the
present century; these were made of clay and consecrated herbs, and depicted
symbolically the guardians of the teaching. The whole building had a
tremendous atmosphere of spiritual presence.

Later, in the lifetime of the tenth Trungpa Tulku, the abbots of Surmang built
the first seminary on the lower part of the slope.

When I was its supreme abbot, Namgyal Tse held 600 bhikshus, 300
shramaneras, and 100 novices; five incarnate lamas were included in this
company.



FOUR

My Childhood at Dititsi Tel

WHEN I was three years old, the heads of my mother’s village invited her to take
me to visit them. I can remember the journey very clearly. This was the first time
that I had ridden a horse; it was a white one and had belonged to the tenth
Trungpa Rinpoche, and when I was told that it had been his, I refused to change
it for any other mount: I was put in a little chair saddle. We passed high
mountains on the way, and one day we met a herd of about five hundred wild
asses (kyang) which trotted around us, and this fascinated me. My parents had
always loved their own part of the country and its wild animals, so it was a great
joy to my mother to get back to her home, and I too thoroughly enjoyed the
change.

During the months that we stayed in our family home, all our relations were
exceedingly kind; they brought me cream and all sorts of gifts. However, I was
never allowed to play with the children, but only to watch them at their games.
They found curiously shaped stones in a particular gully, and these made
wonderful toys; I longed to take some back to the monastery, but this too was
forbidden.

At the end of our visit, my mother took me back to Diitsi Tel, though my
father remained behind; no one told me why and I was very puzzled; then one
day, a monk told me that he was not my father but my stepfather, and this
comforted me a lot.

All these years I had a very happy time; my mother was with me and I was not
expected to do any lessons; sometimes, I was even allowed to play with other
children, the sons of the relatives of respected monks.

One day I saw a man, probably a Muslim, being thrashed; he had killed a wild
animal on the monastery’s protected ground. His hands had been tied behind his
back, and the monk was accusing him of all sorts of crimes while he belabored
him with a heavy stick. I felt great pity and asked another monk about it; he
replied that this was the way to uphold the law. I said, “Shall I have to do this
when I am grown up and have charge of the monastery?” His answer to this was,
“You will be able to do as you like.” “Well,” I said, “I will never use punishment
like that.”



The tenth Trungpa Tulku’s rooms in the fort at Diitsi Tel had been extremely
simple and austere; their only decoration were the thangkas hung on the silk-
covered walls. However, after his death my secretary and bursar wanted to
change things. They employed some sixteen artists and woodcarvers of the
Gardri school to redesign my residence. While this was being done, I had great
fun watching the work, especially the artists painting, and the son of one of them
and I used to steal their paints and make pictures ourselves, to our own great
delight: I have loved painting ever since.

When the work was finished, there were cupboards all around the walls; their
doors were beautifully painted with ornamental designs of flowers, birds, etc.,
and the general coloring was gold on a red background. The tops of the
cupboards formed a shelf for the many gifts of bowls and offerings which were
brought to me. Behind it there were recesses framed in deeply carved and
lacquered wood to hold old and valuable images of buddhas, bodhisattvas, and
eminent spiritual masters. Above these was a second row of niches to house
images of smaller size. The walls joined the ceiling with a deep gold painted,
carved cornice. The wooden ceiling was colored. The furniture consisted of
several long settees with deep piled up mattresses which, in our country, take the
place of chairs. My bed was like a long box filled with cushions, so made that in
the daytime I could sit on it and work at a long table beside it. One side of the
room, over the cupboards, was exclusively used for my books; these scriptures
were written or printed on separate oblong pages held together between two
boards and tied up with a ribbon; at one end the title of the book was written on a
white brocade flap, and the books were arranged so that the title faced outward.

My bedroom served both for sleeping and for private study and meditation; it
opened into a sitting room where meals were served and formal visits received.
My raised throne was beside the door and a row of seats ran lengthwise down
each side of the room; those nearest the throne had thick cushions for the more
important guests but their size gradually diminished until the end of the rows,
when they became merely rugs on the floor.

Since I was now five years old, it was decided that it was time for me to begin
my studies. It was a great shock to hear that a special teacher was coming to
Diitsi Tel to give me lessons. One of the monks told me that he had a scar on his
forehead, and I anxiously watched everyone who came for fear that it might be
he. One day Asang Lama arrived; though I saw that he had a scar, I said to
myself, “This can’t be my new teacher,” for I had expected him to be a very
severe monk, but this man looked so gentle. He held his rosary in his hand and
was smiling and talking to my senior secretary.



We began our lessons on the following day in my residence above the
assembly hall. It happened to be the first day of winter and snow was falling.
Always before, when the monks came to sweep the snow off the flat roof, we
children would play among them, throwing snowballs at each other; on that day I
could hear my little friends shouting at their play outside, while I had to remain
indoors to do lessons. Asang Lama was very kind; he gave me a clay panel made
in relief depicting Amitabha, the Buddha of Infinite Light, which delighted me,
and he told me how glad he was to be able to be my teacher, for he had been a
devotee of the tenth Trungpa Tulku. He began with teaching me the Tibetan
alphabet and was surprised that I picked it up in one lesson. I also had to learn to
recite a mantra or formula of Manjushri, the Bodhisattva of Wisdom. We went
on with both reading and writing lessons; this was unusual, for in Tibet reading
is usually taught first and writing comes afterward.

At this time my mother’s visits became less frequent; to begin with she only
came to see me every other day, then every third, after which her visits became
more and more spaced out, until after a fortnight without seeing her, she came to
tell me that she was going back to Dekyil; I missed her as only a small boy can.

The life at Diitsi Tel was found to be too full of distractions, so it was arranged
to send me to Dorje Khyung Dzong, the retreat center established by the tenth
Trungpa Tulku. It was in a remote spot and had been built over the cave where
the fourth Trungpa had spent six years in meditation. The center stood on a ledge
of high rock and was approached by a long zigzag flight of steps. The front of
the building was supported by pillars grounded in the rock below; its windows
looked over a wonderful spread of mountains with the river winding through the
valley, and at one place one could see the junction of two valleys; the smoke of
Diitsi Tel could also be seen in the distance. There was a large cave under the
one in which the fourth Trungpa used to meditate; it was sufficiently big to be
used as a byre for over seventy cattle which supplied the needs of the center;
these animals were cared for by the cook’s family, who had their house in the
cave.



Dorje Khyung Dzong, the retreat center of Diitsi Tel.

About thirty monks were at the center; they stayed there for a period of four
years to meditate in complete retreat, being neither allowed to pay visits nor to
receive them. Their meditation method was based on the teaching of the great
Indian adept Naropa which Trung Mase laid down for the Kagyii school. An
experienced teacher gave the retreatants guidance. Though the thirty monks were
expected to stay for four years, there was some accommodation for others
intending to spend only three to four months in the place; they had to conform to
the same rules of discipline as those in long retreat.

My own timetable was as follows: I rose with my tutor at five for the first
morning devotions, then we were given breakfast, after which my reading lesson
went on till midday; this was followed by a meal and half an hour’s rest. Then I
was given a writing lesson for half an hour, and again reading until the evening.

There is not much variety in the staple foodstuffs of Tibet, but much ingenuity
was used in the different ways of cooking; vegetables were scarce and in this
cold climate really nourishing food such as meat and milk products was a
necessity. Our breakfast consisted of especially made strong tea mixed with
butter and salt and dry powdered tsampa with cheese and butter rubbed into it.
At midmorning we were given bowls of thick soup made with meat, thickened
with barley, rice, oats, noodles, or sometimes with vegetables. The big midday
meal had tsampa dough with large portions of fried or boiled meat; sometimes it
was just dried, and for a change we had dumplings filled with meat. An
afternoon collation was served with curd (like yogurt) and Tibetan biscuits, and
at all times there was tea to drink. The last evening refreshment consisted of



bowls of soup. On special afternoons we went for walks and then, in the
evening, we practiced chanting. I loved going out with Asang Lama; he used to
tell me stories about the life of the Buddha and at other times about the tenth
Trungpa Tulku. I was fascinated also to find so many wildflowers on the hills as
well as sweet-scented juniper bushes. There were all sorts of birds and animals,
and the blackbirds especially were so tame that their songs could be heard all
round the center and they would come for food to the windowsills. Occasionally
some of the retreatants, and particularly my tutor’s friends, would come to our
room to talk; I enjoyed this, for it gave me a little break from my lessons, while
in the summer a group picnic was also sometimes arranged, very welcome after
so much hard work.

This life continued until I was seven, when I was taken back to Diitsi Tel
where all our monks were assembled, as the venerable Genchung L.ama had been
invited to give a kalung (ritual authorization) for all the scriptures forming the
Kangyur; these are the sayings of the Buddha, translated from Sanskrit and
filling 108 volumes. This kalung gives authority to study, practice, and explain
their meaning and confers upon those who attend the rite the blessing of their
truth. Though Genchung Lama managed to read some three volumes each day, it
took him three months to complete the whole, during which time my lessons
were interrupted. It was all a great experience for me, since this was the first
time that I had been at a gathering which lasted for so long. Throughout that time
my tutor gave me lessons in the evenings by the light of butter lamps, for though
I could work at my writing during the ritual recitation, I could not do any
reading.

At this stage the regent abbots of both monasteries and my secretary were not
satisfied with my tutor. They thought he was a little too indulgent and spent too
much time telling me stories, to the neglect of more serious studies. He was
indeed almost a father to me, and we knew that if we parted we should both miss
each other a great deal; however, he was overtired and needed a rest. At the end
of the ritual reading another teacher was found, and Asang Lama had to leave
me. I found this parting almost harder to bear than when my mother went away.

My new tutor, Apho Karma by name, had previously taught the younger
monks at the monastery, so he had had a great deal of experience, but he was
more temperamental than Asang Lama. I felt unhappy in never knowing what
was expected of me. My timetable was changed, and the studies now became
more difficult; the painting lessons, which Asang Lama had encouraged, were
stopped, and writing lessons were made shorter; more time was given to reading
and much more memorizing had to be done in the evenings by lamplight, with
the lesson having to be repeated correctly the following morning.



We returned to Dorje Khyung Dzong, but the retreatants who came to talk to
Apho Karma were very different from Asang Lama’s friends, and we no longer
had our little jokes. There were, however, longer periods for walks and frequent
picnics, but my tutor was always very serious and solemn, though he too
occasionally told me stories. He was not interested in animals and flowers, and I
had neither playmates nor playthings. I discovered, however, that the fireworks
for the New Year celebrations were filled with gunpowder, my informant being
one of the younger monks who used to clean our rooms. I persuaded him to get
some of the gunpowder for me, and I concocted some sort of rockets with rolled
paper and managed not to be discovered. These were so successful that I wanted
to make a better firework that would go off with a bang. I was in my room
working at this, when Apho Karma came in and smelled the gunpowder. He did
not punish me at the time, but he never ceased to remind me of how naughty I
had been.

I never received corporal punishment after Asang Lama left when I was seven
years old. When he had thought that it was necessary to admonish me, it was
always done with great ceremony. After a foreword such as “It is like molding an
image; it has to be hammered into shape,” he would prostrate himself three times
before me, and then administer the chastisement on the appropriate part.

About this time I had some strange dreams: though even in pictures I had
never seen the things that are made in the West, I dreamed I was riding in a
mechanized truck somewhat like a small lorry, and a few days later in another
dream I saw airplanes parked in a field. Also about that time, in my sleep, I was
walking through a shop which was full of boots, shoes, saddles, and straps with
buckles, but these were not like Tibetan ones and instead of being made of
leather they appeared to be of sticky dried blood. Later I realized that they were
all the shapes and kinds that are used in Western lands. I told Apho Karma about
these dreams and he merely said, “Oh, it’s just nonsense.”

When I was eight I had to learn how to perform various rites; how to intone; and
how to use drums, bells, and various other instruments. I had to improve my
reading, and I was taught the practice and history of Buddhism and about the life
of the Buddha. I could visualize him among his monks in their saffron robes, for
one day I had had a vivid moment of recollection. When I read about the death
of his mother, seven days after his birth, I seemed to share his feeling of loss. I
read the life of Milarepa many times over till I knew it by heart, and also the
lives of other great saints. Guru Padmasambhava’s story was my favorite, for I
loved to read about the way he brought Buddhism to Tibet, established the first
monasteries and taught the doctrine, and above all about his great loving-



kindness to all our people and the moving message he left with us when he was
returning to Lankapuri, an island southwest of Mount Meru. After giving the
Tibetans his blessing, he added: “The people may forget me, but I shall not
forget them; my eternal compassion is always with them.”

His Holiness Tenzin Gyatso, the fourteenth Dalai Lama.



Rikpe Dorje, the sixteenth Gyalwa Karmapa. Chégyam Trungpa at right.



Tsurphu Monastery.
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My tutor and the senior lamas found me very enthusiastic and interested in my
studies, always asking a lot of questions. They thought that it would be a good
time for me to learn the rules for a novice (shramanera), and I began my first
instruction in metaphysical doctrines, though at the time it was not known that I
was to be ordained.

According to Buddhist scriptures, a boy of eight can be ordained as a novice,
and when the news came that the renowned teacher Jamgon Kongtriil of Palpung
was going to Tsurphu Monastery to give his disciple the Gyalwa Karmapa some
further spiritual instruction, while at the same time visiting his mother at Lhasa,
Rolpa Dorje and my secretary decided to ask him to ordain me, since his route
would take him near Surmang. Jamgén Kongtriil accepted the suggestion,
saying, “Thus I can serve and offer help to the incarnation of my own teacher.”

He was warmly welcomed at Diitsi Tel. I remember him as a small man, neat
and precise in all he did, with a dry sense of humor. This was the first time that
he had visited Surmang since the death of the tenth Trungpa Tulku, and he told



me a great deal about him; when he saw things that had belonged to his beloved
guru he was much moved, and because I was his incarnation, he was particularly
friendly to me.

My ordination took place at the full moon. Four bhikshus had to take part in
the rite; one was Rélpa Dorje Rinpoche and the three others were senior lamas. I
had to make profession of the monastic rules for a shramanera of the
Sarvastivadin order, to which most northern Buddhists—that is to say, Tibetans,
Chinese, and Japanese—belong; whereas southern Buddhists of Ceylon, Burma,
and Thailand belong to the Theravada order. After the ceremony, Jamgon
Kongtriil preached me a sermon; he said, “From today you enter the community
of the sangha,” after which he explained to me the meaning of the life of my
predecessor and how he had always kept the rule. He said that my ordination
was a very important step in my life, and added that I was the youngest novice
that he had ever ordained. After giving me some further teaching and advice, he
continued his journey.

I was now much less afraid of Apho Karma, who had become more
understanding, and I looked forward to our walks together.

At eight years old a child is very sensitive, and it is the time to inculcate ideas
which must last him his lifetime, so at the end of this year I went into retreat for
a simple form of meditation. This was upon the nyendrup of Manjushri, the
Bodhisattva of Wisdom: that is to say, I was instructed to visualize him with his
various symbolic attributes and to contemplate his transcendental wisdom, to
repeat his mantras or sonorous embodiments, and to recite the verses which
preceded and followed them. I took a vow that I would live in solitude for three
months away from all contacts other than my tutor and my cook attendant; no
one might come to see me. My diet was strictly vegetarian, and I was not
allowed to go outside the retreat center. This continued until the New Year.

As my story unfolds it will be seen how the whole line of the teaching was
carried to me directly from guru to disciple. The great Jamgon Kongtriil taught
the tenth Trungpa Tulku, who in turn became the guru of his own incarnations
Jamgon Kongtriil of Palpung and Jamgén Kongtriil of Sechen. The latter, as my
spiritual father, was my instructor in meditation, and Jamgoén Kongtriil of
Palpung was my ordainer and also gave me a great deal of teaching. Though the
great Jamgon Kongtriil did in fact have five incarnations, the other three do not
come into my story.

I was nine when Jamgon Kongtriil of Sechen was invited to Diitsi Tel to give a
wangkur (empowerment rite) on the teaching of the Treasury of Spiritual
Instructions (Dam Ngag Dzd). This was contained in thirteen volumes, and was
a selection of the sacred writings of renowned gurus of all the various Tibetan



schools which had been collected by his predecessor.

So many monks from outside monasteries kept coming that Jamgén Kongtriil
found Diitsi Tel too crowded and disturbing, and it was decided to move to Dorje
Khyung Dzong. The rites began on the day of the full moon; first with offerings
at the shrine, followed by chanting and ending with a communal meal. However,
since Jamgon Kongtriil was so renowned as a meditation teacher, hundreds of
people came to hear him as well as to receive his blessing, and in some cases to
put their private troubles before him. They established themselves in the open
and in nearby caves, and soon the conditions became as involved and difficult as
they had been at Diitsi Tel. Jamgén Kongtriill could get no rest and in
consequence fell ill. He was forced to move to a small house a short distance
from the retreat center, and Rolpa Dorje took over the work while he was resting.
Later, when his health improved, he only undertook to give individual
meditation teaching; I remained one of his pupils.

When I first saw him, I was enormously impressed; he was so different from
any other teacher that I had met. He was a big jolly man, friendly to all without
distinction of rank, very generous and with a great source of humor combined
with deep understanding; he was always sympathetic to the troubles of others.
Though he was not well at the time, to be near him was to experience
unbelievable peace and joyousness. He used to say that now that we had met
again he was my teacher as, the time before, my predecessor had been his. He so
clearly remembered all that the tenth Trungpa Tulku had taught him, and all his
kindness to him from his earliest childhood. He said how happy he was to give
back to me that which he had received from his own guru, or as they say in Tibet
“to return the owner’s possessions.”

I found later that every word he spoke had significance. I went to him every
morning, and one day he told me that he saw me as a grownup man looking like
my last incarnation.

He would say, “Nowadays people are changing and all the world is in
darkness and surrounded by suffering. My generation has been fortunate in
living in a country which has been so happy; I hope suffering will not come to
you. You must indeed come to Sechen to receive the full cup of spiritual milk
(pumpa gangjé oma); young people like you are our hope for the future; you are
like a flower in bud which must be properly looked after so that it may bloom
both in our monasteries and in the homes of our people. You are very sensitive,
and all of us must help you; I in particular have the privilege of cultivating you
with the spiritual water of teaching and practice.”

One morning he sent for me; as I entered the room the first rays of the sun fell
upon me, and he remarked that this was a very significant sign. After this, the



teaching he gave me was so profound that I felt he was giving me back the
spirituality he himself had received from the tenth Trungpa Rinpoche. He was
overjoyed when he realized that I could absorb his teaching without any barrier
between us. He told me that from now on I must continue to meditate, but must
keep things to myself and not speak about them to other people. A little later he
explained that since I was still a child and would not be able to sustain
concentration for a long period, I must appoint a special time for meditation and
keep to it regularly. He emphasized that I must come to receive various teachings
from him and particularly instruction in devotion, compassion, and the way of
behavior in everyday life. He also said that without knowing the other side of the
mountain one could not risk taking to a mountain pass. I should have knowledge
of both absolute and relative truths, and should realize why it is necessary for
one to know more about suffering and impermanence before renouncing the
world; he added that there was great meaning when the Lord Buddha turned the
wheel of the doctrine, showing the three stages of the path.

Soon after this Jamgén Kongtriil Rinpoche said he wished to leave; he
explained that though he was sorry that he could not continue the wangkur, his
purpose for being at Surmang had been fulfilled. All, and I in particular, were
very sad that he could not remain with us; his visit had meant so much. He was
always so full of the joy of living and was a delightful storyteller, telling tales of
different gurus and lamas, but his jokes always could be interpreted as having a
second and deeper meaning, so that even while he entertained he taught. I well
remember one of the stories he told us.

“Once,” he said, “there was a great teacher called Paltriil Rinpoche. He did not
belong to any monastery, but traveled everywhere about the country, without any
attendants or baggage. One day he went to visit a certain hermit who had been
living alone in a hut for many years: In fact he had become quite famous and
many people came to see him there. Some came for advice and some to test how
advanced he was in spiritual knowledge. Paltriil Rinpoche entered the hut
unknown and unannounced.

“‘Where have you come from,’ said the hermit, ‘and where are you going?’

“‘I came from behind my back and am going in the direction I am facing.’

“The hermit was taken aback, but he asked, “Where were you born?’

“‘On earth’ was the reply.

“‘Which school do you follow?’

““The Buddha.’

“The hermit was now feeling rather put out, and seeing that his visitor was
wearing a white lambskin hat, he asked him, ‘If you are a monk, why are you
wearing that hat?’



“‘Now I see your sort,” said Paltriil Rinpoche. ‘Look here. If I wear a red hat,
the Gelukpas will be looking down their noses, and if I wear a yellow one, the
others will be at me. So I have a white one; it saves trouble.” He was referring
jocularly to the fact that the Geluk order of monks wear a yellow hat and all the
remaining orders a red one. This was a little joke about intermonastic rivalries!

“The hermit did not understand what he was saying, so Paltriil Rinpoche
began asking him why on earth he had come to live in such a remote and wild
part of the country. He knew the answer to that one, and explained that he had
been there for twenty years meditating. ‘At the moment,” he said, ‘I am
meditating on the perfection of patience.’

“‘That’s a good one,” said his visitor, and leaned forward as if confiding
something to him. ‘A couple of frauds like us could never manage anything like
that.’

“The hermit rose from his seat—*‘You’re the liar,” he said. “What made you
come here? Why couldn’t you leave a poor hermit like me to practice meditation
in peace?’

““And now,’ said Paltriil Rinpoche, ‘where is your perfection of patience?’”

When Jamgén Kongtriil Rinpoche left us we all felt that something very
lovely was missing; he had given the whole place such a wonderful atmosphere.
We continued to receive the teaching of the Treasury of Spiritual Instructions
under Rélpa Dorje Rinpoche, and when it was finished I went back to my
lessons with Apho Karma.

In Tibet, the greatest respect has always been felt for spiritually endowed
lamas, who act as priests or teachers without being monks. Such people would
have promised to keep to the upasaka discipline and practice the fundamental
rules of virtue as well as to observe the bodhisattva’s vow of compassion with
the aim of leading all sentient beings to enlightenment; finally, they would
undertake to obey the sacred word of the vajrayana by dedicating themselves to
the supreme knowledge.

Dilgo Khyentse Rinpoche was one of these married lamas, a man advanced in
spiritual knowledge. He had been an important disciple of the tenth Trungpa
Tulku and was a reincarnation of a famous author and teacher called Khyentse
Rinpoche, who was born in 1817. Because of his profound learning, the monks
of Diitsi Tel invited him to give the wangkur (initiation) of Tzokchen Diipa on
anuyana which contains advanced vajrayana teaching. The empowerment rite
lasted for a month and when it was over, Dilgo Khyentse undertook to give me
special instruction. I felt drawn to him as if he had been my father; and thus I
often addressed him without any shyness or doubt. He welcomed me as the
incarnation of his own guru, and since I was still only a child of ten he brought



me toys and sweets. He was very tall and dignified and never seemed in a hurry.
Whatever he did was perfection of its kind, even the way he walked into the hall
showed this quality; all he said was expressed to perfection, in fact, he surpassed
anyone I had ever met; his writings were equally remarkable, and added to this
he was a poet and had a gift for telling delightful stories.

All the previous year I had had a great deal to do, meeting lamas from other
monasteries and taking part in many rites, so my lessons had been rather
neglected, though my general knowledge and understanding had increased.
Dilgo Khyentse gave me private teaching on atiyana (ati means “the ultimate”)
and handed on to me much that he himself had received from the tenth Trungpa
Tulku and from gurus of other schools. He left after several months, which was
so great a sorrow and shock to me that for a few days I could neither study nor
eat. I felt this parting more severely than when my early tutor Asang Lama had
had to leave me, and to fill the blank I set to work harder than before.

Soon after this, Apho Karma took me back to the retreat center of Dorje
Khyung Dzong, as he had decided that it was now time to change my subjects of
study. He wished me to give short sermons to the monks and laymen there;
among them was the king of Lhathok’s son whose father had been instrumental
in procuring the tenth Trungpa Tulku’s release from his imprisonment during
some local troubles.

By the year 1949 conditions in East Tibet were becoming increasingly
confused. In China there had been fighting between the Nationalists and
Communists resulting in the victory of the latter. However, news travels slowly
in Tibet and the Tibetans in Nyishutsa-nga province, who supported the
Nationalists, were still on their way to help their allies, taking with them about a
thousand horses and much food, wool, cloth, and skins. When they reached
Siling they found the Communists in possession and were forced to hand
everything over to them. The Communists took this opportunity to make large-
scale propaganda; they filmed the Tibetans in the act of handing over these
things as if this was a voluntary gift; a large banquet was arranged which was
also filmed in such a way as to show the friendly feeling existing between
Communists and Tibetans.

Three months later we heard that three Communist officials had arrived in
Jyekundo the principal trading center of our province. They had been put in
charge of the town as well as the whole district of Nyishutsa-nga, which includes
Surmang. Since they were unarmed and did not interfere much at the start, both
parties remained seemingly on friendly terms, though the Tibetans were still
distrustful. Two months later the senior Communist official started to offer
suggestions. He would say, “The offerings at your shrines are a waste of food;



you should eat more plentifully and spend what you have, rather than hoard. In
future you will not have such freedom. You must realize this.”

It was later discovered that this man was actually in the Nationalist secret
service, as was his brother in China, but when he heard that the latter had been
caught, he himself escaped to India.

About this time, my mother left her husband at Dekyil and came to live near
Diitsi Tel. She helped a sister of the tenth Trungpa Rinpoche with the dairy
work; she could not come inside the monastery but I was able to go out to see
her, and she brought me milk, cream, and curds about once a fortnight. A year or
so later her husband died and she never went back to her village.

Since I was now eleven years old I had to spend my time on more advanced
work. I was called back to Diitsi Tel to take the bodhisattva vow although I had
already taken it informally at the time of the wangkur. The vow is as follows:

In the presence of all the buddhas and bodhisattvas and of my teacher
Roélpa Dorje, I vow to proceed toward enlightenment. I accept all
creatures as my father and mother with infinite compassion.
Henceforth for their benefit I will practice the transcendental virtues
(paramitas) of liberality, discipline, patience, diligence, meditative
concentration, wisdom (prajna), skillful means (upaya), spiritual
power, aspiration, gnosis (jnana). Let my master accept me as a future
buddha, but as remaining a boddhisattva without entering nirvana so
long as a single blade of grass remains unenlightened.

Instead of returning to Dorje Khyung Dzong, Apho Karma took me to Dechen
Choling, Rélpa Dorje’s retreat center, for I was now to study directly under him.
His appearance was unusual, for he was quite bald with a trimly pointed beard.
He was very strict on keeping all rules and insisted about the need for scholastic
accuracy; at rites he officiated with the greatest competence, and he had
exceptional knowledge about the art of chanting. But with all this strictness, he
was very gentle and understanding and always seemed to be happy in his retreat
surrounded by bird and animal life; much of his time he spent in writing.

The center for retreats stood on the slope of a mountain looking over the
valley below and the mountains beyond it. Willows and scented juniper were
dotted about the grass-covered hillside. The retreat was at a high altitude, and
nearly every morning the mists would wreath the slopes, obscuring the valley
below; Tulku Rélpa Dorje sometimes called it the Garden of the Mists. I very
much enjoyed this change, and so did Apho Karma, who had himself studied



under the regent abbot.

Rolpa Dorje lived by himself in a beautiful cave with the front walled in to
form a cell; he had painted the inside a soft orange color, and had stuck small
pictures cut out of books or small woodprints on some of the surfaces, and had
hewed cupboards in the walls; at one side there was a shrine of sculptured stone.
Among his ornaments was a collection of small religious pieces which he would
allow me to play with. The cave was complete with its own little kitchen, for
Rolpa Dorje preferred to look after himself. Stone steps led steeply down from
the cave to the retreat center which was some way down.

Usually, only four monks lived in the center for their four-year period of
retreat, but there were houses nearby from which some fifteen other monks
could attend the course, while at the back of the mountain, in another small
valley, a nunnery had been established, mainly used as a retreat center for some
forty nuns, but also serving a number of lay disciples.

: s * *

At Dechen Chéling Apho Karma put me to more advanced general studies and
also gave me some lessons in the art of poetry; Rolpa Dorje took over my
instruction in primary Buddhist metaphysics. He thought that I should now begin
ngondro (the “prelude”), as an introduction for further understanding of
vajrayana. This preparation for spiritual development includes:

100,000 full prostrations

100,000 recitations of the triple refuge

100,000 recitations of the Vajrasattva mantra

100,000 symbolic offerings

Finally 100,000 recitations of the mantra of guru yoga, or “Union with the
Teacher”

i whE

At the same time five subjects must be contemplated:

The rare privilege given to one to receive spiritual teaching in this life
The impermanence attaching to life and to everything else

The cause and effect of karma

The understanding of suffering

The necessity for devotion

i whE

I was deeply affected by all this; living in this place, studying these teachings,



and constantly meditating, I began to develop greater depths of understanding, as
a preparation for the way of life that lay ahead of me.

One day while I was engrossed in this teaching, and actually in the act of
meditation and prostration, my secretary Chandz6 Kargyen suddenly appeared to
tell us that Chinese troops were approaching our monastery. We had heard
months before that there was a number of troops in Jyekundo, though until now
they had not been seen beyond the town. Chandzd Kargyen had had a message
that they were in occupation at Namgyal Tse, but owing to its being three days’
journey from Diitsi Tel, this news had not been confirmed, nor did he know if the
monastery was still standing or not; he had come at once to warn us. This sudden
movement of troops might mean that the Chinese were about to use force in
order to occupy the whole of Tibet. Since we were already under Chinese
control, this new move seemed suspicious; could it mean that they intended to
destroy all the monasteries and towns and to capture the important people in
every district? We held a consultation; a second messenger arrived to tell us that
on the route the Communists had followed no villages or monasteries had been
disturbed as the army had only marched through. He brought with him a large
poster which the Communists were distributing all over the district. Under the
signature of the commander-in-chief, it said that the Red Army was coming to
help the Tibetans; they would do no damage and would respect the feudal system
and the religion of the people.

We decided that though the Communists were apparently not intending to
harm us, it would be wise to safeguard the treasures of our monastery by storing
them in a more secure place. If it became necessary we could escape ourselves,
for transport was ready at hand; after this, my secretary went back to Diitsi Tel.
For a couple of days all seemed quiet; only the herdsmen had seen the Chinese
troops as a string of lights silently passing the village in single file in the
darkness. In the morning when Apho Karma went out to collect firewood, he
could see the campfires all around in the valley. He waited until I had finished
my meditation and was having breakfast and then told me what he had seen;
when the sun came out we could distinguish the glint on the soldiers’ packs as
the long file went farther afield. Any visitors who came to see us told us how the
Chinese had always paid for anything that they had requisitioned, and that the
troops looked in very poor condition and seemed to be short of food, but also to
have plenty of silver money. They continued to pass through day after day on
their way to Chamdo, and though they met with some resistance from the troops
under a gallant officer called Muja Depon near Lathog, they brushed it aside.
Surmang had been asked to provide them with guides, but managed to evade
doing so. It was all very worrying.



FIVE

In the Steps of the Tenth Trungpa

EVER sINCE Jamgon Kongtriil of Sechen had visited Diitsi Tel when I was nine
years old, his presence had been foremost in my mind. He had planted a spiritual
seed; I wanted to go to him for extended teaching, and while I was at Rolpa
Dorje’s center I had felt more strongly than ever that the time had now come for
me to go to my guru.

At the end of the year I returned to Diitsi Tel with Apho Karma; the lamas
seemed satisfied with my studies and as I was nearly twelve, they encouraged
me to be more independent over deciding what I wanted to do. I spoke to Apho
Karma about my wish to go to Jamgén Kongtriil, for I knew that the monastic
committee was thinking that I should go on the traditional tour to meet people in
the district. However, he gave me no direction, and only said that the decision
for what I would do must come from myself.

I was invited to the retreat center of Dorje Khyung Dzong for the New Year. It
was a very quiet and spiritual atmosphere, but I felt a little disturbed thinking
about the decision I would so soon have to make. The venerable Karma Tendzin
was the superior (druppén) there; he had been a devoted disciple of my
predecessor and had known me for many years, as had most of the senior monks
at the center. I asked him to advise me, but he impressed upon me that I was now
old enough to think for myself. Just then, the venerable Togden Tsepten was on a
visit to the center, who had not only received teaching from the tenth Trungpa
Tulku, but had been his constant companion and server and was with him at his
death; so I put my problem before him, and his answer was to tell me in great
detail much of the life story of my predecessor.

TuE STORY OF THE TENTH TRUNGPA TULKU RINPOCHE

The tenth Trungpa Tulku had been given a very strict training from boyhood to
prepare him for the duties of supreme abbot of Surmang. At nineteen he attained
his majority, being considered ready to take full responsibility for the
government of the abbey although he would still be under guidance to some
extent. He realized that in order to develop his own spirituality, being thereby
enabled to lead others, he must have further training in meditation, which he saw



was more important than administering his monastery.

He felt a compelling urge to receive teaching from Jamgén Kongtriil
Rinpoche, for when he was quite young he had heard the name of this great guru
mentioned and had been suddenly stirred by a recollection that he had been in a
spiritual relationship with him in a former life. The monastic committee,
however, had other plans for him; they wanted him first to work for Surmang, it
being customary in Tibet that when an abbot reached manhood, he should tour
the district and give his blessing to the people; during such a tour he would be
invited to preach and to perform rites; he would receive many gifts, and the fame
and wealth of his monastery would be increased. Though the tenth Trungpa
neither liked nor approved of this procedure, he nevertheless felt obliged to
follow the wishes of his senior advisors, so he set off on the tour accompanied
by his bursar, while his secretary remained in charge of Diitsi Tel.

The tour was very successful and brought in many donations for Surmang.
This greatly encouraged the bursar, for since the death of the ninth incarnate
abbot twenty years had passed, during which the monastery had received very
few offerings; it needed material help. So Trungpa Tulku was persuaded to go on
another tour the next year; this should have lasted for three months, but about
halfway through he felt he could no longer delay going to see his guru.

From babyhood he had been told about Jamgén Kongtriil; how he had been
brought up by the abbot of Palpung Monastery as his spiritual son. As he grew
older he had wanted to obtain wider instruction and had traveled for many years,
visiting over one hundred gurus of all the schools of Buddhism to be found in
Tibet. On his return to Palpung visitors came from all parts of the country to
receive instruction from him, for which purpose he established a center near the
monastery where he himself composed over eighty volumes of scholarly and
spiritual precepts. Before the abbot of Palpung died, he appointed Jamgon
Kongtriil to be the spiritual leader of the line of the Karma Kagyii school.

At the time when Trungpa Tulku made the last-moment decision to go to his
guru, he and his monks were encamped beside a river and he knew if he could
but get away and cross it, then Palpung Monastery lay some ten days’ journey
further on. He made a plan and confided part of it to his special friend Yange: He
told him that he would give the monks a great treat, a picnic by the riverbank;
they were to have a plentiful supply of food and tea, and the customary
discipline of not talking after proscribed hours would be relaxed. That evening
Yange was to prepare a bag of roast barley flour (tsampa) and leave it with his
horse, which must be ready saddled, behind some nearby bushes. At this, Yange
was much alarmed, for he realized that he was planning to escape.

The monks thoroughly enjoyed the picnic, especially the relaxation of the rule



of silence, and they chatted on till the small hours of the morning, when
drowsiness overtook them. Seeing this, Trungpa Tulku stole away, mounted his
horse, and put it at the river which was in spate as the snow was thawing. He
was ready to drown rather than miss the opportunity of training under the guru
who meant so much to him. The horse managed to breast the current and on
reaching the farther side the abbot decided to continue on foot, since riding
implies a desire for power and for material possessions, so he tore off a piece of
his robe and tied it to his horse’s back, as the customary sign that it had been
ceremonially freed by a lama and must not be ill-treated by whoever caught it.
He then set the horse free and walked on. The horse recrossed the river and
returned to the camp, but the flapping of the piece of robe made it restive, and
approaching one of the tents it rubbed against it to get rid of this annoyance and
in doing so knocked down the tent. This awoke the sleepers who, seeing the
horse, thought it must have broken from its tether. However, when they saw it
was saddled and that the saddle was one used by their abbot, they were
extremely disturbed and went to Trungpa Tulku’s tent. It was empty, and some of
his clothes were arranged to look like a sleeping figure in the bed. Rushing out,
they woke up the entire camp. All the monks examined the horse and found that
it was wet; they also recognized the robe, and were forced to the conclusion that
their abbot had left them and crossed the river.

Since Trungpa Tulku was quite unused to walking, they thought that he would
soon be in difficulties and that they must look for him, so they split up in four
groups to search up and down both banks of the river. The group who were
going in the southerly direction on the further bank found a saddle rug which had
belonged to the abbot, but beyond this there were no more traces. As a matter of
fact, Trungpa Tulku had purposely dropped it there to mislead them.

Traveling northward, he was all but overwhelmed by a sense of utter
desolation; never before had he been all alone, having always been surrounded
by monks to attend and guard him. He walked fast until he was exhausted and
then lay down to sleep. The sound of the rushing river and of dogs barking in a
distant village seemed to him like a death knell; this was such a complete change
from his very ordered life.

He was now on the same road that he had taken with his party on their
outward journey; then he had talked and questioned many of the local people
about the general lie of the land and what track led to Palpung Monastery, and
now as soon as dawn broke he walked on and arrived early in the morning at the
house of a wealthy landowner whom he had visited on the way through. The
husband opened the door at his knock, but failed to recognize the visitor;
however, since he was in monk’s robes he invited him to come in. When his wife



appeared she gave a cry of surprise, for she immediately realized who it was, and
her surprise was all the greater at seeing him alone. Trungpa Tulku asked them to
shelter him and made them promise not to tell anyone of his whereabouts, since
the reason for his being there was a great spiritual need. They were very
frightened, but felt obliged to obey their abbot, so they gave him food and hid
him in a large store cupboard, where he remained all that day, and when some of
the searching monks came to the house to ask if he had been seen, the landowner
and his wife kept to their promise.

In the evening Trungpa Tulku said that he must move on. His hosts were
extremely upset that he should go on foot and unattended. They begged him to
tell them what had occurred and wanted to know if there had been any
misunderstanding between him and his bursar. They suggested, if this had been
the case, that perhaps they could arrange for the matter to be cleared up, for their
family was in a position to use its influence. Trungpa Rinpoche told them that he
did not wish this, and with the greatest reluctance they let him leave, knowing
that, as their abbot, it was his place to command and theirs to obey.

As he was making his way beside the river, he heard horses close behind him,
so he hid in some bushes on the bank and the riders passed by. They proved to be
the bursar with a mounted party; after a short interval he was able to resume his
walk and in the early morning reached another house where he was known. But
by now the bursar had alerted the whole neighborhood, so the family was
informed of the situation; nevertheless, they took him in and offered to look after
him, again hiding him in a store cupboard. As for the bursar, when he could find
no further footmarks, he told the monks to search every house in the district. He
was dissatisfied with the answers to his inquiries from the family with whom
Trungpa Tulku was sheltering and ordered the monks to look in every nook and
corner which they did; they found him in the cupboard where he was still hiding.
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Samye, the first monastic institution in Tibet.

The bursar embraced him with tears in his eyes and asked why he was causing
them so much anxiety. He replied that he had private reasons with which no one
might interfere. They argued all day, but the abbot gave no indication of his
plans, though he refused to return to Surmang. Whereupon the bursar sent back
for instructions from Namgyal Tse, and Diitsi Tel, from which, however, no
reply could be expected for ten days or so.

When the message was received at Surmang, a meeting was called of all the
heads of the monasteries and the representatives of the laity to discuss the
matter; all agreed that their abbot must be requested to return. On receiving this
reply the bursar endeavored to persuade Trungpa Tulku to follow the wishes of
his people, but from being a very gentle and docile man, he now seemed to have
become very strong-willed and obstinate. Another messenger was sent to
Surmang to tell them that in spite of their requests the abbot would not change
his mind.

After a second meeting had been called it was decided that if Trungpa Tulku
could not be persuaded to come back, he should be allowed to go on his way, but
with some monks and horses to serve him. When the messenger returned with
this ultimatum, Trungpa Tulku was really upset, and even more so when a party
of monks with horses arrived shortly afterward. He protested against all this fuss,
saying that he was a simple man whose object in running away had been to
escape from this complicated way of living.



His bursar and monks never ceased to argue with him, but instead of replying
he preached to them on the vanity of leading a worldly life. A deadlock was
reached when he said that to go with attendants and horses would ruin all that he
wished to do. There is a Tibetan saying: “To kill a fish and give it to a starving
dog has no virtue.” The Buddha left his kingdom, fasted, and endured hardships
in order to win enlightenment, and many saints and bodhisattvas had sacrificed
their lives to follow the path of dharma.

Finally, the bursar, who was an old man, broke down and wept. He told
Trungpa that he must take at least two monks to look after him, while the
baggage could be carried on a mule. This advice, coming from so senior a monk
who was also his uncle, he reluctantly agreed to accept and they started on their
journey; the bursar insisted on accompanying the party. Traveling on foot was
very tiring, but to everyone’s surprise Trungpa seemed to acquire new strength
and when the others were worn out, it was he who looked after them. The elderly
bursar became ill with exhaustion, in spite of which, he said he really felt much
happier, for the more he pondered on the teaching about the difference between
the material and the spiritual way of life, the more he realized how right Trungpa
Tulku was to follow this path.

Jamgén Kongtriil of Sechen.



Infant Tai Situ of Palpung.



Third incarnation of Jamgén Kongtriil of Palpung.



Khenpo Gangshar.

After ten days they reached Palpung Monastery, which was the second in
importance of the Karma Kagyii school. Trungpa Tulku was already well known
to many of the monks, but since he did not wish to be recognized they went on at
once to Jamgon Kongtriil’s residence some three miles beyond.

Jamgon Kongtriil himself had had a premonition the day before, saying that he
was expecting an important guest and that the guest room must be made ready.
The monks thought he was referring to some royal personage with his
attendants, or possibly to some great lama, and they eagerly watched for his
arrival; however, no one appeared until late in the afternoon when four simple
pilgrims with a single mule walked toward them and asked for accommodation.
The monks told the travelers that, since an important visitor was already
expected, the guest house adjoining Jamgon Kongtriil’s residence was not free,
therefore the travelers must find a lodging wherever they could.

The following morning Jamgon Kongtriil asked the monks if they had put his
guests in the guest house; surprised, they replied that no one had turned up. The
guru insisted that the expected guests had arrived and told them to make further
enquiries. The four pilgrims were traced and Trungpa Tulku was recognized. The
monks immediately took them to Jamgén Kongtriil and were astonished when
the great teacher showed no sign of surprise at the manner in which the party had
traveled. After the interview Trungpa Tulku had a long private talk with his guru,
who arranged for him to occupy a house with his companions some fifteen
minutes’ walk away, where an old monk would see to their wants. Trungpa
Tulku immediately settled down to his studies, with his guru instructing him in



meditation while the master of studies (khenpo) superintended his academic
work.

For a year he was left alone, then his secretary and some monks came to see
him bringing gifts and money. The secretary had a private talk with Jamgoén
Kongtriil and asked him to encourage their abbot to return to Surmang on
completion of his studies; his guru agreed that he must go back some day, but
not immediately, for he and also his attendant monks were making such progress
that it would be wrong to disturb them; he added that the elderly bursar could
now return to his monastery.

After the visitors had left, Trungpa Tulku gave away all the gifts they had
brought, leaving himself and the two monks with hardly anything to eat, so that
they were obliged to go round with their begging bowls. The two monks were
naturally very upset over this, for while the bursar had been with them there had
always been enough for their requirements and they could not understand this
new phase. Trungpa Tulku, however, insisted that austerity was the right course
and the only way to follow the Buddha’s example, as well as that of Milarepa.
They must therefore beg until they had received the bare necessities of food to
last out the winter. Moreover they had very little butter for their lamps; incense
however was cheap and when blown upon produced a faint glow by which
Trungpa Rinpoche was able to light up a few lines at a time of the book he was
studying.

Now that the monks of Palpung and the people in the district knew of Trungpa
Tulku’s presence, they kept coming to visit him which he found very disturbing
to his meditations.

After three years Surmang expected their abbot to return, and again sent a
party of monks to fetch him. This time Diildzin, the senior secretary’s nephew,
came with them. They found the two monks who were with Trungpa Tulku very
disturbed in mind; the austere way of living that had been imposed upon them
was affecting their health. However, Trungpa wished to stay on at Palpung until
his studies were completed, so it was decided that they should return to Surmang
with the party and that Diildzin, at his own request, should remain to look after
Trungpa. However, this arrangement did not prove altogether a success, for he
gave Trungpa Tulku a lot of trouble. The two men had very different approaches
to life: The abbot was a strict vegetarian and wanted everything to be as simple
as possible, whereas Diildzin expected to have meat and disliked such plain
living. Later Trungpa Tulku realized that these difficulties had been a lesson to
him and that lamas had often to experience this sort of trouble and must learn to
control their own impatience and accept the fact that their attendants could not
be expected to live at their own high level of austerity.



At the end of a further three years, Jamgotn Kongtriil considered that Trungpa
Rinpoche had made such progress that he could be trusted to act as a teacher
himself and to carry on the message of dharma to others. Trungpa, for his part,
felt that if he was to carry on this work he required still more experience; he
should travel to seek further instruction, as his guru had done, and live a life
given up to meditation. However, Jamgon Kongtriil pointed out that he must
compromise between taking such a path and his monasteries’ need for him to
return to them. He said, “It must be according to your destiny; conformably with
the will of your past nine incarnations your duty lies in governing your
monasteries. This is your work and you must return to it. If you take full charge
you can rule them in the way you feel to be right. You must establish five
meditation centers, the first in your own monastery and the other four in
neighboring ones. This will be a beginning; in this way your teaching will not
confined to your own monks, but you will be able to spread it more widely.”

Trungpa Tulku followed his guru’s directions; the parting was a sad moment
for them both, and after a farewell party he began his return journey on foot.
Back at Surmang, he immediately set to work to establish a meditation center
and to put the affairs of his monasteries in order. While he was thus engaged
news came that Jamgon Kongtriil had died; however, in spite of this deep sorrow
he carried on with his work of establishing the four other meditation centers, all
of which continued to flourish until the Communists took possession of Tibet in
my lifetime.

As Jamgon Kongtriil’s entrusted successor, the tenth Trungpa Tulku later
became the guru of both Jamgén Kongtriil of Sechen and Jamgon Kongtriil of
Palpung. At Surmang, he gained more and more followers and such was the
example of the simplicity of his life that he was regarded as a second Milarepa.

When he was about fifty years old there was a border dispute between the
Chinese and Tibetan governments and in the course of the fighting much damage
was done to both Namgyal Tse and Diitsi Tel. Trungpa Tulku himself was taken
prisoner; worn out by forced marches on an empty stomach and already
weakened by his austere vegetarian diet, he became ill. His devotee, the king of
Lhathok, succeeded in obtaining his release and managed to persuade him to
take better care of himself by traveling sometimes on horseback instead of
always going on foot. When he returned to Surmang there was much work ahead
for him; the monasteries had to be rebuilt and at the same time he had to
continue his teaching. In spite of the fact that he was growing old and was in
poor health he only allowed himself three to four hours for sleep and gave his
strength unstintingly to the work of rebuilding the monasteries. He always
maintained that if one followed the true path financial help would be given when



it was really needed. He accepted the destruction of the monasteries as a lesson
in nonattachment which had always held a foremost place in the Buddha’s
teaching. The lamas considered that their supreme abbot’s residence should be
furnished with every comfort, but he himself insisted on complete simplicity.

Soon, Trungpa Tulku realized that he was approaching the end of his life. One
day he had a dream that he was a young child and that his mother was wearing
the style of headdress peculiar to northeastern Tibet. When a new robe was being
made for him he told his secretary that it should be a small one; on the secretary
asking why, he turned it away as a joke. Trungpa used to say that he felt sorry for
his horse, for soon he would no longer be able to walk and would cause it more
trouble; the secretary was disturbed at this remark, for he thought that this meant
that his abbot was really losing his health.

In 1938 while on tour Trungpa suddenly said that he must get back to his
monastery; however, he found it impossible to change his plans as he had
received so many invitations from various devotees. When one of the king of
Lhathok’s ministers asked him to visit him, he accepted, though this meant a
long journey; the lama added that he might have to ask him to be one of the most
important hosts of his lifetime. He arrived on the day of the full moon in a very
happy mood, but did what was for him an unusual thing; on arriving at the house
he took off his socks and his overrobe and, turning to his monks, told them to
prepare for a very special rite. A meal was served, but he did not feel inclined to
eat and having said grace, he told them to put the food before the shrine. Then he
lay down saying, “This is the end of action.” These were his last words: Lifting
himself up he took the meditation posture, closed his eyes, and entered samadhi.

His monks thought he was in a coma, and one doctor among them examined
him, drawing some of his blood and burning herbs to revive him, but with no
result. The monks stood by him all the time reciting sutras and mantras; he
looked as if he was still alive and remained in the same meditation posture until
midnight when there was a flash of light and the body fell over.
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SIX

I Go to My Guru

I LEFT DORJE KHYUNG DzONG with my predecessor’s story uppermost in my
mind. I knew I must now discuss future plans with my secretary and bursar.
When I brought the matter forward, they gave me my choice, but said that
traditionally the tour round the district should be carried out; however, I had the
right to do as I wished, so again I was thrown back on myself. It was much
easier for me to talk to my tutor; I explained to him that what I really wanted to
do was to receive further teaching under Jamgén Kongtriil of Sechen. I wanted
to make a complete break from the studies I had hitherto followed and to do
something quite different; I added, once one sets out on a tour there are continual
invitations from all sides, which protract it indefinitely; but since the monastic
committee had been so kind and had given me such wonderful opportunities for
studying, I would not like to say no to them.

At this time, I received two invitations, one from the distant monastery of
Drélma Lhakhang, in Chamdo province, the other from the king of Lhathok; this
latter would in any case be included in the traditional tour. My lamas were
delighted at this chance of encouraging me to travel and make wider contacts.
The representative from Droélma Lhakhang was worrying lest I should not agree
to go, for the whole district wanted to see their abbot and the disappointment
would be very great if this visit was refused. This made it very difficult for me,
for if I accepted, I would also have to go on a lengthy tour, and if I did not go,
these people would be upset. My own wish was to proceed straight to my guru;
the only thing to do was to tell the monastic committee plainly that I must be
free to go to Sechen before the end of the year. I said that I was very anxious not
to go against their wishes, so we would have to make a compromise; finally it
was arranged that the tour should take place, including a visit to the principality
of Lhathok, for this was not so far away. I would not, however, visit Drolma
Lhakhang; a disciple of the tenth Trungpa Tulku would have to go instead.
Before setting out I asked my secretary to promise that on my return I could go
to Sechen; he should also make all arrangements at Surmang for my intended
absence.
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Our traveling party was organized with a good deal of pomp. There were
thirty monks on horseback and eighty mules to carry the baggage. I was still
only twelve and, being so young, I was not expected to preach long sermons;
mostly I had to perform rites, read the scriptures aloud, and impart blessings. We
started from the highlands and traveled down to the cultivated land; I was able to
see how all these different people lived as we passed through many changes of
scenery. Of course I did not see the villagers quite as they were in their everyday
lives, for wherever we went all was in festival; everyone was excited and
looking forward to the special religious services, so that we had little time for
rest. [ missed the routine of my early life, but found it all very exciting.

When we visited Lhathok, the king had to follow the established tradition by
asking us to perform the religious rites according to ancient custom. We were
lodged in one of the palaces, from where we could look down on a school that
the Chinese had recently established. A Communist flag hung at the gate, and
when it was lowered in the evenings the children had to sing the Communist
national anthem. Lessons were given in both Chinese and Tibetan, including
much indoctrination about the benefits China was bringing to Tibet. Singing and
dancing were encouraged and I felt that it was a sign of the times that the



monastery drum was used to teach the children to march. Being young myself I
was keenly interested, though this distortion worried me; a religious instrument
should not have been used for a secular purpose, nor for mere amusement. A
detachment of Chinese officials sent from their main headquarters at Chamdo
lived in the king’s palace together with a Tibetan interpreter, while various
teachers had been brought to Lhathok to organize the school, which was one of
many that the Chinese were setting up in all the chief places in Tibet. The local
people’s reactions were very unfavorable. In the town the Communists had stuck
posters or painted slogans everywhere, even on the walls of the monastery; they
consisted of phrases like “We come to help you” and “The liberation army is
always at the people’s service.”

The tour took about three months and I longed to get back to Surmang so as to
be able to start on the visit to my guru. I realized that had I been older and able
to give spiritual guidance to my people, it would have been necessary to go on
such a tour; but being only twelve I could not feel it was important to have all
this grandeur; and though the tour still followed the traditional pattern, it seemed
to have lost much of its inner meaning. These feelings may partly have been due
to my youth.

On my return I stopped for a few days at Namgyal Tse to say goodbye. I had
reason to be grateful to the monks at Diitsi Tel who had made all arrangements
for my journey to Sechen. Two cows were ready to provide us with milk, and
twenty mules which would be loaded with the baggage. Several of the novices,
especially those interested in advanced studies, wanted to come to study at the
same time, but only my tutor and two monks were allowed to come with me. My
secretary, Chandzo Kargyen, was so anxious for my well-being that he chose to
come to see for himself how I settled in. Some of the monks were not very
pleased that my lessons in religious ritual had had to be curtailed in favor of
intensive studies in meditation and metaphysics; but for me, the joy and
excitement of receiving instruction from my own guru was overwhelming. I had
wanted to take the simple path of my predecessor and do the journey on foot, but
my tutor and secretary thought I was too young for this and must be looked after;
so we went on horseback and slept in tents at night. It took ten days to reach
Sechen; the whole journey was most enjoyable, for the scenery was superb and
each village seemed different, the local inhabitants wore the distinctive clothing
and followed the customs of their particular locality.

We arrived at Jamgon Kongtriil’s retreat house on my thirteenth birthday. My
monks had expected a large and well-appointed building, but it was very simple
and unpretentious. His old mother lived with him and also one Khenpo
Gangshar, together with his own mother; the two women did the cooking and



looked after the cows. Jamgon Kongtriil’s old tutor acted as secretary and
attendant, and Khenpo Gangshar’s young nephew was there to run messages,
etc. Everyone spent much of his time in meditation.

Khenpo Gangshar had been brought up from his earliest childhood by Jamgon
Kongtriil who had considered him as his spiritual son and had educated him with
the greatest care, for his father had been killed and his mother on becoming a
nun had asked Jamgén Kongtriil to look after the boy. Gangshar had always been
extremely studious and would apply himself day and night with hardly a break.
He had memorized hundreds of texts and received the degree of master of
studies (khenpo) at a very early age.

Since we arrived on the day of the full moon, my guru was fasting and all was
in silence; when one of my monks went forward no one spoke to him, but a note
was sent asking us to come in. My guru showed great joy on seeing me and even
before I had taken off my outer robe he came out of the door to present a scarf,
beckoning me to enter without words. I told him about our journey, and when I
mentioned the two cows he looked pleased, for he had wanted me to make a long
stay, and since my monastery had thought fit to send the animals with me, this
showed that they also expected me to do the same. I asked my guru to explain to
the secretary Chandz6 Kargyen that a prolonged stay was advisable; I said that if
this suggestion was made on the very first day it would carry more weight. The
following day, when he could talk, my guru spoke to the secretary and Apho
Karma; they both replied, “The incarnation of your guru is in your hands;
hitherto we have done our best to educate him, but now this task is yours.”
Chandzo Kargyen then returned to Surmang.

Jamgon Kongtriill Rinpoche decided that I should spent my first month
studying academic subjects as well as meditation under Khenpo Gangshar. We
were to start with the Arya-ratna-traya-anusmriti Sutra (recollection of the
Buddha, his teaching and his disciples’). Learning this by heart meant very hard
work from morning till midnight. He himself was prepared to give the initiation
(wangkur) on the Treasury of the Mine of Precious Teachings (Rinchen Terdzo),
by the great Jamgon Kongtriil who made this vast collection of doctrines at a
time when some of these teachings were nearly forgotten; he had searched for
them throughout Tibet. The Rinchen Terdz6 is of the utmost importance, for it
contains all the most profound doctrines that he himself had received from the
tenth Trungpa Tulku.

Jamgon Kongtriil began his own preparations for the rite at four in the
morning and we pupils had to be in the hall from five until eight in the evening.
The wangkur started with morning devotions, and special offerings were made
on the tenth and the twenty-fifth day of the month. During the six months of the



rite there were only three breaks when our guru was unwell. Hundreds of monks
and some abbots of neighboring monasteries attended the course which was
restricted to those who had already done the introductory practice; they camped
around in tents. This was a very moving gathering, for all were aware that they
belonged to the family of the dharma. During the whole of the rites Apho Karma
kept a very strict eye on me, for I was placed with several other tulkus (incarnate
lamas) who, being young, were apt to be a little frivolous, and though I was
actually the youngest I was expected to behave; however, a kindly Nepalese
monk who had been in India and had seen modern mechanical inventions,
noticing my youth, gave me my first toy, a little engine which he had made
himself; a string wound round its front wheel set it in motion in the same way as
a top.

The Rinchen Terdz6 finished with the enthronement wangkur at which a
disciple is chosen and given special authority to carry on his guru’s teaching.
Jamgon Kongtriil Rinpoche conferred on me this honor; I was enthroned, and he
put his own robes on me, handing me his ritual bell and dorje (thunderbolt
scepter) with many other symbolic objects, including his books. I felt very shy,
as there were many lamas there of much greater learning than I who, I thought,
would be far more suitable; however, my tutor and the monks were pleased to
decide otherwise on that day.

When the gathering was over my guru advised me to join the seminary under
Khenpo Gangshar, saying that he himself would give me meditation instruction
every fortnight.

There was accommodation for about one hundred students in the seminary
which stood on the banks of the river some four miles distant from Jamgoén
Kongtriil’s residence; each student had his own cubicle where he slept and
studied; these were in long rows connected by a covered passage and their
windows looked out on a stretch of grass between the lines. Stoves were placed
in the corridor beside each cubicle for us to do our own cooking, this being done
for us only on festival days. The kitchen staff supplied us with tea and hot water
and distributed the required fuel; if this was insufficient we would collect wood
for ourselves. Breakfast was finished before five, when a gong was rung for us to
begin our homework, and at eight a second bell was sounded for us to attend the
khenpo’s lecture. Before giving this he would answer any questions from the
students who might want to have the previous day’s work clarified. After this our
names were shaken up in a bowl, and the one whose name was drawn had to
reread the scriptures of the day before and to put forward his own commentary.
Then the khenpo began the lesson of the day with careful explanations. This was
followed by group tuition, and my tutor, one of the kyorpéns (tutors) who had



been especially chosen for this office would decide if I should join the group or
go to my cubicle to receive private tuition from him. I started with Maitreya’s
works on transcendental wisdom (prajnaparamita) which is one of the main
themes of the mahayana, the school of the greater vehicle (Dr. Conze has made
some excellent English translations of these under the name Perfection of
Wisdom); the basic trends of the lesser vehicle I had already studied in my own
monastery.

The teaching staff at the seminary consisted of Khenpo Gangshar Rinpoche as
the principal with five kyorpoéns as tutors under him: the term kyorpdn is
equivalent to a geshe in the Geluk and Sakya schools, something like the English
doctor of divinity. There were also several junior kyorpons. The discipline and
behavior of the students were looked after by a senior lama called the geko.

Sechen was founded toward the end of the sixteenth century and was one of the
leading monasteries of the Mindréling tradition of the Nyingma, the first
monastic order to be established in Tibet. It was famed for the profoundness of
the doctrines taught there and also for its very strict discipline. When I was there,
there were eight incarnate lamas besides the two abbots, with some three
hundred bhikshus and two hundred novices in the monastery. The buildings
more or less filled the valley, with the main assembly hall in the center. The
walls of the hall were festooned with open-work embroideries and had frescoes
depicting historical events; numerous shrine rooms opened out from it, and one
of them contained an extensive library; in another room there were very ancient
images of the eight “spiritual sons” (bodhisattvas) of the Buddha. There was a
more modern image of Manjushri, the patron of wisdom, which was heavily gilt
and decorated with precious stones; besides these there was a figure of Rigdzin
Gyurme Dorje, one of the founders of the Nyingma school, made out of
consecrated herbs and clay; it was a very rare and ancient piece of work. The
whole place had an atmosphere of remarkable vitality.

My first impression was the peace and calm of the place, for the monks lived
under very strict discipline though all were very happy. The drums and other
musical instruments were particularly soft toned; the monks were not allowed to
raise their voices and had to sit very still while meditating. Those who carried
out the rites had to be accurate in every detail and all the chanting had to be done
from memory, as no books were allowed. The ritual was slightly different from
that practiced in other schools, but I found that it had great dignity in its
perfection. There were two abbots at Sechen; Tulku Rabjam Rinpoche was a
great personality both spiritually and because of his wide vision in regard to
practical affairs; I owe much to his teaching. He had a striking appearance



because of his very large mustache, not common among our people. The second
abbot, Tulku Gyaltsap Rinpoche, who was the incarnation of one of the tenth
Trungpa Tulku’s gurus, was an outstandingly saintly man and a gifted writer; he
was small of stature and radiated friendliness to all who came near him; there
was a deep understanding between us and his residence was like a second home
to me.

By now I was fourteen and completely happy and satisfied with the work; I
looked forward to the summer vacation when we would have more leisure and I
would have more opportunities to be with my guru. At the beginning of the
vacation I was staying at one of the hermitages where I could walk in the woods
and practice meditation in serene solitude. Although it is natural for boys to play
and want to climb trees, under my guru’s instruction I had to control such
impulses; but here everything was such as to satisfy me with the path I had
chosen.

On the last day, while I was walking, meditating, and enjoying the beauty of
nature, a thunderstorm burst overhead. This sudden transition from peace to
conflict symbolized what lay ahead of me, for running back to the hermitage I
found that a monk had arrived from my own monastery to ask if it would be
possible for me to return to Surmang as one of the senior lamas, the third next to
the regent abbot, had died. Apho Karma made the most of this fact, as the
responsibility of being left in sole charge of me was getting too much for him
and this made him very nervous; he considered that I was overworking and
thought that I might have a breakdown, so he wanted an excuse to take me away.
He could not have explained all this in a letter, and he now decided without
consulting Jamgon Kongtriil Rinpoche that I should return to Surmang. When
the matter was put before my guru he was rather upset, but since my tutor was so
insistent he found it impossible to argue with him and finally agreed that I
should return to my monastery. To me he said “You have received many
teachings; you can now teach and practice them yourself, but later on you must
come back and complete your training.” A farewell party was arranged, attended
by the two abbots of Sechen and some of the senior lamas.

The following day when I went to say goodbye to my guru he told me that,
though I must now leave, he had had a dream the night before and had seen a
half-moon rising in the sky; everyone was saying, “This is a full moon”: “This
means,” he said, “that you are the moon, but not yet really full, for your studies
are not complete.” He gave me further advice on meditation and said sadly that
he must not leave his room to say goodbye because his place was still within. I
made a promise to myself that I would come back, and broken-hearted left that
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SEVEN

Death, Duties, and a Vision

As wE RODE DOWN the valley I looked back at my guru’s white retreat in the
midst of firs on the hillside and at the seminary I loved. I watched the river
flowing between it and the monastery with its golden roof shining in the
sunshine and I could not turn my eyes away until all were out of sight. Apho
Karma was in great spirits, talking about our own monastery and the prospect of
meeting his friends again, but my two monks and I were very sad, for we longed
to be still at Sechen.

On the journey we had a lot of trouble with the horses and mules and most of
our little party were also unwell. When we crossed the river Dri-chu, which here
is some four hundred feet wide, it was in spate, and our boat made of yak’s hide
nearly capsized, while one of our horses was drowned.

The monks at Surmang were very surprised to see us, for though they had sent
me the message, they had thought it unlikely that I would return before
completion of my studies. When I arrived, they concluded that I must really have
finished and expressed their delight. My tutor kept quiet, and I had to tell them
that I had not completed my work. This worried them considerably and the
regent abbots and secretaries felt that Apho Karma had made a mistake,
particularly since the senior lama was already dead and the cremation had taken
place with full rites, so that there was now no need for me to be there.

I had not long been back when a message was received asking me to partake in
the funeral rites for Traleg Kyabgon Rinpoche, the abbot of the neighboring
monastery of Thrangu, who had just died. He had written in his will that he
wished for this, since he had been a great friend of my predecessor. Thrangu lay
some five miles south of Jyekundo. On our way we passed through the Pelthang
airport which was being built by a number of Tibetans under Chinese engineers.
It was a beautiful day with the sun shining over the broad valley, but its calm
was disturbed by the roar of planes overhead; these were bringing all kinds of
supplies, but since the runway was not completed the planes could not land and
the packages were parachuted down.

Jamgon Kongtriil of Palpung, who was to officiate at the rites, and I arrived
simultaneously at Thrangu. We performed the ceremonies together for about two



weeks. Everyone noticed that a change had come over Jamgon Kongtriil; he did
not seem to be in good health.

I was obliged to return to Surmang, and before I left he said to me, “One is
already dead, and one is going to die, this is the law of impermanence”; he was
sure this would be our last meeting. He gave me his blessing by touching
foreheads; this is the traditional way of imparting blessings between lamas of
equal standing; then he said that this was to be regarded as a different kind of
blessing, being the wangkur of the chakra (spiritual center) of the head which
represents the union of “the hundred buddha families” (tampa rig gya). He laid
stress on this being our last meeting; I asked him to promise that we should meet
again; he said, “Yes, in one way or another.”

I returned to Surmang by way of the valley of Bi where in the seventh century
King Songtsan Gampo sent his ministers to receive and welcome the Chinese
princess he was to marry. Here we saw the Buddhist sutras which the ministers
had carved on the rocks while waiting for her arrival; some of these are in
archaic Tibetan and others in Sanskrit, which goes to prove that King Songtsan
Gampo was a Buddhist before he met the princess, in fact he had already sent his
minister Sambhota of Thon to India to collect texts; it was the latter who first
designed the Tibetan alphabet for the purpose of translating the Indian scriptures
into our language.

While the princess was resting in the valley she saw these texts and added a
huge image of Vairochana Buddha of over twenty feet in height which was
carved in relief on the rock, with “the eight spiritual sons of Buddha”
(bodhisattvas) beside it together with some ancient Sanskrit inscriptions. We
held a short service before the image of Vairochana Buddha and went on to
Surmang.

I had been back some three weeks when a messenger came from Thrangu to
tell us that Jamgon Kongtriil had died; he brought an invitation to Rélpa Dorje,
Garwang Rinpoche, and myself to officiate at the funeral rites. The messenger
knew nothing of what had actually happened and simply said that Jamgon
Kongtriil had died very suddenly. After the first shock I remembered how he had
said goodbye to me. His death was a very great loss to the whole Kagyii school;
my predecessor had been his guru and he had been the teacher of Gyalwa
Karmapa. No one seemed more needed, by the whole order, in the present
perplexing times. All Surmang was distressed by the news of his death and a
great number of monks expressed the wish to attend the funeral.

We left hurriedly the following day and traveled day and night to Thrangu
Monastery where we found everyone deeply saddened by the fact that their own
abbot had died a few weeks before, and now by this second death. Jamgoén



Kongtriil’s closest companions among the monks seemed more serene and told
us what had happened. He had suddenly been taken ill and suffered great pain; it
was thought that he had eaten some sort of unwholesome food. After he had
been moved to the abbot’s house of retreat the pain lessened, but his general
condition became weaker. After three days he sent for his oldest attendant to
write down his will which would be important for his followers, but he did not
want anyone to know about it in case they showed too much emotion. He said
that his rebirth would be near Lhasa among his relations, which would give
comfort to his mother, and he gave an indication of the names of the parents and
the time when he would come back. He wanted his body to be cremated and that
Trungpa Tulku should take part in officiating, adding that everyone must realize
that death is one of the aspects of impermanence; he only continued to take
medicine to please the monks. One day he asked his attendant to look up the
calendar and find an auspicious date. When the day came he awoke in the
morning saying that he was feeling much stronger. He had his coverlet removed
and sat up in the adamantine (vajra) posture; his breathing stopped, though his
body remained as if meditating for some twenty-four hours after.

After the funeral ceremonies his possessions were distributed among those
who had attended him; I was given his robe, some books, and his amulet case,
also his little terrier; the dog remained with me for some three years and I
became very attached to it. It used to follow me when I was riding, but one day it
went off hunting on its own and got trapped in a marmot’s burrow.

Shortly after my return to Namgyal Tse, I was invited to visit Drélma Lhakhang.
Accompanied by my bursar we started on the journey; this was our first sight of
the new highway recently built by the Communists between China and Lhasa; it
gave us a strange shock, this straight dark line cutting through our mountains,
built by a foreign power. It was so broad and it ran right through fields and
across the spreading landscape like a deep trench. As we halted beside it, a
Chinese lorry came along like a great monster with guns sticking out at the top,
and a long trail of dust following it. As the lorry drew nearer, the noise that it
made echoed through the peaceful valley and we were aware of acrid petrol
fumes. The Tibetans living nearby had grown accustomed to such sights, but our
horses were terror stricken, as we were ourselves. The Chinese always drove
straight ahead and stopped for no one; other travelers on the road were pushed
aside, often with accidents to their horses and themselves. Looking back at night
we watched the continual flow of the lighted lorries; we could not understand the
headlamps, and when we saw the red ones in the rear we thought the vehicles
were on fire.



Drolma Lhakhang lies about six days’ journey from Chamdo, in the Pasho
district. It is on the high plateau of Tsawa Gang and is surrounded by rocky hills
with many lakes, a chilly region. One of the principal industries among these
highlanders (drokpas) is that of weaving very fine cloth, for which purpose the
people keep great flocks of sheep as well as the usual yaks; being compelled to
move frequently to fresh pasturage, the herdsmen usually live in tents.

As we approached Drélma Lhakhang, the monastery prepared to make us
welcome. First we were given curds and milk by a family of farmers who had
been devotees of my predecessor; after which a lama from Drélma Lhakhang,
who was waiting with them, offered me a ceremonial scarf as he made
prostration. We then rode on until we met the young abbot Akong Tulku at the
head of a procession to escort us to the monastery. They dismounted and also
presented white scarves; one of my senior monks followed the traditional
ceremonial of returning the scarves and hanging them round the necks of the
givers. As we rode to the monastery, we were overtaken by a sudden
thunderstorm with vivid lightning and hail. The Drélma Lhakhang monks and
those from neighboring monasteries with their abbots lined the approach to the
monastery, where an orchestra on the roof played us in. Akong Tulku led me into
the hall, holding an incense stick in his hand; then, after he had made obeisance
before me three times we exchanged scarves. This was followed by my
exchanging scarves in the same way with the abbots of the other monasteries.
Every monk then came to offer me a scarf and to receive my blessing; to the
senior lamas I gave it touching their foreheads with mine; to the other monks, I
placed my hand on their heads. A monk stood beside me to hand each one a
sacred “protection cord” as they came for my blessing. When all had returned to
their places tea and rice were served to the whole Surmang party. My tea was
poured into a jade cup on a gold and silver stand; the rice was served me in a
beautiful bowl, also of jade, and white china cups and dishes were provided for
my monks. It was all very formal; Akong Tulku was quiet and reserved, merely
smiling all the time. We found that we were both of the selfsame age.

Drolma Lhakhang started as a hermitage about two hundred years ago and
gradually grew into a monastery. There had been a succession of Kagyii mystics
there, and it had always been a center of hospitality to spiritual teachers, while
many hermits lived in its vicinity. The whole monastery had an atmosphere of
serenity and spirituality, wherein it differed from some others I have seen which
seemed to be more institutional.

At the time of my visit it held about 150 monks. The building stood on a strip
of land beneath a range of hills, at the junction of the river Kulha Shung-chu and
the Tsawa Au-chu. Behind, on the farther side of the hill, lay a whitewashed



hermitage; its front wall supported on red pillars seemed to grow out of the rock.
It had been built over one of the caves where the great guru Padmasambhava
meditated after he had established Buddhism in Tibet. It appears that this hill had
been known to very early men, for near the hermitage we found some primitive
and curious rock paintings. They portrayed men on small horses done in red
ochre and were protected by a surface that looked like talc. There was also an
indication that very early Buddhists had lived near the site of the monastery, for
at the end of the strip of land where it was built there was a single upstanding
rock, and in one of its crevices sheltered from the wind and weather there was a
sculpture in relief of the dakini (female divinity) Vajrayogini.

Across the river in front of the monastery rose the very high mountain called
Kulha Ngang Ya which the people of the ancient Bon religion regarded as a
powerful god and as one of the guardians of Tibet: His consort lived in the
turquoise-colored lake below. Mount Kulha also figures in the story of Gesar of
Ling, a famous hero who lived in the thirteenth century, the King Arthur of Tibet
who also defended the faith against the unbelievers. The top of the mountain is
always under snow and is known as “the crystal tent of Kulha.” Just before
reaching the top one comes to a large cave, the floor of which is a sheet of solid
ice; Akong Tulku, who had climbed up to it, told me that under the ice he had
seen huge bones, some of which appeared to be human, but were so large that
they could not have belonged to any recent man.

Four nunneries had been established at the four corners of the mountain, being
associated with the monastery of Drélma Lhakhang, whose monks could only
enter them on particular ceremonial occasions. The nuns led more austere lives
than the monks; they spent much time in meditation and did a great deal for the
lay population when sick or in trouble. I was very impressed by the spirituality
of these women. The nunnery at the west corner of Mount Kulha looked out over
the turquoise lake. Near the nunnery at the north corner there was a hermitage
which was exclusively used for seven-week periods of meditation on bardo, the
state experienced at the moment of death and just afterward.

After I had been at Dréolma Lhakhang for a few days, I was asked to give the
rite of empowerment (wangkur) on the Treasury of the Mine of Precious
Teaching (Rinchen Terdz6), which I had received from Jamgtn Kongtriil of
Sechen; an immense task, as it lasts for six months. I needed a few days before
accepting the invitation, for though I had received permission from my guru to
impart this teaching, I was still only fourteen, and my tutor and Karma Norsang,
who was my chief adviser, said that I must be quite sure whether or not I could
really give the complete wangkur, as any failure would be serious. More and
more people were arriving at Drolma Lhakhang, hoping to attend the wangkur,



so I had to make a decision. I spent several days in devotional meditation in
order to know what I should do; finally I asked Karma Norsang to inform the
monastery that I was prepared to undertake the task.

Arrangements were immediately put in hand to prepare for the wangkur. It
took a fortnight or so to make all the tormas, that is to say conical cakes
decorated with disks of sculptured butter that call for great artistry; each shape
and pattern has its own symbolism. I appointed a monk to make a list of all those
who wished to attend, asking them if they were prepared really to put into
practice the teaching they would receive.

To begin with Karma Norsang gave a ritual recitation of the kalung (which
means “authorization”) on the sixty volumes of the Rinchen Terdzd and I
followed to give the wangkur (empowerment rite).

The following timetable shows how the days were arranged.

2:30 A.M. Karma Norsang gave the kalung.

4:30 A.M. I prepared my teaching of the wangkur.

6:45 A.M. Breakfast for all.

8:00 A.M. I gave the wangkur.

10:00 A.M. Karma Norsang gave the kalung, and during this time I prepared
my teaching.

11:00 A.M. I gave the wangkur.

12:00 noon Midday meal for all.

1:10 PM. Karma Norsang gave the kalung, while I prepared my teaching.

3:00 PM. I gave the wangkur.

5:00 PM. Karma Norsang gave the kalung, while I prepared my teaching.

6:00 PM. I gave the wangkur.

8:00 PM.  Finish.

8:30 PM.  Evening devotions.

It was hard work for everyone; however, all went well. My tutor and monks
said they were proud of the achievement of one so young. They told me that I
must now start seriously on my work as a guru, but I myself felt that I was not
yet sufficiently qualified: I had many misgivings and needed my own guru to
elucidate a number of points; moreover, I knew that one must not have too great
a conceit of oneself—here was another danger. I explained my position clearly to



Akong Tulku and the senior lamas, saying that even if I had been able to give the
wangkur and to perform the traditional rites, I was not sufficiently mature to give
lectures or personal teaching on meditation; however, I promised that I would do
all I could to qualify myself in the future.

After that, we traveled farther afield visiting other monasteries. The abbot of
Yak asked me if at a later date I would give the wangkur of the Treasury of the
Mine of Precious Teaching again. Turning homeward, we again stopped at
Droélma Lhakhang; the secretary and senior lamas there wanted me to undertake
to be Akong Tulku’s guru, but I told them that he must go and study at Sechen,
for I was certain that my knowledge was still too incomplete and that he should
be taught by Jamgon Kongtriil Rinpoche; after all, Akong and I were boys of the
same age.

Winter was now coming on and on the day of our departure snow fell in
enormous flakes; as there were no trees the whole place was under a sheet of
white and it was bitterly cold. There is even a proverb about that part of Tibet
—“the coldness of this land will stop tea from pouring”—but in spite of the
weather all the monks accompanied us part of the way as a token of goodbye.
They were all so friendly that this was one of the most memorable farewells I
had ever experienced. Akong Tulku and I had become great friends and he was
sad at our parting, but I told him we would meet again very soon at my guru’s
monastery. I said, “It is inconsistent that I who have not finished my own studies
and am not fully qualified to teach should be asked to be your guru; you must go
to Jamgon Kongtriil.” Akong Rinpoche and his monks escorted us for three
miles as far as the lake and then we separated.

The people around had heard about me while I was at Drélma Lhakhang and 1
received many invitations to visit their local monasteries on my return journey;
unfortunately I was not able to accept them. The only place I really wanted to
make sure of visiting was the monastery of Karma, the third in importance in the
Karma Kagyii school, and we made our way toward it.

The whole area around the monastery, known as Karma Geru, is famous for its
art. Since early in the fifteenth century its artists have worked all over Tibet and
are known as the Gardri school. All the villagers earn their living by painting. I
visited the village of Pating, whose headman was considered to be the leading
artist of the area; at his home I found him painting scrolls (thangkas) and at the
same time he was teaching other young artists, while his studio was crowded
with pictures of all sizes, in different stages of completion. His pupils were also
taught to work in clay, how to make their own brushes, to prepare their own
canvasses, and mix their colors. His own work was so lovely that it used to be
said, “the thangkas that Génpo Dorje paints do not need to be blessed.”



All the houses belonging to the villagers contained wonderful paintings and
carvings, and their shrine rooms were in the same style as those of the
monasteries. The headman’s house was particularly beautiful as it held the works
of many generations of his family, the early ones being the most perfect. The
walls were painted with historical or mythical designs, the scrolls were all of
religious subjects, and the pillars and ceilings showed decorative designs of birds
and flowers which are characteristic of the Gardri school.

On the opposite side of the river the people specialized in goldsmith and
silversmith work, particularly in smelting and casting these precious metals. All
this was most interesting and, since the villagers were so skilled, I expected the
monastery to be even more fascinating artistically.

The track leading to it runs beside the river which cascades through a narrow
gorge bordered by high blueish rocks. At its farther end an almost perpendicular
rock towers above the others. High up is an outcrop of yellow stone in the form
of a seated buddha, beside which many sacred texts have been carved even
though the rock is so steep that it would seem impossible for any man to have
climbed up to carve them. A waterfall splashes down beside the image causing a
perpetual rainbow to arch over it. Suddenly beyond this, the gorge opens out into
a wide valley where the monastery of Karma was founded by Rangjung Dorje
(1284-1339). It looks out over wide fields with the river flowing through them.
It was of the greatest interest to me to see it, both from the historical point of
view and by reason of its superb architecture, decorations, and furnishings.
Special masons had been brought from Central Tibet to construct its outside
walls which were built out of very small stones. Its abbot had recently died and
his incarnation had not yet been found, so when we arrived we were welcomed
and received by the regent abbot, who personally conducted us over the
monastery.

Through the entrance porch, with its staircases at each side leading up to the
gallery, we entered the great hall which is said to be the second largest in Tibet.
This was used for all important services, for chanting the choral office, and when
addressing large gatherings. The high roof over the central part of the hall rested
on one hundred pillars made from solid tree trunks some sixteen to twenty feet in
circumference. These were lacquered vermillion with designs in yellow, blue,
and gold, and their spreading capitals were of the type peculiar to Tibetan
architecture. The hall was dimly lit from windows above the gallery which
rested on four hundred shorter pillars, some of them made of sandalwood
brought from India. There were various rooms opening out of the gallery, some
of which formed the abbot’s apartment. Twelve shrine sanctuaries off the central
hall were used for devotions and in one of them there were life-sized sculptures



of all the incarnations of Gyalwa Karmapa, the supreme lama of the order; up to
the eighth incarnation of the line the workmanship was perfect, but with the
remaining seven it showed some deterioration. This point struck me and I felt
that it might be possible for me to do something to revive Tibetan art, but
Communist oppression was soon to put an end to any such dreams. One shrine
room held the great library, the third largest in Tibet, containing a vast collection
of manuscripts and also Sanskrit texts believed to date from the eighth century.
The whole suggested that at one time the Karma Kagyii school had been
exceedingly flourishing and that the best of Buddhist art had been preserved
here.

Inside the great hall the walls were painted with wonderful scenes from the
life of the Lord Buddha, and with scenes from the history of the Karma Kagyii
school. Between the entrances to the shrine sanctuaries there were shelves along
the walls on which gold and silver lamps burned perpetually. The lion throne
placed in the center of the hall was made of sandalwood brought from a holy
place in India; its back was of dark sandalwood painted with a gold design and
with a piece of gold brocade in the center hung round with a white scarf. The
throne was carved with lion designs and the brocade on its cushions had been
given by the emperor Tohan Timur when the third Karmapa was invited to
China. At the end of the hall, behind the throne, three entrances led into a
tremendously lofty chamber, divided in three to hold the images of the past,
present, and future buddhas; these were so gigantic that the measurement across
the eyes was five feet. The central image was of Shakyamuni, the present
Buddha, made of molded brass heavily guilded; all the limbs and various parts of
the body had been cast separately and put together, but the head was cast in one
piece with a large diamond in the center of the forehead which, according to
local stories, came from the mouth of the celestial hawk garuda. The image had
been designed by the eighth Gyalwa Karmapa (1507—1554) and he himself had
carved the sandalwood throne. The images of the past and future buddhas were
made of clay mixed with consecrated herbs; they were decorated with precious
stones and each had a ruby on its forehead. A table for offerings was placed
before each image.

Seen from the outside, the monastery was a grand sight with the fast-flowing
river below and the screen of mountains behind. It was built in three tiers; the
uppermost roof over the high chamber of the three buddha images was gilt
surmounted by a golden serto, a crest ornament denoting dignity, largely used in
Tibet over monasteries, houses, and even placed on horses’ heads for riders of
rank; golden chains hung with small bells ran from the serto to the top of the
roof which also bore larger bells at each corner. The roof of the large hall spread



out below, again with bells at its corners, and below it a third roof covered the
gallery rooms and the cloisters outside the shrines; this also carried bells and
carved wooden lions jutted out from the stone walls below them. The two lower
roofs were not gilded, but above the gallery rooms there was a row of carved gilt
medallions. The cloisters contained eight buddha images and four stupas ten feet
high, made of precious metals and placed under gilt canopies. All these had been
brought from India in former times; three of the stupas came from Nalanda, one
of the most famous Buddhist monastic universities in that country.
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The serto (emblem of dignity) on a monastery roof.

The monastery of Karma was a wonderful example of the artistry of the
incarnation of Gyalwa Karmapa and especially of the seventh, eighth, ninth, and
tenth of the line; these lamas were experts in carving, sculpture, painting, and
embroidery and in smelting and casting precious metals. Karma was a unique
example of the beauty of the traditional art of Tibet. It was also at the time when
these lamas lived that there was a renaissance of spiritual teaching all over Tibet
to which they made a valuable contribution; their writings contained important
teaching to the effect that the metaphysical and the contemplative ways must be
brought together.

On the hill opposite the monastery a little retreat had been built, approached
by a winding path, with beside it a cluster of tamarisk bushes disposed in the
form of the letter ka for “Karma.”

When I left Karma Monastery many invitations came which I could not accept
because of the special devotions always held at Surmang during the last twelve



days of each year. This was considered to be an occasion of great importance,
but I had not been able to take part in it since I was eleven, having always been
away at that particular time. It was the celebration of the buddhamandala known
as the wheel of supreme bliss (khorlo demchok; Skt. chakrasamvara), and it was
combined with a rite of the guardian divinity Génpo Chakshipa (Four-Armed
Protector). These rites included meditation and chanting accompanied by drums
and cymbals; wind instruments joined in at the start and end of the chants. The
monks had to arrange that there should be no lapse of attendance during the day
or night and none of them could expect more than four hours’ sleep. This
religious ceremony at the end of each year was intended to dispel evil and to
build up new spiritual strength for the year about to begin. I had only been able
to attend it three times before, and the monks rejoiced that I could be with them
once more. I was so young the first time that I was only allowed to be a
spectator, and then only during the day; on the other two occasions, when I had
taken part in the whole rite, I had found it very long and tiring, but this year,
although I was not yet fifteen, I could both understand and enjoy it.

When this rite was over, I went to spend the New Year with the hermits at
Dorje Khyung Dzong away from the bustle of the monastery, after which I was
eagerly looking forward to being able to return to my studies at Sechen.

The conch shell of dharma.



EIGHT

A Many-Sided Training

THis was THE YEAR 1954, and when I returned to Surmang I found that great
changes had taken place everywhere. The Chinese had opened shops in all the
larger towns, selling cloth, crockery, blue Chinese overalls, and much else
besides. In my monastery, some of the monks were wearing new robes of a
slightly different style, no longer handwoven, but machine made. In the villages
the women were buying modern perfumes and other exotic luxuries. My
secretary had been appointed a member of the municipality under the
Communists. There had been gifts of magazines such as the People’s Pictorial,
and our monks had been given posters with Communist slogans and asked to put
them on the walls of the monastery; this they had very properly refused to do.
Early in 1953 a Chinese official came to Jyekundo, the large trading town which
the Chinese had established as the district capital. Though he had seen me
before, he now wanted to ask what I thought of the Communist regime. He
presented me with a roll of orange brocade and a large picture of Mao Tse-tung,
and through an interpreter he described Peking, how it was the largest city in the
world and what exciting things were happening there all the time. He said, “The
late emperor’s palace is so large it takes twenty-four hours to walk round it. I
cannot explain these wonderful things, you must come and see them for
yourself; the People’s Government invites you.” My senior lamas were so
uneasy, they advised me not to reply. These Communists officials appeared to
me as quite a different sort of human being, not only in their costumes, but in
their whole behavior; their smiles had a significance different from the smiles of
Tibetans. I could not understand it at all.

Even so, when I was shown a map of the world in one of the magazines, I
longed to know what sort of lives other people led. Hitherto, Europeans had only
traveled by the trade routes, or to Lhasa, and they were few and far between;
outside the district towns no one had ever set eyes on one. When I was with my
guru at Sechen, I had wanted to learn other languages and had begun with the
Amdo dialect which has a different pronunciation and uses words that are
elsewhere obsolete; now I wanted to learn more, and hoped one day to become
familiar with the European language and lettering.



However, other studies lay ahead of me; Rélpa Dorje Rinpoche and the senior
lamas thought it was now time for me to learn religious ceremonial dancing.
According to monastic rules, secular dancing is not permitted, but the Buddhist
dancing is a spiritual exercise in awareness. The Lord Buddha is portrayed in
sculpture and painting making different gestures (mudras), each of which has its
own special significance. And so it is with our dancing; each step and each
movement of the hands, arms, and head has its own symbolic meaning and
brings an increase of understanding both to dancers and spectators. This is
seldom understood in the West where this deeply religious art is still at times
miscalled “devil dancing.” Nothing could be more ill-founded. These dances
have no connection with magic and still less with sorcery, for they originally
came from Buddhist India and embody the methods of different spiritual
masters.

The form that I was to learn came through Naropa, the “spiritual grandfather”
of Milarepa, and expresses the ascent from the level of a beginner to final
realization. It is called the great gathering (tsokchen) and is based on the wheel
of supreme bliss (khorlo demchok) which is a mandala of the sambhogakaya or
“fruition body of buddhahood.” This dance is a specialty of Surmang.

When the main assembly hall of the Varshika Vihara was not being used for
other purposes, the religious dancing was rehearsed there, since this house lay
farther up the slope and at some distance from other monastery buildings so that
the noise of the dancing could not be heard. The venerable Lhapten, who was the
dorje-loppon (master of rites), was our instructor; he rejoiced in being able to
hand on his great knowledge, for he was extremely expert and although about
sixty-five he was still a very good dancer.

It was all a great change; in the monastery my work had all been sedentary,
now it was all movement; thirty-five of us had at first to practice with the hand
drum. Afterward, when I was in India, I found the identical instrument in old
Indian paintings in a museum, and this proved to me that its use originated there.
This work with the drum was, in fact, more difficult than the actual dancing, for
the arm has to be held up at full stretch for over an hour at a time, then as the
drum is twisted in the hand, the two weights attached to long cords rap on the
vellum. To do this properly is far from easy and most tiring to start with. The
drum is held in the right hand and symbolizes compassion, while the bell in the
left hand symbolizes voidness of ultimate content. We practiced in this way daily
from morning till evening with only an hour’s break. In the evening we had to
memorize the fundamental principles of the dancing and to learn the chants that
go with it.

My tutor, Apho Karma, helped me on this course; he was very knowledgeable



about these things though hardly a good dancer himself, but he gave me private
instruction, for he was anxious for me to excel. He expressed the thought that I
should have some spare time to rest in order to offset all this physical exertion
and did his best to help by giving me massage; he also began to worry about my
health, since at the start I suffered a good deal through my muscles being in such
poor condition; but in a month’s time I grew stronger. By then we were
practicing other movements and I could work nearly all day long without getting
tired. Naturally I was not one of the better pupils, for the other monks had started
in good condition; I knew that I lagged behind them, though they and our teacher
always tried to be encouraging. Still I enjoyed it very much, and the difficulties
reminded me of the time when I practiced prostration under Roélpa Dorje
Rinpoche.

The course went on for three and a half months without interruption, for there
was a great deal to learn. The dancing had 360 different themes symbolic of the
number of days in the year, and of the same number of worldly thoughts that
must be transformed into the 360 forms of wisdom.

At the end we had a dress rehearsal and were watched by an unofficial
audience. We appeared in our best robes and I had to lead the dance which was
most embarrassing, for I knew that some of the others were better than I. Alas, in
their kindness the audience made no comment, but this made me even more
aware that I really needed criticism, and I realized how grateful I must be to my
tutor for treating me objectively and never hesitating to correct me.

After three months at the Varshika Vihara, I had to decide whether to go back to
Sechen or to stay on for further dancing lessons. I chose to go to my guru
without delay for, as I told my secretary, it was already the beginning of summer,
and if I did not leave at once, the river Drichu might again be in spate and
difficult to cross.

As we were preparing to start we learned that His Holiness the Dalai Lama
and other senior lamas had been invited to visit China. Some of my monks were
very upset, fearing that the Chinese would not allow His Holiness to return to
Tibet; others, however, felt that his visit might help, for he would surely make a
good impression on the Communists.

Apho Karma did not want to come with me, saying that he felt old and
exhausted and that at Sechen he could no longer help me for I would be under
my own guru. I was very sad to leave him behind for he had done so much for
me with his ready advice and deep understanding. Now he reminded me that I
could not hide behind a tutor all my life, adding, “On this journey you can make
the experiment of relying on your own judgment, but once at Sechen, you will be



under Jamgon Kongtriil; everything will be in his hands and you will not have to
worry about anything.”

Many monks and friends came to bid us farewell and my table was piled with
scarves offered in token of good wishes. I said goodbye to Roélpa Dorje
Rinpoche, and we set off escorted by our many friends for the first stage of our
journey. This time we took a different route, through the most beautiful country I
had ever seen. For three days among the high mountains we did not see a single
human being, though there were all sorts of animals such as foxes, muskrats, and
deer, while at night we had to put a guard on our pack animals to protect them
from brown bears. The whole countryside was ablaze with flowers.

On our arrival at Sechen, I found that Jamgtn Kongtriil was no longer at his
own residence, but was living in the seminary. We learned that the latter had
been enlarged and that there were many more monks and tulkus present. He was
not expecting me, but expressed delight at my arrival. Many old friends were
still there and all told me that this time I must really complete my studies. My
guru was giving a course of lectures on The Seven Treasuries, the works of
Longchen Rabjampa, a great teacher of the Nyingma school. He said that it was
a most auspicious moment for me to join them and that the teaching would be
his spiritual gift of welcome: He would give me personal instruction on the
previous parts that I had missed.

Visitors were continually coming for the teaching, who camped in tents all
round the seminary. The atmosphere was quite different to Surmang; I found it
so happy and peaceful in spite of the crowds and the noise, everyone was intent
on gaining further spiritual knowledge; we all felt how the monks at Sechen had
a particular charm, from those who did the menial tasks, upward, it was like a
big happy family.

Academically I had less work to do here and this gave me more time for
meditation.

A fortnight later, the course was finished and the summer vacation began. As
Jamgodn Kongtriil was going back to his residence he advised me to travel with
my monks to visit the famous Khyentse Rinpoche at Dzongsar Monastery, four
days’ journey away in the valley of the Drichu. Four of the professors (khenpos)
accompanied us and we set off southward. On the third day we stopped at
Manikengo as we had been told the story of a very saintly man who had died
there the previous year. We went to the house where he had lived, and met his
son and his wife who recounted the miracle that had occurred at the old man’s
death.

In his lifetime he had erected a group of “mani stones” on which he had
carved a great number of mantras and sutras and he had also set up a choten



(stupa) among them.

In his youth he had been a servant with a wealthy family, but in middle age he
left his employment to receive meditational instruction in a monastery. Though
he had to work for his living by day, he spent most of his nights in
contemplation, only allowing himself two to three hours’ sleep. His compassion
was so great that he always helped everyone in need, and opened his house at all
times to pilgrims and the very poor. While carrying out his daily work he used to
practice meditation in his own way, though his son who was a monk told him
that he should carry out more formal spiritual exercises, but this he could not
accept. Though he had hitherto always been in good health, three years before
his death he fell ill and his family began to be very worried, yet he himself
appeared to become increasingly happy. He composed and sang his own songs
of praise instead of traditional Buddhist chants. As his illness became more and
more serious, lamas and doctors were called in, with his son telling him that he
must now remember all the teaching that he had received, at which he smiled,
saying, “I have forgotten it all, and anyway there is nothing to remember;
everything is illusion, yet I am confident that all is well.” Just before his death
the old man said, “When I die you must not move my body for a week; this is all
that I desire.”

They wrapped his dead body in old clothes and called in lamas and monks to
recite and chant. The body was carried into a small room, little bigger than a
cupboard and it was noted that though the old man had been tall the body
appeared to have become smaller; at the same time a rainbow was seen over the
house. On the sixth day on looking into the room the family saw it had grown
still smaller. A funeral service was arranged for the morning of the eighth day
and men came to take the body to the cemetery; when they undid the coverings
there was nothing inside except nails and hair. The villagers were astounded, for
it would have been impossible for anyone to have come into the room, the door
was always kept locked, and the window of the little resting place was much too
small.

The family reported the event to the authorities and also went to ask Khyentse
Rinpoche about the meaning of it. He told them that such a happening had been
reported several times in the past and that the body of the saintly man had been
absorbed into the Light. They showed me the nails and the hair and the small
room where they had kept the body. We had heard of such things happening, but
never at firsthan